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VISION
To contribute to economic development by promoting the province of KwaZulu-Natal as the premier 
investment destination and the leader in export trade.

MISSION
• Identify and package investment opportunities in KwaZulu-Natal;
• Brand and market KwaZulu-Natal as an investment destination; 
• Link opportunities to the developmental needs of the KwaZulu-Natal community; and
• Ensure easy access to investment and export trade opportunities.
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1 Foreword

Central to our endeavours in this regard is the need 
to continuously attract new investment to KwaZulu-
Natal, whilst also vigorously promoting trade and export 
opportunities for the benefi t of local business enterprises. 
The provincial business enterprise, Trade & Investment 
KwaZulu-Natal, is the instrument we utilise to effectively 
drive the business of trade and investment throughout our 
province.  

During the past several years, provincial and national 
efforts have been made to remove bottlenecks affecting 
the effi cient attraction of inward investment. Our goal is 
to ensure that KwaZulu-Natal becomes the investment 
destination of choice. In a fi rst for South Africa, Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal led an initiative to compile an 
Investment Protocol Handbook for the benefi t of would-
be local and foreign investors. The Handbook, to be 
launched in the new fi nancial year, will serve as a guide 
to various business policies and processes in KwaZulu-
Natal, focusing especially on the ease and cost of doing 
business in our province.   

We recognise that trade and investment promotion is 
diffi cult as this is an exceptionally competitive business 
environment in which to operate, with agencies from 
around the world endeavouring to secure ever greater 
levels of market share for the benefi t of the countries and 
regions they represent. The task here was made all the 
more diffi cult by the slow pace of economic recovery in 
the aftermath of the global melt-down of 2008/09. We 
did, however, enjoy a unique competitive advantage over 
our competitors in the 2010/11 fi nancial year as a direct 
consequence of South Africa’s hosting of the FIFA World 
Cup.

World Cup fever before, during and immediately after 
the tournament focused intense and unprecedented 
international media attention on this country and all its 
attributes, attractions and, especially, business and 
tourism opportunities. Whilst being exposed to such an 
extensive global audience has clearly allowed us to lay a 
solid foundation, we also recognised that this window of 
opportunity would not remain open indefi nitely. We are 
pleased to report that Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal 
was able to surpass its 2010/11 fi nancial target of R750 
million by some R350 million. It is now that the hard work 
must really begin. Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s 

short-term goal is clear; rapidly use the widespread 
World Cup exposure afforded our province and the 
platform it has provided for the establishment of new 
relationships, new markets and new leads to the fullest 
extent, vigorously promoting KwaZulu-Natal as a premier 
investment destination with an array of competitive 
advantages and a region boasting a wealth of export 
opportunities.

The organisation’s future promotions will also benefi t 
from an additional boost in the wake of a recent Cabinet 
decision that Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal should 
align its business activities with national priorities. The 
resultant national brand alignment initiative will allow Trade 
& Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s initiatives to become part 
of a unifi ed and co-ordinated promotion of South Africa 
as a leading investment and trade destination in the 
global context.  

We have the opportunity now to use our collective 
position of strength to consolidate and extend our 
national and provincial share of the international trade 
and investment market, taking inward investment and 
business retention and expansion to a new level in 
KwaZulu-Natal. The positive outcomes of the 2010/11 
fi nancial year and subsequent follow-up actions 
undertaken have provided a vital springboard to increased 
economic activity, which, in turn, will give effect to the 
further growth of our provincial economy and the creation 
of additional employment opportunities here. The work 
of Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal is critical and there 
can be no doubt that with its continued dedication to 
meeting its mandate, the organisation has the capacity 
to make a considerable contribution towards economic 
prosperity and the alleviation of poverty in KwaZulu-Natal.

We look to the organisation to again redouble its 
investment promotion and trade development endeavours 
going forward, seizing the prevailing golden opportunities 
and ensuring that they are not lost.

……………………………………………

Michael Mabuyakhulu, MPP 
MEC for Economic Development and Tourism 

Michael Mabuyakhulu 
MEC for Economic Development and Tourism

The sustained growth of the KwaZulu-Natal economy, a signifi cant reduction in 
unemployment in the province, the eradication of poverty and a corresponding better 
life for all our citizens are ideals to which our Provincial Government is committed.
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3 Corporate Profile

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal is a South African trade and inward investment 
promotion agency, established to specifically promote the province of KwaZulu-Natal 
as a premier investment destination and to facilitate trade by assisting locally-based 
business enterprises to access international markets.

KwaZulu-Natal is home to South Africa’s second largest 
economy and Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal is 
therefore geared to promote the province’s competitive 
advantages as a world-class business investment 
destination and to encourage trade by assisting local 
companies to identify new markets for the export of their 
products.

The organisation’s Chief Executive Officer is Mr Zamo 
Gwala, who is supported by a 12-member Board of 
Directors comprising individuals with the personal 
skills and collective expertise in the fields of trade and 
investment necessary to provide for Trade & Investment 
KwaZulu-Natal’s strategic business direction. 

In addition, Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal employs 
specialist members of staff whose task is to address 
opportunities in the areas of investment promotion, 
strategy, research, project management, finance, 
marketing and human resources, so generating inward 
investment to the province and developing trade links 
with international role-players.

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal is dedicated to 
creating an environment in the province which is 
conducive to business development and attractive to 
both local and international investors, as well as traders. 
In line with this, the organisation’s intent is to impact 
significantly on the socio-economic advancement of 
KwaZulu-Natal and its people.

KwaZulu-Natal, a 92 100 square kilometre region, 
situated on the east coast of South Africa, is a significant 
hub for industrial development in sub-Saharan Africa 
and is a prime tourism destination. It boasts a number of 
distinct competitive advantages.

Advantages include superb natural resources, exceptional 
productive capacity, highly developed first-world 
infrastructure, a valuable coastal location, served by both 
of South Africa’s primary harbours – Durban, the busiest 
in Africa, and Richards Bay, the biggest in Africa – the 
Dube TradePort, home to the King Shaka International 
Airport, and this country’s first ‘aerotropolis’, and an 
enviable lifestyle, complemented by an idyllic climate.

The province offers an extensive range of economic 
activities, inclusive of capital-intensive manufacturing, 
transport, storage, communications, finance and 
business services, as well as highly productive 
agricultural, forestry, fishing, tourism and accommodation 
sectors.   

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal actively promotes 
these advantages in an effort to leverage an increased 
share of the global investment market. Accordingly, the 
organisation sets out to facilitate new local and foreign 
investment, existing business retention and expansion, 
while providing professional after-care services in 
a concerted and ongoing bid to create sustainable 
economic growth in KwaZulu-Natal.  

Objectives

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s business objectives 
include:
Shareholder:
• Promoting and facilitating investment as a means of 

increasing growth in Trade & Investment KwaZulu-
Natal’s contribution to fixed investment throughout the 
province; and

• Export market development.

Clients:
• Facilitating investor after-care and retention;
• Packaging and facilitating large (>R50 million) 

investment sector opportunities;
• Facilitating capacity-building, thereby increasing the 

number of export-ready traders in KwaZulu-Natal;
• Facilitating market development so as to increase 

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s contribution to 
the value of exports; and

• Increasing awareness of Trade & Investment KwaZulu-
Natal’s services both locally and internationally.  

Internal Process:
• Advocating for the creation of an environment 

conducive to trade and investment in KwaZulu-Natal 
through government intervention, strategic alliances 
and partnerships.
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Organisation – Learning and Growth:
• Strengthening Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s 

knowledge management capabilities so as to provide 
an effective and efficient service;

• Attaining compliance with Corporate Governance 
standards;

• Attaining compliance with WAIPA, MIGA and UNCTAD 
best practice; and

• Developing highly motivated staff and enhancing staff 
competencies in terms of delivering service excellence 
in trade and investment services.

Key Activities

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal undertakes a diverse 
range of key activities, all designed to ensure the 
successful promotion of business investment and trade 
development.

Such activities include:
• The facilitation of Joint Ventures;
• The facilitation of business linkages between small and 

big business;
• The timely provision of relevant and reliable information 

to both potential and existing investors and traders;
• Assistance to both existing and new investors 

regarding applications for both investment and export 
marketing incentives;

• Assistance to foreign investors in terms of applications 
for business permits;

• Negotiation for local government incentives on behalf 
of investors;

• The provision of project support and after-care 
services to investors;

• The provision of assistance to emerging international 
traders;

• Assistance with international trade enquiries;
• Assistance to investors with regard to locating suitable 

premises; and
• Assistance to investors in terms of securing project 

and operational finance.

Strategic Partners

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal has, through a 
number of strategic partnerships, aligned itself with like-
minded stakeholders with a view to synergistically and 
consistently promoting the province’s attributes.

Such linkages have seen a number of effective 
collaborations on projects, inclusive of inbound and 
outbound missions, events and promotional activities, 
all designed to leverage the expansion of the agency’s 
overall business activities.

Key strategic partners include:
• Tourism KwaZulu-Natal;
• The various Chambers of Commerce and Industry in 

KwaZulu-Natal;
• Various municipalities throughout KwaZulu-Natal;
• SmartXchange;
• KZN Tooling Initiative;
• KZNOnSource;
• Trade Point South Africa Durban;
• Audit Firms;
• Mintek;
• LIFElab;
• Other Investment Promotion Agencies (National 
 and International);
• Banks;
• Development Agencies (District);
• The Industrial Development Corporation;
• The University of KwaZulu-Natal and other Tertiary 

Institutions;
• Provincial and National Government Departments; 
• The Ithala Development Finance Corporation 
 Limited; and
• The KZN Growth Fund. 
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This year, 2011, marks Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s 10th year of operation as 
this province’s trade and investment promotion agency.

4 Chairperson’s Statement

During this time Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal has 
facilitated investments worth many billions of Rands to 
our province, impacting positively on our local economy 
and facilitating the creation of thousands of new and 
critically needed employment opportunities, thus assisting 
in poverty alleviation efforts.

We have also enabled and empowered numerous 
KwaZulu-Natal-based entrepreneurs and emergent 
business owners to grow their trading bases, locally 
and internationally, through interaction with their foreign 
counterparts. Our export development endeavours 
over the years have led to the forging of new business 
partnerships and the creation of Joint Ventures, permitting 
our traders to become increasingly globally competitive 
and competent.

In actively packaging investment opportunities designed 
for specific regions around the world, inclusive of Europe, 
North and South America, Asia and the Middle East, we 
have assisted significantly in the economic transformation 
of KwaZulu-Natal and in creating an investment platform 
in this province to the direct benefit of both investors
and traders.

Rising to the Challenge

The 2010/11 financial year was characterised by a slowly 
improving world economy in the wake of the devastating 
recessionary trends of 2008 and 2009.

South Africa’s economy, too, showed positive signs and 
registered welcome, though sluggish improvement. This 
long-awaited relief was further offset by the build-up to 
the 2010 FIFA World Cup football tournament, held in 
various major centres around South Africa, including 
Durban in KwaZulu-Natal. 

This was the first time this, the world’s single biggest 
sporting event, was to be held in Africa and the world was 
watching. Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal recognised 
the opportunities that such intense international scrutiny 
provided.

This objective was met through the implementation of a 
series of synchronised campaigns, inclusive of a variety 
of workshops, policy advocacy projects, investment 
conferences and other related projects. 

These were conducted in liaison with identified key 
strategic partners from targeted countries across the 
world to role-players within various municipalities and 
other local partners.

During the year under review Trade & Investment 
KwaZulu-Natal worked closely with the Department of 
Economic Development and Tourism in the process of 
developing and formulating both a KwaZulu-Natal Trade 
Strategy and an Investment Strategy. It was anticipated 
that these strategies would be passed by the Provincial 
Parliament early in the 2011/12 financial year.

In addition, one of our organisation’s 2010/11 strategic 
objectives was to conduct a comprehensive study of the 
KwaZulu-Natal investment climate.

The purpose of the Investment Climate Survey was to 
evaluate the state of the economy in this province, identify 
key constraints impacting upon companies operating 
in the various designated regions and to evaluate 
innovational business enterprise status and how this 
related to their levels of competitiveness. 

A further objective of the survey was to assess the 
primary challenges associated with the performance 
of local companies and, arising from this, to identify 
appropriate strategies designed to overcome 
performance obstacles. 

Successful interventions would assist in increasing 
productivity and improving the management of business 
enterprises within the region.

The study found that many small firms had achieved low 
to moderate growth during the past two years and 
whilst such performance may not be regarded as 
spectacular, it reflected relative stability during a period of 
economic turbulence. 

Certain businesses, especially those within relatively 
capital-intensive industry sectors, showed flat increases in 
revenue, based on improved productivity levels. 

It became increasingly evident, too, from changes within 
the business climate in the 2010/11 financial year that 
the challenges of the global recession had begun to fade, 
giving way to a period of strategic re-engineering. 

Peter Staude
Chairperson
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This heralds a welcome shift to a vigorous and expansive 
focus on development in an effort to promote sustained 
economic growth in KwaZulu-Natal.

Importantly, the African continent is emerging as an 
enormous potential trade and investment destination. It 
is well-documented that much of Africa has undergone 
tremendous political, social and economic change in 
recent times, marking its re-emergence – hastened 
by the hosting of the FIFA World Cup here, at the 
continent’s southern tip – as an alternative competitive 
market development destination for new investors from 
throughout the world. 

Every effort will be made to ensure that KwaZulu-Natal 
benefi ts from this new-found interest by prospective 
investors.

Looking Ahead

Looking to the future, Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal 
is set to build on the solid foundation it has created 
during the past decade and the new, albeit cautious, 
wave of optimism relating to economic recovery in many 
parts of the world, with the exception of certain European 
countries.

Our objective is to target specifi c countries for both direct 
inward investment and the development and promotion 
of export deals for KwaZulu-Natal-based business 
enterprises. 

In this regard, we remain committed to ensuring 
widespread recognition of KwaZulu-Natal’s standing as 
South Africa’s trading gateway to Africa and the world. 

With a number of opportunities, valued at more than R10 
billion, in our investment pipeline, the future of trade and 
investment in KwaZulu-Natal certainly looks bright.

Appreciation

In the afterglow of the successes associated with the 
2010 FIFA World Cup, together with the business 
opportunities the event’s exposure provided our 
organisation, I would like to extend my most sincere 
thanks to all those allied to Trade & Investment KwaZulu-
Natal and the execution of its activities.

The Board and I thank the Provincial Government of 
KwaZulu-Natal and, especially, the MEC for Economic 
Development and Tourism, Mr Michael Mabuyakhulu, for 
the tremendous support extended to Trade & Investment 
KwaZulu-Natal during the review period.

I would also like to take this opportunity to personally 
thank my Board colleagues for their dedication to 
our organisation and their resolute commitment to 
our strategic direction, in the quest to create new 
levels of economic growth and additional employment 
opportunities.

Last, but not least, I am particularly thankful to our Chief 
Executive Offi cer, Mr Zamo Gwala, and his team for 
their commitment to meeting and, in many instances, 
exceeding our business goals during the exceptionally 
busy and challenging 2010/11 fi nancial year.    
   
Conclusion

There can be no doubt that the 2010/11 fi nancial year 
provided Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal a unique set 
of challenges, largely as a result of our country’s hosting 
of the FIFA World Cup and the global exposure we 
reaped as a consequence.

Such exposure has stood KwaZulu-Natal in good stead, 
opening the eyes of the world to the fact that in this 
province we have a fi rst-rate investment and tourism 
development destination. 

Having seized every available opportunity to promote 
and actively market our trade and investment competitive 
advantages during the review period, I am proud of our 
organisation’s accomplishments. 

Going forward we have a responsibility to further intensify 
our efforts to extend our trade links in the international 
arena and to build on our status as one of the world’s 
leading investment destinations.

     

………………………………………………  
Peter Staude
Chairperson   

………………………………………………  



8

The 2010/11 fi nancial year marked an important milestone in the history of Trade 
& Investment KwaZulu-Natal; the promulgation of the KwaZulu-Natal Trade and 
Investment Agency Bill into Act No. 5 of 2010, transforming our organisation into a fully-
fl edged public entity. It was fi tting too, that our coming of age co-incided with Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s 10th anniversary.

5 Chief Executive’s Review

In line with the requirements of our new Act, the process 
of appointing a new Board also commenced and should 
be concluded early in the new fi nancial year. 

Our new-found status does not in any way affect our 
mandate as the offi cial investment promotion agency of 
the KwaZulu-Natal Provincial Government. Indeed, it is 
our intention to use our position and our decade-long 
track-record of delivery to re-double our efforts in the 
quest to ensure that KwaZulu-Natal becomes the premier 
investment destination for both domestic and foreign 
direct investors and a leader in international trade and 
export activities. 

This is no easy task given the fi erce competition we 
face from rival destinations around the world, as well as 
from other parts of our own country. To remain at the 
very cutting-edge of trade and investment promotion, 
we must strive constantly to improve our investment 
climate. It was for this reason that the Cabinet of the 
Provincial Government of KwaZulu-Natal was the fi rst 
in South Africa to approve an Investment Protocol, a 
comprehensive investor-friendly document which details 
for prospective investors and traders the regulations, 
processes and procedures required for starting or 
locating a business in KwaZulu-Natal. This Investment 
Protocol Handbook was to be offi cially launched by 
the MEC for Economic Development and Tourism, Mr 
Michael Mabuyakhulu, and Trade & Investment KwaZulu-
Natal early in the new fi nancial year. 

The Handbook contains useful information about a 
number of matters and includes such details as an 
overview of the South African and KwaZulu-Natal 
economies, policy priorities governing business in South 
Africa and KwaZulu-Natal and the local regulatory 
environment. It further discusses working in and operating 
a business in KwaZulu-Natal, available investment 
incentives, trade relations and strategic projects.

I fi rmly believe that this communications tool will greatly 
assist prospective investors and decision-makers 
considering our province, giving us an undoubted 

competitive advantage in our pursuit of Foreign Direct 
Investment and trade linkages.

Business Performance

A recovering economy, although sluggish, assisted to a 
degree by our country’s hosting of the FIFA World Cup, 
ensured another successful business performance for 
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal and a positive impact 
on the socio-economic growth and development of 
KwaZulu-Natal, albeit at a somewhat lower level than our 
experiences of previous years.

The organisation facilitated the commitment of four major 
new investment projects worth a combined total of more 
than R1,1 billion during the review period, against a total 
of nine commitments valued at just R855,8 million the 
previous year. We were also successful in exceeding our 
2010/11 fi nancial target of R750 million by some R350 
million.

Importantly, too, these investments brought with them 
the potential for the creation of 1 240 new employment 
opportunities in the province, again comparing favourably 
with our target for the fi nancial year of 1 000 new jobs. 

The committed investment projects were in the fi elds 
of water infrastructure and the business process 
outsourcing and call centre industry, as well as the 
automotive and aviation industries.

Critically and in view of the damaging effects of the 
2008 and 2009 global economic slump and attendant 
recessionary conditions, our organisation’s business 
retention intervention paid handsome dividends during 
the review period. Our support of a number of local 
companies in distress and on the verge of closure as 
a consequence of the world-wide economic collapse 
followed by extremely guarded participation in recovering 
economies, contributed signifi cantly to the saving of 
some 300 existing jobs in the province. 

Equally importantly, we paid great attention to our export 

Zamo Gwala
Chief Executive Offi cer           
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development and promotion dealings during the 2010/11 
financial year, as this was another key area in which the 
previous economic crash wreaked havoc, resulting in a 
significant reduction in exports.

We, for our part, intensified our business training and 
capacity-building programmes in a concerted effort to 
make more entrepreneurs export-ready, while using our 
strategic relationships, international linkages and access 
to a range of international trade shows and exhibitions 
to create new markets for locally-based traders. Our 
organisation successfully facilitated 58 new markets 
around the world for KwaZulu-Natal-based enterprises 
during the year under review, against our target for 
the year of 32. Our interventions saw the opening of 
new markets in Europe, the United Kingdom, the USA, 
Canada, Brazil, Colombia, Australia and – 
critically – Africa. 

It was especially pleasing that a number of these new 
markets were created within developing economies, 
inclusive of Africa and South America as this followed 
South Africa’s national strategy of co-operating with 
the BRICS, SADC and other similar trading blocks. 
Export products to these new markets included white 
goods, automotive parts, shoes, protective work-wear, 
coffee, copper cathodes, clothing, arts, crafts and Zulu 
beadwork, leather goods, electronic alarm devices, soft 
furnishings, jewellery, spices and cereal products.  

In addition, Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal was 
actively involved in numerous inbound and outbound 
trade and investment missions, marketing the province, 
its attributes and available trade and investment 
opportunities, as well as our organisation’s own facilitation 
services to a wide-ranging international audience. 

We were pleased to welcome inbound mission 
delegations from Europe, the USA, the United Kingdom, 
Korea, India, China, Australia, Iran and a number of 
African countries. These included the Democratic 
Republic of Congo, Zimbabwe, Kenya and Nigeria.

We were also involved in a series of outbound missions 
as a pro-active measure in promoting KwaZulu-Natal 
to target-specific markets abroad. Outbound mission 
destinations included Mozambique, Poland, China, 
Vietnam, Australia, Equatorial Guinea, the USA, Romania, 
India, Spain, Italy, Dubai, Morocco, France, Nigeria, 
Zimbabwe and Angola.  

Relationship Development

During the year under review we continued working 
diligently towards strengthening our business 

relationships with Local Municipalities. We regard such 
alliances as critical to the overall and consistent marketing 
of all the regions which make up the province. Judging 
by the number of agreements already entered into 
between our municipalities and their foreign counter-
parts, it is clear that a need most certainly exists for 
our organisation’s local and, especially, international 
marketing of each and every municipal area within the 
province. 

In an effort to take advantage of all possible opportunities 
to showcase KwaZulu-Natal to an international audience, 
we were pleased, during the 2010/11 financial year, to 
successfully link with Tourism KwaZulu-Natal, the Ithala 
Development Finance Corporation Limited and the 
Department of Economic Development and Tourism to 
form a partnership with CNBC Africa.

Key to this joint initiative was the fact that KwaZulu-
Natal was afforded an incredible opportunity to highlight 
strategic projects and investment opportunities to a 
specific and highly relevant market. CNBC Africa was to 
feature KwaZulu-Natal documentaries, flighted in 49 sub-
Saharan countries, as well as the United Arab Emirates 
on CNBC Arabia.

In further efforts to promote KwaZulu-Natal as a 
premier investment destination, we continued ensuring 
that a range of marketing material was distributed to 
all South African Embassies abroad. We regard the 
embassy network as a critical platform for our promotion 
and marketing efforts, ensuring, as it does, that the 
organisation and, by association, the province, maintains 
a definite physical presence throughout the world. 
Positive feedback and requests for additional information 
received during the review period as a result of the 
provision of this literature was indicative of the importance 
of these promotional outlets. 

The Future

We look to the future with a new sense of optimism. 
The recovering world economy and a growing interest 
in emerging markets, coupled with the unprecedented 
exposure our country and province received before, 
during and after the FIFA World Cup, kicks-off a new era 
in our drive for trade and investment.

This positive outlook is further enhanced by South Africa’s 
induction into the BRIC (Brazil, Russia, India and China) 
trade forum, so creating BRICS. We are aware that many 
investors make asset allocations based on the BRICS 
classification and the countries already in the group have 
realised a significant increase in their financial influence 



10

5 Chief Executive’s Review (continued)

world-wide. 

We fully embrace the country’s BRICS membership. 
We aim to utilise the BRICS agreement as a catalytic 
opportunity to position KwaZulu-Natal as a key entry 
point into South Africa and Africa, with the prospect of 
an increased share of exports and improved levels of 
investment.

Another important development which augers well for our 
organisation’s future business activities was a Provincial 
Cabinet decision obliging Trade & Investment KwaZulu-
Natal to align its business actions with national priorities. 
The national brand alignment initiative will provide for an 
undoubted enhancement to our promotional activities 
going forward.

This development will enable us to become an integral 
part of a unifi ed and co-operative approach to marketing 
the strengths of South Africa and its regions as a 
preferred trade and investment destination. Uniformity 
of look and message will bring about an improved 
overall strategic focus, creating a compelling trade 
and investment destination, whilst optimising available 
promotional resources.    
 
Appreciation

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal greatly appreciates 
the support it is accorded by the Provincial Government 
of KwaZulu-Natal and we are particularly indebted 
to Mr Michael Mabuyakhulu, the MEC for Economic 
Development and Tourism, for his constant
championing of our cause and his continual 
encouragement and assistance. I am also especially 
grateful to Mr Peter Staude, our Chairperson, as well as 
the members of our Board for their individual business 
skills, acumen, collective wisdom and leadership they 
have imparted during the 2010/11 fi nancial year.

Lastly, I extend my thanks to our organisation’s 
management team and members of staff who are the 
face of Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal and whose 
dedication to fulfi lling our mandate and commitment 
to our clients and other stakeholders with whom they 
interact is to be greatly applauded.      

Conclusion

With the recession behind us and the prospect
of continued economic growth going forward,
our organisation’s catalytic role takes on ever 
greater importance.

In this new economic era we must facilitate the creation 
of an operating environment throughout KwaZulu-Natal 
which is conducive to business development and which is 
increasingly attractive to international and local investors, 
as well as traders. 

In essence, now is the time to drive the business of trade 
and investment in KwaZulu-Natal.

…………………………………………….   
Zamo Gwala
Chief Executive Offi cer

…………………………………………….   
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According to the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development’s 
(UNCTAD, 2011) World Investment Report 2011 (WIR, 2011), global Foreign Direct 
Investment (FDI) inflows rose modestly by 5%, to reach $1,24 trillion in 2010. While 
global industrial output and world trade are already back to pre-crisis levels, FDI 
flows in 2010 remained some 15% below the pre-crisis average and nearly 37% 
below their 2007 peak.

6 Overview of the Trade and 
Investment Environment

Foreign Direct Investment

UNCTAD predicts that FDI flows will continue their 
recovery to reach the pre-crisis level ($1,4 – $1,6 trillion) in 
2011. The flows are expected to rise further to $1,7 trillion 
in 2012 and reach $1,9 trillion in 2013; the peak achieved 
in 2007. 

The record cash holdings of Transnational Companies 
(TNCs), ongoing corporate and industrial restructuring, 
rising stock market valuations and gradual exits by states 
from financial and non-financial firms’ shareholdings, 
built-up as supporting measures during the crisis, are 
reportedly creating new investment opportunities for 
companies across the globe.

Emerging Economies are New FDI 
Powerhouses

Developing economies further increased in importance 
in 2010; both as recipients of FDI and as sources of 
outward investments. For the first time, developing and 
transition economies together attracted more than half 
of global FDI flows (51,6%). Outward FDI from those 
countries also reached record highs, with most of their 
investment directed towards other countries in the South.

Half of the top-20 host economies for FDI in 2010 were 
developing or transition economies. TNCs are increasingly 
investing in both efficiency- and market-seeking projects 
in those countries.

Services FDI was Subdued, Cross-
Border M&A Rebounded

FDI in services, which accounted for the bulk of 
the decline in FDI flows due to the crisis, continued 
on its downward path in 2010. All primary service 
industries (business services, finance, transport and 
communications and utilities) fell, although at 
different speeds. 

FDI flows in the financial industry experienced one of 
the sharpest declines. The share of manufacturing rose 

to almost half of all FDI projects. Within manufacturing, 
however, investments fell in business-cycle-sensitive 
industries such as metal and electronics.

The chemical industry (including pharmaceuticals) 
remained resilient through the crisis, while industries such 
as food, beverages and tobacco, textiles and garments, 
and automobiles, recovered in 2010. FDI in extractive 
industries (which did not suffer during the crisis) declined 
in 2010.

The value of cross-border Merger and Acquisition (M&A) 
deals increased by 36% in 2010 ($338,8 billion), but was 
still only around one-third of the previous peak in 2007 
($1 trillion). 

The value of cross-border M&As into developing 
economies doubled. Greenfield investments declined in 
2010, but registered a significant rise in both value and 
numbers during the first five months of 2011. 

Improved economic performance in many parts of 
the world and increased profits of foreign affiliates are 
believed to have lifted re-invested earnings to nearly 
double their 2009 level. 

Equity investment flows and intra-company loans fell in 
2010, while Non-Equity Modes (NEMs) of production - 
such as contract manufacturing, services outsourcing, 
contract farming, franchising, licencing, management 
contracts and other types of contractual relationships 
through which TNCs co-ordinate the activities of host 
firms without owning a stake in those firms - have 
increased their importance footprint.

State-owned TNCs also proved to be an important 
emerging source of FDI. There are at least 650 state-
owned TNCs, with 8 500 foreign affiliates across 
the globe. 

While they represent less than 1% of TNCs, their outward 
investment accounted for 11% of global FDI in 2010.
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6 Overview of the Trade and 
Investment Environment (continued)

Region

FDI inflows FDI outflows

2008 2009 2010 2008 2009 2010

World 1 744 1 185 1 244 1 911 1 171 1 323

   Developed economies 965 603 602 1 541 851 935

   Developing economies 658 511 574 309 271 328

       Africa 73 60 55 10 6 7

       Latin America and the Caribbean 207 141 159 81 46 76

       West Asia 92 66 58 40 26 13

       South, East and South-East Asia 284 242 300 178 193 232

    South-East Europe and the CIS 121 72 68 60 49 61

Structurally weak, vulnerable and small economies 62,4 52,7 48,3 5,6 4,0 10,1

    LDCs 33,0 26,5 26,4 3,0 0,4 1,8

    LLDCs 25,4 26,2 23,0 1,7 3,8 8,4

    SIDS 8,0 4,3 4,2 0,9 - 0,2

Percentage share in world FDI flows

   Developed economies 55,3 50,9 48,4 80,7 72,7 70,7

   Developing economies 37,7 43,1 46,1 16,2 23,1 24,8

       Africa 4,2 5,1 4,4 0,5 0,5 0,5

       Latin America and the Caribbean 11,9 11,9 12,8 4,2 3,9 5,8

       West Asia 5,2 5,6 4,7 2,1 2,2 1,0

       South, East and South-East Asia 16,3 20,4 24,1 9,3 16,5 17,5

    South-East Europe and the CIS 6,9 6,0 5,5 3,2 4,2 4,6

Structurally weak, vulnerable and small economies 3,6 4,4 3,9 0,3 0,3 0,8

    LDCs 1,9 2,2 2,1 0,2 0,0 0,1

    LLDCs 1,5 2,2 1,9 0,1 0,3 0,6

    SIDS 0,5 0,4 0,3 - - -

Figure 1: FDI flows by region, 2008—2010

Source: UNCTAD, WIR 2011 
LDCs = Least Developed Countries; LLDCs = Land-locked Developing Countries; SIDS = Small Island Developing States
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6 Overview of the Trade and 
Investment Environment

Uneven Performance was Recorded 
Across Regions

FDI flows to Africa fell by 9% in 2010. At $55 billon, the 
share of Africa in total global FDI inflows was 4,4% in 
2010, down from 5,1% in 2009 (Figure 1). FDI to the 
primary sector, especially in the oil industry, continued to 
dominate FDI flows to the continent. It accounted for the 
rise of Ghana as a major host country, as well as for the 
decline of inflows to Angola and Nigeria. 

Although the continued pursuit of natural resources, in 
particular by Asian TNCs, is likely to sustain FDI flows to 
sub-Saharan Africa, political uncertainty in North Africa 
is likely to make 2011 another challenging year for the 
continent as a whole.

Inflows to East Asia, South-East Asia and South Asia 
as a whole rose by 24% in 2010, reaching $300 billion. 
However, the three sub-regions experienced very different 
trends: inflows to ASEAN more than doubled; those to 
East Asia saw a 17% rise; FDI to South Asia declined by 
one-fourth. 

Inflows to China, the largest recipient of FDI in the 
developing world, increased by 11%, to $106 billion. 
With continuously rising wages and production costs, 
however, off-shoring of labour-intensive manufacturing 
to the country has slowed down and FDI inflows 
continue to shift towards high-tech industries and 
services. In contrast, some ASEAN member states, 
such as Indonesia and Vietnam, have gained ground as 
low-cost production locations, especially for low-end 
manufacturing.

In 2010, FDI inflows in developed countries declined 
marginally. The restructuring of the banking industry 
in these countries, driven by regulatory authorities, 
is believed to have resulted in a series of significant 
divestments of foreign assets. At the same time, this 
is also believed to have generated new FDI as assets 
changed hands among major players. The global efforts 
towards the reform of the financial system and the exit 
strategy of governments are expected to have a large 
bearing on FDI flows in the financial industry in 
coming years.

Global Trade Trends

Following its sharpest decline in more than 70 
years (12,7%) (see Figure 2 below), the World Trade 

Organisation (WTO) estimated that the volume of exports 
in world trade had rebounded to a record-breaking 
14,5% in 2010. 

This was 5% points higher than predicted. Trade growth 
was forecast to settle to a more modest 6,5% expansion 
in 2011. However, the WTO economists believed that 
recent important events around the world lend a greater 
degree of uncertainty to any forecast. 

The 14,5% rise was the largest annual figure in 
the present data series which began in 1950 and 
was buoyed by a 3,6% recovery in global output. 
Nevertheless, the financial crisis and global recession are 
set to continue having an impact.

Factors which contributed to the unusually large drop in 
world trade in 2009 may also have helped boost the size 
of the rebound in 2010. 

These factors included the spread of global supply 
chains and the product composition of trade compared 
to output, which supply chains cause goods to cross 
national boundaries several times during the production 
process and raise measured world trade flows compared 
to earlier decades1.

Goods most affected by the downturn, such as 
consumer durables, industrial machinery and the like, 
enjoy a larger share in world trade than in world Gross 
Domestic Product (GDP), which increased the magnitude 
of the trade slump relative to GDP in 2009 and which had 
a similar positive effect during the recovery in 2010.

The short-term outlook was clouded by a number of 
significant risk factors in addition to the catastrophes in 
Japan. These included rising prices for food and other 
primary products and unrest in major oil-exporting 
countries. Adverse developments in any of these areas 
could potentially set back the economic recovery and 
limit the expansion of trade in the year ahead.

Higher prices for primary commodities and the 
extraordinary growth of trade in developing Asia helped 
boost the combined share of developing economies and 
the Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS) in world 
exports to 45% in 2010, its highest ever. Developed 
economies recorded export growth of nearly 13% in 
2010, compared against a 16,5% average increase in the 
rest of the world. During 2010, China’s exports increased 
by a massive 28% in volume terms.

  1 The quantification of this effect would require data on trade in value 
added that are not currently available.
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6 Overview of the Trade and 
Investment Environment (continued)

Source: WTO Secretariat; a Figures for 2011 are projections
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After plunging 20,2% in 2009, South Africa’s growth in 
volume of merchandise exports rebounded 4,8% in 2010. 

Although this was considered a soft recovery compared 
against performance experienced during the 2005 to 
2007 pre-crisis period and the global come-back of 
14,5%, it was still regarded as commendable as it proved 
to be better than the pre-boom performance-years 
immediately preceding 2005.

South Africa’s Trade Values in 2010

South Africa exported goods and services worth R575,7 
billion in 2010 (current prices). This amounted to a 13,7% 
increase in the value of exports, compared against the 
2009 export level and after a 20,5% nose-dive in that 
year. In turn, the country imported R575,1 billion worth of 
goods and services in the same year, 7,3% higher than 
the previous year and following a 25,7% decrease. 

The increase in trade improved the trade balance to 
R613,2 million, from a deficit of R29,3 billion in 2009.

The leading import products to South Africa were mineral 
fuels, oils, distillation products and the like, nuclear 
reactors, boilers and machinery, electrical, electronic 
equipment and the like, vehicles – other than railway 
and tramway. Special classification of original equipment 
components and parts of motor vehicles, optical, photo, 
technical, medical and other apparatus, plastics and 
articles thereof, pharmaceutical products and 
organic chemicals.

The country exported pearls, precious stones, metals, 
coins, ores, slag and ash, iron and steel, mineral fuels, 
oils, distillation products, vehicles – other than railway and 
tramway, nuclear reactors, boilers and machinery, edible 
fruit, nuts, peel of citrus fruit, melons and aluminium and 
related articles.

6 Overview of the Trade and 
Investment Environment (continued)

Source: Own calculations, using Quantec (2011)

Figure 4: South Africa’s leading source markets, 2009 – 2010
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The leading source and destination markets for South 
Africa’s imports and exports in 2010 are as shown in 
figures 4 and 5 above. China, the USA, Japan, Germany, 
the United Kingdom and India were instrumental in South 
Africa’s outward trade, while China and Japan also 
increased their share of South Africa’s imports.

KwaZulu-Natal Trade Performance 
in 2010

In 2010, total outward trade for KwaZulu-Natal amounted 
to an estimated R61,3 billion, up from R56,7 billion in 
2009. The province imported merchandise worth R60 
billion, an increase of R9,1 billion over the 2009 level. This 
culminated to a R7,8 billion trade deficit for the province, 
after narrowing the deficit to R3,2 billion in 2009, down 
from R6,5 billon in 2008. The province continued to 
export natural resources in 2010, the share of these 

reaching almost 44% of total outward trade that year. A 
large portion of these products came from aluminium and 
articles thereof (22,9%), and iron and steel (16,6%).

Mineral products, as a group inclusive of salt, sulphur, 
earth, stone, plaster, lime and cement, ores, slag and 
ash, mineral fuels, oils, distillation products and the like, 
proved to be the second largest export product (14,7%). 
The single most dominant product in this group was ores, 
slag and ash (12,7%). KwaZulu-Natal also continued to 
export motor vehicles (11,1% for the single product).

While overall outward trade was R4,6 billion higher than 
the previous year’s level, it remained lower than the pre-
crisis performance, when exports grew R16 billion, only 
to decline by R18,2 billion in 2009.

Figure 5: South Africa’s leading destination markets, 2009 – 2010

Source: Own calculations, using Quantec (2011)

12,0%

10,0%

8,0%

6,0%

4,0%

2,0%

0%

China

United Kingdom

United States India
Japan

Netherlands
Zimbabwe

Germany

Switzerland

Mozambique

SA exports by market (% of total)

2009 2010



18

6 Overview of the Trade and 
Investment Environment (continued)

Source: Own calculations, using Quantec (2011) provincial trade data 

Figure 6: South Africa’s leading source markets, 2009 – 2010
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Figure 7: KwaZulu-Natal imports by product, 2006 – 2010; top five product groups (% of total) 
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South African and KwaZulu-Natal 
Investment Performance 

The most recent data on investment from the South 
African Reserve Bank (SARB) indicated that during the 
last quarter of 2010, total gross fixed capital formation 
(GFCF) grew at an annualised 1,5% when compared 
against the third quarter of the same year 
(see figure 8 below). 

Much of this growth emanated from the transport and 
communications sector, which grew its capital outlay 
by 8,4% after achieving a towering 10,4% in the third 
quarter of 2010.

The growth in logistics was followed by that in mining 
(4,5%), which was the only sector to have expanded 
investment throughout 2010. Electricity, gas and water 

followed at 4,3%. Finance, real-estate and business 
services (FREBS), which remained in positive territory 
during the first three quarters of the year, yielded to 
pressure and invested less in the final quarter of the 
year(-2,7%),  while government services negative 
investment growth grew smaller.

Investment by Asset Type:

The fastest investment vehicles during the review period 
included transport equipment and transfer costs (a 
reflection of building sales) (see figure 9).

Growth in transport equipment confirmed expansion in the 
transport industry, while that in transfer costs could have 
indicated investment in buildings by the communications 
(business process outsourcing) industry to host call centres, 
this being one of the most vibrant sectors in the economy.   

 Source: Own calculations using South African Reserve Bank (2011) gross fixed capital formation time series; *seasonally adjusted and annualised

Figure 8: Quarterly growth in gross fixed capital formation by economic sector (SAA*), First quarter: 2010 – fourth 
quarter: 2010 
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Investment by Source:

Overall, public corporations’ investment growth in the 
fourth quarter of 2010 proved faster than their private 
enterprise counterparts (3,3% against 1,6%). In spite of 
this being the case, the private sector’s contribution to 
investment in the economy cannot be understated. This 
sector brings to the table at least 70% of total Gross 
Fixed Capital Formation in the country, at an average of 
R230 billion annually, compared against R78 billion by 
public corporations (not shown).

KwaZulu-Natal Investment Performance

Provincial investment statistics suggested that between 
2007 and 2008, KwaZulu-Natal’s investment grew at 

14,6%. However, provincial investment growth performed 
dismally in 2009 compared against 2008, recording only 
2,8%. Weaknesses were identified in two asset classes, 
namely machinery and transfer costs, compared against 
only one class, being transfer costs, in the previous year. 
Although statistics were not available at provincial level for 
2010, it was believed that the growth of KwaZulu-Natal’s 
GFCF in 2010 was even lower, as the province’s long-
term investment path mirrored the national investment 
path in 2010. South Africa’s GFCF grew at 0,225% 
compared against the 2009 figure.

According to fdi- markets (2011), between January 2003 
and June 2011, it recorded a total of 676 investment 
projects from 502 companies investing in South Africa. 
The average number of employment opportunities 
created per project totalled 211. 

The leading sector was software and information 
technology services, which accounted for 12% of 
projects, while the leading business activities were sales, 
marketing and support, which accounted for 26%
of projects.

The top 10 companies accounted for 11% of all 
investment projects, with General Motors (USA), Anglo 
American (United Kingdom) and Volkswagen (Germany) 
named among the top 10.

The top three source cities for outward investment 
included London, Mumbai and Paris, providing 11%, 
3% and 3% of investment projects respectively, while 
the top three destination cities for inward investment 
were Johannesburg, Cape Town and Durban, providing 
29%,15% and 4% of investment projects respectively.

6 Overview of the Trade and 
Investment Environment (continued)

Source: Own calculations, using Quantec (2011), fixed capital formation and capital stock 

Figure 9: KwaZulu-Natal gross fixed capital formation (annual % change) 2006 – 2009 
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7 Departmental Reports

Introduction

Chief 
Executive Officer

Chief 
Financial Officer

Business
Retention & Policy

Advocacy

Export
Development
 & Promotion

 Investment
Promotion

Human 
Resource

Development

Knowledge
Management

 Marketing &
Communications

• Business Retention and Policy 
Advocacy;

• Investment Promotion;
• Export Development and 

Promotion;
• Knowledge Management;
• Marketing and Communications; 

and

• Human Resource Development.

Given Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s need to promote the province as a 
leading investment destination and to attract Foreign Direct Investment, while 
stimulating trade from within the province, the organisation has been structured
into six departments, as follows:
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Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal believes in the need for an effective follow-up and 
after-care service in its investment promotion endeavours.

7.1 Business Retention and Policy Advocacy

The Department regards business follow-up 
as a critical intervention in the overall investment process, 
once an investment has been committed.

In addition, the organisation views the provision of 
professional after-care services as a potential mechanism 
for the facilitation of further business expansion in the 
province.

New initiatives implemented by the Department in 
response to the priority needs of the province included:
• Assisting companies in order to enhance their 

operating environment;
• Assisting companies which required potential Black 

Economic Empowerment partners;

• Implementing Black Economic Empowerment industry 
development programmes;

• Implementing and reviewing the Business Retention 
and Expansion (BR&E) Programme within various 
municipalities;

• Facilitating municipality partnerships; and
• Implementing growth and development programmes 

with Industry Associations.

7.1.1 Retained Industry

The Department successfully met its 2010/11 target 
for retained and expanded businesses, as shown in the 
following Business Retention and Expansion Programme 
Graph and the Potential Jobs Graph below.

Business Retention and Expansion Programme Graph
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Company 
Name

Business Retention Unit Intervention

GPT Cement Due to the economic downturn, the company had intended to retrench employees as cash flow had 
been impacted by market loss. Approved Enterprise Investment Programme (EIP) application from 
the dti assisted the company to remain afloat. 

Shu Powders Prior to the 2010 World Cup, the company applied through the SA Embassy in Beijing for five 
engineers from its sister plant in China to be given intra-company transfer permits in order for them 
to perform annual maintenance, quality monitoring and training programmes. TIKZN successfully 
intervened with regard to the visa application process for the engineers, which was prioritised and 
the engineers were provided with permits.

•  EIP – Enterprise Investment Programme  •  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  dti – department of trade and industry

Potential Jobs Graph
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7.1.2 Companies Assisted Through Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal   
Intervention

During the review period Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal assisted KwaZulu-Natal-based companies to retain and 
expand their business investments by helping with the following interventions:
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7.1 Business Retention and Policy Advocacy (continued)

•  dti – department of trade and industry  •  EIP – Enterprise Investment Programme  •  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal
•  SMEDP – Small and Medium Enterprise Development Programme  • BR&E – Business Retention and Expansion  •  USA – United States of America
•  SEDA – Small Enterprise Development Agency  •  NPA – National Ports Authority

Company 
Name

Business Retention Unit Intervention

African Cats The company was approved for the SMEDP incentive by the dti in July 2006. However no monies 
were disbursed. TIKZN facilitated an intervention to have the application reinstated. The company 
was also seeking to expand its operation, but required access to property within the port of Durban. 
TIKZN facilitated engagement with the National Ports Authority in order to deal with property access.

Woodstreet 
Furniture

Due to the company having lost much of its European market, it engaged the Unions and underwent 
a retrenchment process. TIKZN, together with the Furniture Cluster, assisted the company to 
introduce product diversification and to focus on a specific niche. The company was further assisted 
to market its products in the USA.

Natal 
Pepperdew

BR&E assisted the company with its application for the dti Enterprise Investment Programme
(EIP) incentive.

Evertrade
Feeds

TIKZN assisted the company with linkages for its products. BR&E is assisting in an appeal to the dti 
regarding the payout of the company’s EIP incentive.

Flamboyant 
Lodge

BR&E assisted the company in linkages with financial institutions. Further linkages are in place with 
SEDA in order to assist the company with its business plan. An application for an EIP incentive was 
approved in February 2010. The challenge has been in the claim process, through which the unit is 
assisting the company.

ATB
Coaches

The client was assisted with homologation procedures for the Chinese, Thai and Malaysian market 
processes. The company was linked with financing institutions and was further being assisted with 
the dti’s expansion incentive.

Advafusion The company required working capital and linkages with potential partners which were facilitated by 
the Unit. A Joint Venture agreement was finalised.

Tai Yuen
Textiles

TIKZN assisted the company and municipality to secure an expert to conduct a study regarding the 
cost of electricity and to complete a comparative analysis with other municipalities.  Following this 
analysis, the company and municipality agreed that the municipality would link Tai Yuen Textiles to 
Eskom for direct electricity supply.

GPT Cement Due to the economic downturn, the company was forced to consider retrenching employees as 
cash flow had been impacted by a loss of market. An approved EIP application from the dti assisted 
company to remain afloat.

Ramsay 
Engineering

The company was interested in acquiring property belonging to the municipality. Linkages were put 
in place with the municipality in order to assess the possibility of the company leasing the property.

IJ 
Components

In order to increase the company’s market, the unit was instrumental in the development of linkages 
with a USA-based company, Johnson Controls.
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Name

Business Retention Unit Intervention

Hugo Steel 
Works

In an effort to assist in diversifying the company’s product lines, the unit has helped the company 
gain access to opportunities in the capital goods industry. The unit further assisted the company in 
securing assistance from Business Partners, in order to assess the funding of the company’s capital 
costs.

Mortimer The company experienced continuous burst water pipes and storm water problems during rainy 
season. The unit assisted with engaging the municipality to look at the upgrade of the piping leading 
to the company. 

Nan Fai 
Investments

Linkages were put in place with the dti in order to address the delays experienced by clients in 
receiving business permits. 

Raymond 
Furniture

Due to the company having lost much of its European market, it engaged the Unions with a view to 
embarking on a process of retrenchments. TIKZN, with the Furniture Cluster, assisted the company 
to diversify and to focus on a specific niche. The company was further assisted to market its 
products in the USA.

Ebandla 
Hotel

TIKZN facilitated the acquisition of additional land for the new expansion project and also assisted 
in the application for dti Incentives. BR&E assisted the company in linkages with financial institutions 
and a linkage with SEDA in order to assist the company with its skill development plan.

Nguni 
Shades

BR&E, together with the EDPU, facilitated a clothing and textiles seminar geared to explore 
challenges facing existing and emerging designers.

Mobi-Track 
SA

The company applied for TIKZN’s Technical Assistance Fund.

Apollo Tyres 
South Africa 
(Durban)

TIKZN assisted Apollo Tyres to apply and secure approval for the MIP in respect of the expansion 
of the company’s Durban Plant. This resulted in the company retaining a total of 712 jobs, with a 
further 45 jobs to be created as part of the expansion.

Somta Tools Somta Tools was introduced to a number of potential investors and together with the IDC, a process 
of due diligence was conducted in order to effectively validate the worth of the company. Following 
this exercise, the financials were packaged for funding purposes. Standard Bank of South Africa 
accepted an offer from a South African investor to acquire its entire 67,5% equity stake in Somta 
Tools (Pty) Limited. 

Canvas 
& Tent 
Company

TIKZN assisted the company to raise concerns about safety and security within its area of operation.

Lasher Tools TIKZN facilitated engagement between company and Municipality on the cost of electricity. The 
municipality responded positively with regard to its plans to phase-in an electricity tariff increase to 
accommodate the needs of the company.

De Franca's 
Retail 

TIKZN facilitated engagement between the business and the municipality regarding property rate 
increases, which the municipality was to have introduced. The municipality supported a proposal 
regarding revaluation of property with the intention of finding a solution to the company’s plea for 
reduced property rates.

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  BR&E – Business Retention and Expansion   •  USA – United States of America  
•  SEDA – Small Enterprise Development Agency  •  EDPU – Export Promotion and Development Unit  • IDC - Industrial Development Corporation
•  MIP - Manufacturing Investment Programme
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7.1.3  Business Retention and 
Expansion Programme

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal implemented a variety 
of different training interventions through the Business 
Retention and Expansion Programme for 
the following municipalities:
• Ladysmith;
• Ugu; and
• Ilembe Municipality.

Looking ahead, Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal 
intends to further expand the programme with the aim of 
linking municipal officials with the Business Retention and 
Expansion International Programme, run in the USA and 
Australia.

7.1.4  Black Economic Empowerment-
Business-Owned Industry 
Development Programmes 

During the review period, Trade & Investment 
KwaZulu-Natal initiated industry development 
programmes on behalf of a number of Black Economic 
Empowerment companies.

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal, together with the 
Durban Automotive Cluster, embarked on a business 
acceleration programme for small and medium 
enterprises, focusing on unlocking the growth potential of 
such enterprises. These programmes are the:
• Strategic capacity-building, which provides a 

comprehensive overview to the industry, the market 
and business trends associated with small and 
medium enterprises;

• Toyota Production System (TPS); 
• Buyer meet-and-greet activities, which included 

meetings with purchasing managers and professionals 
from key potential automotive customers (major 
KwaZulu-Natal-based Tier 1 suppliers and, if possible, 
OEMs); and 

• Export market capacity-building, which provided 
 training relevant to preparing for and accessing export 

markets. 

In order to enhance linkages with key strategic partners to 
cater for companies, Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal 
assisted companies with:
• Furniture Industry Retention Programme for the Ugu 

District (in partnership with the Ugu District Municipality 
and the KwaZulu-Natal Furniture Cluster);

• UNIDO Benchmarking and Opportunity Identification for 
manufacturing companies;

• Tooling Industry programme linkages for business;

• Automotive Linkage Development Programme for 
Black-owned companies;

• Access to bursaries for seven KwaZulu-Natal-based 
companies to be trained in finance and strategic and 
operations management in Madison, Wisconsin, USA. 
The bursary scheme is to be offered for the next three 
years; and

• Working with the National Department of Economic 
Development on an awareness programme for 
companies to access the ‘Training Lay-off Scheme.’

For the ship-building and repair industry, Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal, the eThekwini Economic 
Development Unit and the Department of Economic 
Development and Tourism identified the SMM (Ship-
building, Machinery and Marine Technology) International 
Exhibition and Conference as an ideal mechanism to 
showcase their product offerings. Trade & Investment 
KwaZulu-Natal secured a 42 square metre exhibition 
stand for the involvement of KwaZulu-Natal companies. 
The KwaZulu-Natal Companies which participated 
included:
• Elgin, Brown & Hamer;
• Southern Africa Shipyards; and
• Marine & Hydraulic Services.

Another KwaZulu-Natal-based company, DORMAC, 
was also represented at the SMM Exhibition. However, 
the company participated through its German agent’s 
exhibition stand. The event attracted exhibitors from 
across the globe and Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal 
was strategically positioned close to the exit of the main 
ship-building and repair hall, drawing significant foot traffic 
interest. The participating companies met suppliers with 
which they already have relationships as well as a number 
of new companies offering their services and products.

Marine & Hydraulic Services met with its Dutch partner 
who introduced them to new possible business providers. 
Each of the participating companies received worthwhile, 
tangible leads to be followed-up.

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal met parties interested 
in supplying the KwaZulu-Natal maritime industry with 
their products and services. 

The organisation was also represented at the Global 
Maritime Environmental Congress, which brought 
together 700 representatives from industry, government, 
academia, navies and environmental NGO’s, to develop 
and present concrete solutions for greener and cleaner 
shipping. Participation successfully showcased both 
KwaZulu-Natal and South Africa’s ship-building and
repair capabilities.

7.1 Business Retention and Policy Advocacy (continued)
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Working in partnership with the National Economic 
Development Department, the organisation hosted 
a workshop in Durban aimed specifically at assisting 
KwaZulu-Natal companies in distress. The workshop 
covered a range of measures implemented under the 
framework for South Africa’s response to
the international economic crisis. Such measures 
included:
• Industrial Development Corporation (IDC) Distress 

Fund: The IDC established a R6,1 billion fund to assist 
distressed companies. This fund was developed to 
address the impact of the recession on companies 
which had either experienced difficulties with access to 
credit or seen a collapse of their market;

• EDD and Department of Labour partnership: EDD 
and the Department of Labour assisted in developing 
a unique partnership between the IDC and UIF in 
which the IDC successfully raised R2 billion through a 
development bond placed with the UIF and registered 
with the JSE. Qualifying businesses which received 
debt-funding through this instrument would do so at 
fixed preferential rates; and

• Training Lay-off Scheme: A Training Lay-off Scheme, 
managed by the CCMA, provided a new facility

 for companies and trade unions to place workers
 on a training lay-off scheme as an alternative 
 to retrenchment. 

7.1.5  Business Permits

The Department of Trade and Industry, as an organ of 
State, has been mandated to provide recommendation 
letters to the Department of Home Affairs in respect 
of new and the renewal of all business permits. In that 
respect, the Department of Trade and Industry works with 
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal to assist in the due 
diligence of applications for business permits. 

During the review period Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal 
facilitated the allocation of 15 new business permits.

7.1.6  Policy Advocacy

Policy advocacy refers to the strategic deployment 
of a broad set of tools to influence policy changes in 
regulations, laws and government policies and their 
administration in various fields, such as investment, trade, 
labour, immigration, real estate, taxes, infrastructure, 
technology and education. 

The initial goal is to shape a climate conducive to 
attracting and benefiting from Foreign Direct Investment 

(FDI), aiming ultimately to make FDI work for the socio-
economic development of the host country. This could 
be achieved through direct, personal communication of a 
set of policy preferences to government officials, privately 
through meetings or publically through conferences and 
seminars. 

It takes either written or oral form, is either regular or 
intermittent and either closely focused on a particular 
issue or on broader policy preferences. It could also be 
indirectly undertaken through opinion-building; sharing 
policy positions with journalists, writing media articles or 
sponsoring reports on topics which address a particular 
policy issue under consideration.

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal has practiced a more 
reactive form of advocacy since its inception within the 
organisation. However, a need was identified to increase 
the focus on the benefits that Policy Advocacy is able to 
deliver and dedicated personnel have been positioned to 
concentrate on the issue. 

This is in line with strategies adopted by many 
governments, particularly those of developing countries 
which base economic development and poverty 
reduction strategies on reforms designed to improve the 
investment climate in such countries. 

The organisation set out to finalise its intervention 
methodology in order to respond to two key areas, 
namely dealing with reactive intervention areas, such 
as instances in which industry approaches Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal for direct assistance, and 
the implementation of pro-active involvement, such as 
the Investment Climate Survey conducted by Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal. 

The survey identified a number of challenges for which 
intervention programmes are currently being developed. 
This notwithstanding, the unit played a critical facilitation 
role during the review period to assist industry with key 
challenges.

Primary challenges faced by industry included:
• Access to funding for, especially, expanding 

companies and particularly those which required an 
injection of working capital;

• Searches for local partners with the capital to buy 
shares in existing companies;

• Access to new markets for company products;
• Diversification of product lines; and
• The ability to continue being competitive.
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The South African Shipping Defence Initiative 
(SASDI) -
The South African Shipping Defence Initiative was 
launched in October 2010 with 18 shipping companies 
supporting its proposed structure.Due to fragmentation 
in the shipping industry, a need was identified to 
bring companies together, creating a forum to lobby 
government and, in particular, the naval services to 
procure ship-manufacturing capabilities from and within 
South African companies. 

The South African shipping and shipping defence industry 
possesses world-class products and it is believed that 
collaboration efforts will better place the industry to 
increase its product offering.

SASDI will adopt a two-pronged approach. The first 
involves co-operation. Members will be expected to share 
their skills, experience and knowledge to raise standards, 
competitiveness and encourage innovation in the industry. 

In areas where the South African industry is seen to be 
lacking, SASDI will look abroad to gain the necessary 
skills, benchmarking local industry with international 
shipping defence industries. 

The second approach is communication. SASDI will 
provide the platform for effective communication between 
members, as well as between the industry and other 
stakeholders, such as government. 

The forum will be managed by the unit in order to ensure 
that it achieves the desired outcomes.

ICT Sector -
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal facilitated a meeting 
of companies active within the ICT sector in an effort to 
ascertain their needs for expanding the industry. 

A number of issues were raised regarding connectivity 
and costs associated with the availability of broadband 
communication in South Africa. 

A position paper is being prepared to assess the impact 
of this expense on industry, inclusive of remedies required 
to resolve this hurdle. 

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal is to facilitate 
engagement with structures such as ICASA and 
the Department of Communication in order to lobby 
government and judge where, as a collective, the cost of 
data may be reduced in order to create new opportunities 
for industry to invest in KwaZulu-Natal.

Foreign Economic/Trade Attaché/Commissioners 
Information Session -
Two sessions were hosted for Foreign Economic/Trade 
Attaché/Commissioners represented at a number of 
Embassies in Pretoria. 

The aim was to determine the primary concerns raised 
with them by multi-national companies associated with 
the countries they represent.

The unit assessed and evaluated the relevant authorities 
in order to alert them to the impact these concerns could 
have on the investment environment.

A total of 35 issues were raised, some of which are 
detailed below as having generated significant levels of 
debate. These included:
• The issuing of visas through the Department of Home 

Affairs;
• The procurement of services, given that a number 

of companies commit to considerable expenses 
in preparing tenders, only to find that projects are 
postponed;

• Payment delays by Government for services provided;
• Clarification concerning potential policy adjustments by 

Government, such as the nationalisation of mines;
• Long-winded approvals from the South African Bureau 

of Standards concerning products which already enjoy 
international certification;

• Long-winded processes adopted by the South African 
Revenue Service regarding the repatriation of funds/
profits by companies;

• Understanding of the requirements of Broad-Based 
Black Economic Empowerment by Government 
officials;

• The effect of policy changes, such as Independent 
Power Producers;

• Approvals by the Medical Control Council on 
pharmaceutical products; and

• The perceived long-winded process of Environmental 
Impact Assessments and the like.

Duty on Parts - Set Top Boxes -
The need for Set Top Boxes is to be used to convert 
analogue signal to digital signal as part of the 
Government’s efforts (deadline: 2015 internationally and 
2013 SADC) to increasingly improve image quality and 
allow for additional channels in the same spectrum. 

The Set Top Box opportunity is also contained in the 
Department of Trade and Industry’s IPAP2 strategy as an 
opportunity to support employment creation and local 
manufacturing. A number of potential investors have 

7.1 Business Retention and Policy Advocacy (continued)
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shown interest in importing the populated Printed Circuit 
Board (PCB), while producing and assembling all other 
inputs, such as casings, connectors and the like in
South Africa. 

PCB manufacturing involves extensive capital outlay 
and technology inputs and is only cost-effective in large 
volumes, which the local (and Africa) cannot offer.

Currently the parts attract duty of 20%, while the 
European Union figure is just 9,5% and European 
Free Trade Association 15%, making it prohibitive to 
manufacture such parts in South Africa and therefore 
easier and cheaper to import fully assembled Set Top 
Boxes, running counter to Government’s strategies 
through IPAP2.

The unit was approached by a number of companies 
operating in the ICT industry wishing to assemble 
computers, television sets and Set Top Boxes in 
KwaZulu-Natal, for which parts attract duties as opposed 
to fully-assembled products which are duty-free. 

The unit began lobbying the International Trade and 
Administration Commission of South Africa (ITAC) for a 
waiver in such duties.

UNIDO Benchmarking and Opportunity Programme -
The Department of Trade and Industry and the 
Department of Science and Technology worked with 
the United Nations’ Industrial Development Organisation 
(UNIDO) to establish a Sub-contractor Supplier Exchange 
(SPX) programme to support its objective of linking local 
suppliers to major buyers. 

Under the Infrastructure Supplier Benchmarking 
Programme (ISBP), the Department of Public Enterprises 
funded the establishment of Sub-contracting and 
Partnership Exchange Centres (SPXs) for the creation of a 
series of tools and initiatives to facilitate a ‘match-making’ 
process between buyers and local suppliers. 

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal, together with the 
KwaZulu-Natal Tooling Initiative, identified 18 companies 
to be benchmarked on this programme.

KwaZulu-Natal Tooling Initiative Programme -
Human capital remains one of the fundamental building 
blocks of economic competitiveness. The continued 
development of human capital is, therefore, of strategic 
importance to KwaZulu-Natal-based Industry. 

The tool-making industry provides a unique opportunity 
for the continued sustainable development of human 

capital on an expanded skills front. In order to assess and 
ensure that the KwaZulu-Natal tooling sector keeps pace 
with global trends and by engaging with KwaZulu-Natal 
Tooling Initiative partners regarding training, the University 
of Minnesota – a relationship established by Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal and the Department of Trade 
and Industry – has become crucial for the industry to 
maintain key output in terms of skills development and 
industry competitiveness.

The development of globally competitive tools, moulds 
and dies requires a diverse skills value chain involving 
highly-qualified personnel, as well as a range of lower-
level competencies. 

The automotive sector is also regarded as a priority 
sector for KwaZulu-Natal. Toyota SA has committed to 
60% of local procurement for upcoming models to be 
produced in Durban. This will affect both the manufacture 
of components and associated tooling. This is also in 
line with the Automotive Investment Scheme within the 
IPAP2. 

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal was set to continue 
working closely with the KwaZulu-Natal Tooling
Initiative in rolling-out its identified programmes within the 
province.

Enforcement of Broad-Based Black Economic 
Empowerment Compliance to Companies - 
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s Business 
Retention Unit set about enforcing the Broad-Based 
Black Economic Empowerment compliance regarding 
both Foreign Direct Investment, as well as domestic 
investment. Two major events were conducted during the 
2010/11 financial year. These included:
• A Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment
 (B-BBEE) workshop, held in March 2011. The 

workshop centred on providing an overview of the 
provincial Black Economic Strategy, details about the 
B-BBEE verification process and available incentives 
for B-BBEE-compliant enterprises; 

• A Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE) Round Table 
Dialogue Seminar, which was also held in March 2011. 
The purpose of the Seminar was to:

 • Recognise and acknowledge companies 
  which play a significant role in the 
  economy of KwaZulu-Natal; 
 • Document existing and future threats and   

 opportunities in the JSE market;
 • Create and monitor a database 
  of KwaZulu-Natal-based JSE-listed 
  companies;
 • Acquire and capture the value of each    
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	 company;
	 •	 Include	companies	facing	challenges	in		 	 	

	 the	BRU	investment	project	pipeline;	and
	 •	 Facilitate	access	to	capital.

Trade	&	Investment	KwaZulu-Natal	continued	its	active	
support	for	B-BBEE	with	the	targeted	promotion	of	
economic	transformation,	enabling	the	meaningful	
participation	of	Black	people	in	the	mainstream	economy	
and	alerting	Black-owned	companies	to	the	negativity	
associated	with	fronting,	window-dressing,	benefit	
diversion	and	opportunistic	intermediaries.

Ladysmith Delegation Visits 
Hattiesburg, USA -
Trade	&	Investment	KwaZulu-Natal	facilitated	the	twinning	
of	a	business	relationship	between	Ladysmith	and	
Hattiesburg,	Mississippi.	The	nine-member	delegation,	
led	by	the	Mayor,	Ms	Dudu	Mazibuko,	included	business-

owners	from	a	number	of	economic	sectors.	The	group	
was	welcomed	and	accompanied	by	the	Hattiesburg	
Mayor,	Mr	Johnny	DuPree,	who	launched	the	visit	with	a	
trip	to	the	University	of	Southern	Mississippi	and	William	
Carey	University.	

The	visit	was	intended	to	promote	a	business,	culture	and	
social	exchange	between	Ladysmith	and	Hattiesburg.	

The	collaboration	included	economic	development	
in	trade	and	investment,	sport	and	wellness	centres,	
tourism	and	cultural	promotion	and	the	possible	
transfer	and	exchange	of	skills	and	development	of	
Government	officials.	

Mr	DuPree	planned	to	make	the	relationship	between	
Ladysmith	and	Hattiesburg	a	true	exchange,	with	a	USA	
delegation	set	to	visit	Ladysmith	going	forward.

7.1 Business Retention and Policy Advocacy (continued)



Tr
ad

e 
&

 In
ve

st
m

en
t 

K
w

aZ
ul

u-
N

at
al

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 
20

10
/1

1

1131



32

Critically, the total investment is Foreign Direct Investment, 
given that the R340,8 million for Umgeni Water was 
raised through the European Investment Bank.

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal provided a 
professional facilitation service between Umgeni Water 
and the European Investment Bank, which resulted in 
the provision of funding for a bulk water infrastructure 
upgrade programme within the eThekwini Municipality. 
The organisation played an important partnership 
packaging and facilitation role, ensuring the realisation of 
linkages with the promoters of the Bizworks project, also 
located within the eThekwini municipal area.      

Further partnership packaging and linkage facilitation saw 
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal secure a first-phase 
investment of R220 million by India-based Motherson 
Sumi. 

The organisation was also responsible for the 
identification of suitable sites and for linking the project 
promoter with the KwaZulu-Natal Tooling Initiative, which 
will result in Motherson Sumi establishing a tooling centre 
within its premises. Motherson Sumi committed a further 
R80 million for phase two of the project, with 60 more 
jobs adding to the potential 90 employment opportunities 
resulting from the phase one development. The company 

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal is responsible
for the promotion of KwaZulu-Natal, both
domestically and internationally, as a leading
business investment destination.

Slow global economic recovery in 2010/11 and an 
increasingly competitive world operating environment 
made the organisation’s task in this regard all the more 
difficult, offset – to a degree – by the stimulation of 
awareness and interest created as a consequence of the 
2010 FIFA World Cup played in South Africa and featuring 
KwaZulu-Natal.

In spite of the difficult prevailing economic conditions, 
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal performed particularly 
well during the review period, exceeding both its 
investment and employment creation targets.

7.2.1  Committed Projects

A key measurement of Trade & Investment KwaZulu-
Natal’s success is the level of investment it attracts to 
KwaZulu-Natal. In addition and as a result of high levels 
of unemployment in the province, job creation, too, has 

become a focal point of interest to Government. The 
recently launched New Growth Path and the IPAP2
both stress the need for the intensive focus on sectors 
which have the potential to grow the economy and deliver 
significantly in terms of employment creation.

Under difficult economic circumstances, Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal successfully facilitated the 
commitment of four major projects in KwaZulu-Natal 
worth in excess of R1,1 billion, against a financial target 
of R750 million in the 2010/11 financial year. 

These committed investments project the potential 
creation of an additional 1 240 new employment 
opportunities for the province, against a target of 1 000 
jobs.

The investments are set to become operational in the 
off-shoring, infrastructure development, automotive and 
transport, and aviation sectors and are testimony to Trade 
& Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s commitment to the task at 
hand, the dependability of its business relationships with 
its strategic partners and the careful selection of projects 
in the investment pipeline.

7.2 Investment Promotion

Project Value Potential Employment Creation

Umgeni Water R340,8 million 700 jobs

Bizworks R100,0 million   90 jobs

Motherson Sumi R300,0 million 150 jobs

Velvet Sky R400,0 million 300 jobs

The following projects were committed during the 2010/11 financial year:
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secured a contract with Toyota SA to supply components 
for the next generation Corolla and Hilux vehicles to be 
launched in 2013.   

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s assistance with 
regard to the identification of investors and linking the 
project promoter with relevant institutions for funding and 
incentives, resulted in the commitment of Velvet Sky, a 
Durban-based low-cost air carrier. 

7.2.2  Trade and Investment Missions

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal is actively involved 
in the facilitation and, in some instances, participation 
in inbound and outbound trade missions as an effective 
means of promoting KwaZulu-Natal as an ideal 
investment destination and leader in export
trade opportunities.

Inbound Missions
The organisation recognises the need to vigorously 
showcase KwaZulu-Natal, its attributes and competitive 
advantages, together with existing business opportunities 

for both investment and trade to a range of visiting 
delegations and company representatives, prospective 
investors and organisations representing potential 
investors.

Inbound missions to KwaZulu-Natal are ideal for 
business-to-business meetings, meetings between local 
and foreign investors, conducting site visits and revealing 
the quality of the province’s infrastructure. 

The organisation hosted no fewer than 29 inbound 
missions, against a target for the review period of 20 
missions. 

The high number of missions to KwaZulu-Natal 
in 2010/11 was indicative of the heightened and 
widespread awareness around the world of KwaZulu-
Natal as an investment destination and the constantly 
improving level of interest by potential investors
willing to consider this province as a preferred
investment destination.

Date Delegation From Key Outcomes

6 May 2010 Osho Cement Group, from India. TIKZN was requested by Osho SA Cement to facilitate 
its cement interest in the Richards Bay Industrial 
Development Zone. The group intends setting up a 
cement grinding plant at the Industrial Development 
Zone, generating 600 000 tons per annum.

17 – 18 June 2010 Polish Embassy in South Africa. Mr Ryszard Nowosielski and Mr Slawomir Sonarski, of 
the Polish Embassy in South Africa, visited the offices 
of Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal to promote trade 
relations with Polish companies active in, mainly, the 
manufacturing sector. The delegation also met with the 
eLan Group, Tongaat-Hulett, Life Lab and IJ Component 
Manufacturers.

18 – 23 July 2010 Jaypee Group, from India
(Cement Plant).

Three delegates visited KwaZulu-Natal with a view to 
scoping Richards Bay as a location for the group’s 
expansion outside India following a pre-feasibility study 
on the best location in Africa. 

27 July – 6 August 
2010

Italian delegation, from Italy. The delegation’s aim was to meet with manufacturers of 
children’s clothing, age-group 0 to 24 months.

Inbound missions to KwaZulu-Natal during the 2010/11 financial year included the following:

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  USA – United States of America  



34

Date Delegation From Key Outcomes

30 August 2010 Chinese Waste Management 
Group Zhongde, from China.

The company, which focuses on large waste-to-energy 
plants (involved in more than 100 world-wide) and 
finance, was interested in partnering with RE (Newcastle) 
and EWS (eThekwini) and vice versa.  

13 – 15 
September 2010

Music City by Toney Watkins
Company, from the USA.

The delegation’s aim was to identify possible 8 000 
hectare sites to be developed over a 15-year period. The 
project was estimated to be worth in excess of
R10 billion. The group visited sites owned by Tongaat-
Hulett and the Ingonyama Trust Board.

18 – 19 October 
2010

Benteler Automotive, from 
Germany. 

An automotive component manufacturer which intends 
setting-up a 50 000 square metre plant to produce 
seals for Toyota originally came into contact with TIKZN 
through a Blue Valley event and follow-up meeting held 
with CFO, Mr Phillip Allgeier. Project leader, Mr Ralph 
Streitberger, visited Durban with an international team 
to conduct site visits and meet with TIKZN to discuss 
incentives, assistance and the like. If committed, the 
project will yield a R300 million investment.

6 December 2010 Thanda International and 
Milwaukee delegation, from the 
USA. 

The company possesses new housing technology 
and was planning to set-up a manufacturing facility 
in KwaZulu-Natal. Meetings were arranged with the 
Department of Trade and Industry regarding incentives 
and with the uMhlathuze Municipality regarding 
a business relationship between Milwaukee and 
uMhlathuze.

08 – 10 December 
2010

EU Trade Commissioners, from 
Europe.

This visit comprised a multi-sectoral mission designed to 
promote KwaZulu-Natal to EU trade commissioners as 
an investment-friendly destination with multi-disciplinary 
capabilities in almost all sectors.

2 – 4 February 
2011

Trade and Investment Queensland, 
from Australia. 

The delegation visited KwaZulu-Natal to further develop 
relations between Queensland and KwaZulu-Natal.

23 March 2011 UKTI Green Construction 
delegation, from the United 
Kingdom. 

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal hosted a business 
workshop for 10 delegates involving the EU and Transnet 
at the Innovation Hub in Pretoria.

•  EU – European Union  •  CFO – Chief Financial Officer  •  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  
•  USA – United States of America  •  RE – Return on Environment  •  EWS –  Environmental Waste Solutions

7.2 Investment Promotion (continued)
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 Date Delegation To Key Outcomes

11 – 13 April 2010 Mozambique. TIKZN participated in a Bio-Energy Conference, one in a series 
of conferences conducted around the world on the topic of 
bio-energy: crops for fuel. These conferences bring together 
industry-players, financiers, Government, researchers and other 
role-players to discuss issues facing the sector.

19 – 26 June 2010 Poland. TIKZN took local company, IJ components, to meet with 
Ster in Poland in an effort to facilitate the diversification of the 
company’s business by venturing into bus seat manufacturing. 
Two other meetings were arranged by the Polish Embassy, 
including Frenoplast, specialising in rail brake pads, and Solaris, 
which makes buses. 

July 2010 Shanghai Expo 2010. TIKZN participated in the Shanghai Expo 2010. Investment 
business meetings were held with potential investors from 
different industries, including the foundry industry, grinding 
media operations and the automotive industry, inclusive of Geely 
Holding Motors. A number of KwaZulu-Natal-based companies 
were also assisted to participate in this expo.

19 – 21 August 
2010

Mauritius. A mission was undertaken to Mauritius with Actisat project 
promoter to negotiate a possible partnership regarding industrial 
gases with Gaz Carbonique, a Mauritius-based company. A 
Joint Venture was agreed in principle.

25 September - 2 
October 2010

Romania. A fact-finding mission was undertaken to establish potential 
synergies between the KwaZulu-Natal’s port cities and ports 
in Romania. Other opportunities from a trade and investment 
perspective were also explored.
Opportunities in the maritime sector, ship-building and repairs 
and logistics hubs were identified as potential prospects for 
Joint Ventures or collaboration. Agri-business infrastructure 
development and manufacturing opportunities exist in mobile 
industrial pumps and motors for white goods.

Outbound Missions

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s direct involvement 
in outbound missions is regarded as a pro-active step 
towards promoting this province and its numerous 
competitive advantages to target specific markets, 
prospective investors or business organisations abroad, 
or as a stepping-stone to participation in investment 
conferences, with the aim of generating useful business 
leads.

Involvement in such outbound missions affords the 
organisation the opportunity to raise awareness about 
KwaZulu-Natal on the international stage, while

presenting the province’s value proposition, explaining 
just why KwaZulu-Natal is a better prospect than 
competing destinations.

There is also a strong link between outbound and 
inbound missions because the organisation uses every 
opportunity on outbound missions to extend invitations 
to targeted investors to visit KwaZulu-Natal to experience 
the destination first-hand.

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s involvement in 
outbound missions from KwaZulu-Natal during the 
2010/11 financial year included the following:

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal
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 Date Delegation To Key Outcomes

14 – 23 October 
2010

USA (Ladysmith and Hattiesburg 
Twinning). 

A mission led by Her Worship, the Mayor of Ladysmith, 
Cllr DCP Mazibuko, accompanied by five business 
people, saw TIKZN facilitate the twinning between the 
city of Hattiesburg and Ladysmith. A Memorandum of 
Agreement was signed between the two localities.

17 November 
2010

Italy (Turin.) Representatives of Rolfo/Kushite Project met in Turin, 
Italy, in order that both parties sign a partnership 
agreement and jointly invest in the manufacturing and 
production of a car-carrier facility in South Africa, possibly 
located in KwaZulu-Natal. A Memorandum of Agreement 
was signed and the new company called Rolfo South 
Africa.

5 – 19 November 
2010

USA – American Film Mart and 
Maritime Dealer Conference and 
Expo.

TIKZN attended a conference dealing with the 
importance of having film incentives as a ‘draw-card’ for 
film-makers. Incentives in Louisiana and Mississippi were 
seen to be very attractive by comparison with South 
African film incentives. However, this country boasts 
other low-cost and non-financial competitive advantages 
which should be exploited in order to attract film-makers 
and investors.

6 – 12 February 
2011

Morocco – Sister Cities 
International. 

A training programme, arranged by Sister Cities 
International in Casablanca, dealt with the relationship 
between uMhlathuze and Milwaukee. The KwaDube 
Community project was approved for grant funding by 
Sister Cities International, amounting to US$115 000.

06 – 13 March 
2011

MIPIM in Cannes, France (Real 
Estate).

TIKZN participated in this conference, considered to be 
one of the biggest real estate conferences in the world. 
The focus was on hotels, business parks and mixed-
use development investments. A South African pavilion 
was in place at the event and some of the participating 
entities present at the conference included Old Mutual 
Properties, Liberty Properties, WESGRO, SAPOA and the 
City of Johannesburg. 

28 March – 02 
April 2011

India – International Trade and 
Investment Initiative.

The International Trade and Investment Initiative 
took place in Mumbai and New Delhi following the 
Presidential State Visit to India, which recommended 
efforts to increase trade between the two countries. 
Activities included mini exhibitions, business-to-business 
meetings and investment seminars. KwaZulu-Natal-
based companies within the targeted sectors of agri-
processing, metals and mining technology, automotive 
components, electro-technical and logistics participated.

•  MIPIM – Marché International des Professionnels d’Immobilier  •  WESGRO – Western Cape Investment and Trade Promotion Agency
•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  SAPOA – South African Property Owners Association  •  USA – United States of America  

7.2 Investment Promotion (continued)
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Date and Event Description

16 April 2010 
TIKZN, KwaZulu-Natal BPO Operational 
Planning Session, in collaboration with 
the dti.

The purpose of the session was to map a way forward for the 2010/11 
financial year, identifying challenges in the sector provincially and 
considering possible solutions and initiatives. 

30 April – 2 May 2010
Durban International Boat and Lifestyle 
Show. 

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal co-sponsored the Durban 
International Boat & Lifestyle Show. The organisation has shown active 
support for this event for the past several years. The organisation’s 
Marquee ensured tremendous TIKZN visibility with respect to the 
maritime industry and afforded the opportunity to encourage boat- 
builders to manufacture boats in KwaZulu-Natal.

8 - 11 May 2010
Tourism Indaba 2010.

The event was attended by more than 2 500 exhibitors and 500 local 
and international media representatives. TIKZN occupied a 27 square 
metre stand to promote KwaZulu-Natal investment opportunities. A total 
of 10 project promoters were accommodated on the stand to market 
their products and to promote their projects.

17 May 2010
ADEPT Airmotive (Pty) Ltd Launch.

Adept is to manufacture and commercialise new environmentally-friendly 
airplane engines and requested TIKZN to co-fund some phases of the 
project.

22 May 2010
Gauteng office – Stakeholder breakfast 
event.

The breakfast was held to interact with businesses considering 
expansions into KwaZulu-Natal or already doing business and 
expanding. An overview of available opportunities was also provided.

7.2.4  Gauteng Office Activities

The year 2011 marks the third year of operation of 
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s Gauteng Office in 
Groenkloof, Pretoria. 

The staff complement of this office was expanded during 
the 2010/2011 financial year to include a Trade and 
Investment Officer.

The primary functions of the Gauteng Office constitute 
critical business lead generation for trade and investment, 
trade promotion, facilitation, stakeholder management, 
the arrangement of events for the promotion of 
destination marketing and the implementation of
strategic initiatives.

Business Achievements
In terms of these functions, the office registered the 
following achievements during the 2010/11 financial year:
• Projects – Two projects were committed as a result 

of the facilitation efforts of the office, including 
the funding of a multi-million rand bulk water 
infrastructure upgrading programme for the province 
and the establishment of an automotive component 
manufacturing facility;

• Stakeholder management – The  office was requested 
to present Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s 
services and to showcase KwaZulu-Natal as a premier 
investment destination at no fewer than 58 stakeholder 
activities during the review period;

• Events – The office hosted 20 events to showcase 
KwaZulu-Natal as an investment and trade destination;

7.2.3  Events

An important part of Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s 
role is the facilitation of appropriate business-based 
events for the benefit of prospective investors and 
existing traders.

Such events are utilised to effectively showcase the 

province, its many attributes and existing business 
opportunities.

Events facilitated by and/or participated in by Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal during the 2010/11 financial 
year included the following: 

•  BPO – Business Process Outsourcing  •  dti – department of trade and industry  •  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal
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• Inbound delegations hosted – A total of 17 large-
scale delegations were hosted from several countries, 
including Iran, India and Spain, interested in a number 
of economic sectors, such as agri-processing, 
logistics, manufacturing and the like;

• Inbound delegations referred to KwaZulu-Natal and 
programme development assistance – The office 
assisted with the programme development for 24 
delegations which visited KwaZulu-Natal from various 
parts of the world, with an interest in a number of 
different economic sectors; and

• Outbound missions undertaken – In line with the 
office’s promotion and lead generation efforts, three 
outbound missions were undertaken to Romania 
(scoping of opportunities and ports for increased 
co-operation with the Port of Durban), Korea (lead 
generation and project follow-up in the fields of 
chemicals and plastics and infrastructure development) 
and Australia (mining).

Leads Generated
During the 2010/11 financial year the organisation’s 
Gauteng Office generated business leads to the value of 

R19,3 billion with employment creation potential of
21 969 new jobs. 

A total of 67 qualified leads were developed and 18 leads 
were successfully handed over for inclusion in the project 
pipeline. 

Some 24 companies were referred to KwaZulu-Natal, 
while the office hosted 17 inward missions and the 
representatives of 11 international companies in Gauteng.

Stakeholder Management
Since its establishment in Gauteng three years ago, 
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s representative office 
has developed strong stakeholder relationships with a 
number of organisations. This resulted in invitations to 
deliver presentations at 58 stakeholder events and the 
arrangement of 20 focused large-scale events.

In addition, extensive databases were developed and 
regular interactions conducted with various trade offices, 
chambers, funders, industry associations, government 
departments and private sector role-players.

Stakeholder Activity

Mpofana Local Municipality. A project meeting was held with the Mpofana Municipality’s LED 
Manager and LED Co-ordinator respectively. Lists of projects contained 
in the municipality’s IDP were presented to TIKZN, but not packaged. 
Five of these projects were identified as suitable for facilitation and the 
municipality was requested to package these projects so as to refer to 
respective TIKZN project managers before engaging relevant financial 
institutions for funding.

Ugu Municipality. TIKZN co-ordinated meetings between Ufasimba Funds and Blythedale 
Coastal Resort, Bellagio Square, Dube TradePort (Dube City) and 
Ndwedwe Town Development. Ufasimba was to raise funds from the 
USA. Presentations took place at the Riverside Hotel, Durban.

uMgungundlovu District Municipality TIKZN partnered with uMgungundlovu District Municipality to commission 
the profiling of eight Local Municipalities under the auspices of the 
uMgungundlovu Municipality. Draft Terms of Reference were developed 
and the municipality approved said draft. The process of advertising was 
to commence during the fourth quarter. Both parties were to contribute 
towards funding the initiative.

7.2 Investment Promotion (continued)

•  LED – Local Economic Development  •  IDP - Integrated Development Plan
•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  USA – United States of America

Stakeholder Activities
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Stakeholder Activity

Zululand District Municipality 
Initiatives.

•  Commercial Flights – The district, in partnership with Federal Air, investigated   
    flights connecting Pietermaritzburg and Ulundi. A prefeasibility study indicated  
    that in excess of 600 Government vehicles travel between the two 
    destinations every month;
•  Hydroponic Farming – Dr Zungu was working with the Phongolo Local 
    Municipality to identify a suitable site for a greenhouse project; and
•  District Profiling – A list of companies to be invited for the Zululand District 
    Municipality profiling were delivered to the municipality to ensure the inclusion 
    of other potential service providers or organisations wishing to comment on 
    the closed tender approach.

The following site visits were conducted:
•  Port Durnford, with the Mkhwanazi Tribal Authority: 18 March 2011;
•  Komkhulu Lodge (Ophathe), Camp and Tent in Ladysmith: 15 March 2011;
•  Automechanika South Africa; and
•  An automotive workshop, hosted by the Automotive Industry Development 
   Centre (AIDC) at Nasrec, Johannesburg: 09 – 11 March 2011.
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7.3 Export Development and Promotion

The organisation offers KwaZulu-Natal-based enterprises 
a range of market development and capacity-building 
programmes designed to empower both established and 
emerging business owners, enabling them to become 
increasingly competent and capable of competing 
globally for export markets.

KwaZulu-Natal has enjoyed moderate annual growth in 
exports during the past decade and has progressively 
diversified its exports base. Export growth has occurred 
against a backdrop of limited investment in tradable 
goods production capacity. 

Businesses in KwaZulu-Natal tend to utilise internally-
generated savings to fund capital investment rather 
than using external borrowings to finance the additional 
capacity to generate exports.

The European Union, Eastern Asia and the SADC region 
remain major destinations for KwaZulu-Natal exports, 
although the past 10 years has seen KwaZulu-Natal 
exports to other Asian regions and, importantly, African 
regions such as West, North and East Africa grow 
considerably.

Exports to African countries are typically secondary or 
tertiary in nature and are, thus, more desirable as they are 
likely to have been beneficiated within the province.

The global recession of 2008 and 2009 slowed economic 
growth in both developed and emerging markets around 
the world, with exports and associated foreign direct 
investment being significantly reduced. South Africa’s 
export performance was negatively impacted amidst 
slowing global demand. 

The Governments of a number of countries responded by 
creating economic stimulus packages. Export strategies 
are one of many approaches used to reduce the impact 
of world recession on local economies. The involvement 
of Governments in designing export promotion 
programmes to support specific domestic sectors led to 

export success in the Asian economies.

With regard to the South African environment, the 
2010/11 financial year saw this country being formally 
invited by the Chinese President, Hu Jintao, to join the 
BRIC (Brazil, Russia, India and China) block of countries. 

According to the International Monetary Fund, certain 
investors make asset allocations based on the BRIC 
classification and those currently making up this grouping 
have seen their global financial influence increase 
substantially in recent years; the result of reduced labour 
and production costs. Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal 
set about endeavouring to position KwaZulu-Natal to take 
full advantage of South Africa’s BRICS membership so as 
to realise an increased share of exports.

During the review period, the organisation also planned 
and facilitated missions and exhibitions, while also 
implementing training programmes for the benefit of 
business owners in KwaZulu-Natal. 

7.3.1  Market Development

Successful Markets
Traders assisted by way of Trade & Investment KwaZulu-
Natal’s market development programmes during the 
2010/11 financial year reported having established new 
markets for their products.

The organisation successfully facilitated the securing of 
58 new markets for individual KwaZulu-Natal companies 
during the period under review, against a target of 32 
for the financial year. These were new markets and were 
identified collectively with the affected companies. 

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal then assisted in 
facilitating access to these markets on behalf of the 
business enterprises through its linkages with the 
Department of Trade and Investment’s Foreign Economic 
Representatives, distributors in the respective markets 
and other relationships with strategic partners.

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s Export Development and Promotion 
Department is responsible for assisting in the growth and development of the 
province’s existing and emergent traders.
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Company Targeted Markets Products
Trade & Investment
KwaZulu-Natal Facilitation

Mzansi Mobile Fridges Zimbabwe Mobile fridges TIKZN facilitated business linkages with 
Zimbabwean companies.

Mzansi Mobile Fridges Botswana Cold store-room 
facility

The company was assisted through 
TIKZN’s Black Economic Empowerment 
scheme.
The company received a request for 
a quotation from the Department of 
Agriculture in Botswana for building and 
setting-up a country cold store-room 
facility in Gaborone.
The company responded with a quotation 
in line with required specifications and sent 
products, per order to a retailer. 

Asian Auto Spares Kenya Automotive parts TIKZN assisted with linking a buyer from 
Kenya with the company, which resulted in 
successful orders.

Spar Group 
Umzimkhulu

Angola Food chain retail 
shop 

TIKZN assisted the company to enter the 
Angolan market through linkages and 
company meetings.

Market initiation for individual KwaZulu-Natal-based companies

32

58
60

40

20

0

Annual Target 32 Actual 58

Number of Successfully Initiated Markets for Individual Companies

The organisation’s new market facilitation activities during the 2010/11 financial year are shown in the
table below:
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Company Targeted Markets Products
Trade & Investment
KwaZulu-Natal Facilitation

J Moccasin Shoes Botswana Shoe manufacturer TIKZN assisted the company through 
TIKZN’s Black Economic Empowerment 
scheme to attend an exhibition and 
arranged and co-ordinated meetings with 
Botswana-based retailers.

J Moccasin Shoes Namibia Shoe manufacturer A retail store buyer visited the BEDIA 
Exhibition and noticed the shoes. Orders 
were placed for the shoes by a retail shop 
based in Namibia as a result.

J Moccasin Shoes Zambia Shoe manufacturer A quotation was forwarded to an 
interested retail buyer.

Siyasebenza Democratic Republic 
of Congo

Workman’s 
protective wear 

TIKZN facilitated an order placed at the 
BEDIA Exhibition by a company based in 
the Democratic Republic of Congo.

Nestle Zimbabwe Bulk coffee An enquiry was received through TIKZN’s 
Gauteng Office, resulting in Nestle being 
contacted for a quotation and an indication of 
interest to supply bulk coffee. An order was 
successfully provided to the interested buyer.

Ciro Zimbabwe Bulk coffee An enquiry was received through TIKZN’s 
Gauteng Office, resulting in Ciro being 
contacted for a quotation and an indication 
of interest to supply bulk coffee. A quotation 
was provided to the interested buyer.

Soar Commodities Brazil Copper cathodes TIKZN facilitation resulted in the securing 
of a buyer in Brazil for the client.

Sluvin Designs Germany Clothing 
manufacturer

The company was assisted with contacts 
for retail agents, boutiques and fashion 
consultants. 

African Art Centre (five 
Artists) Ntombi Mwimule

Santa Fe Ceramic pots, 
woven baskets, 
embroidered 
textiles, telephone 
wire baskets and 
Zulu beer pots

A report was submitted by the African 
Art Centre for actual sales and orders 
placed during the show, which indicated 
a 98% success rate for the participating 
companies.

Jabulile Nala Santa Fe Ceramic pots Sales and orders were forwarded to the 
company through the African Art Centre.

Alfred Ntuli Santa Fe Telephone wire pots Sales and orders were forwarded to the 
company through the African Art Centre.

Eslina Santa Fe Telephone wire 
baskets

Sales and orders were forwarded to the 
company through the African Art Centre.

Hazel Ndlovu Santa Fe Embroidered 
textiles, bags, 
wall hangings and 
cushion covers

Sales and orders were forwarded to the 
company through the African Art Centre.

•  BEDIA - Botswana Export Development and Investment Authority

7.3 Export Development and Promotion (continued)
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Company Targeted Markets Products
Trade & Investment
KwaZulu-Natal Facilitation

Inhep Madagascar Electronic Alarm 
devices

Inhep was to supply a security company in 
Madagascar with electronic alarm devices.

Percy Leather Gauteng Leather Goods A contact was established through 
SAITEX. Percy Leather went on to supply 
a leather boutique in Sandton. 

Switched on Trade Colombia High-quality table-
ware and custom 
cutlery

TIKZN assisted the company to obtain an 
exporter code, arranging and organising 
the transportation of goods. TIKZN 
assisted the company through customs 
procedures and the correct classification 
of goods.

Rootz Creations Mauritius Custom-designed 
African gifts 
collection and 
corporate gifts 
collection

A business relationship was established 
through attending a show in 
Johannesburg, resulting in the first order 
being sent to the client during the year.

Durban School of 
Fashion & Design

USA African sandals Samples were requested and forwarded 
to a client in the USA. An order was later 
confirmed to supply a retail shop.

Jabulani Jewellery cc Germany,
Greece,
France,
Switzerland and
Italy

Zulu beadwork The company was assisted through 
the Department of Trade and Industry 
to participate in Ambiente in Frankfurt, 
Germany. 

Sales totaled R50 000 (Ambiente) with 
confirmed orders amounting to R220 000.

Umcebo Trust Germany Beaded Chandeliers 
Table lamps, 
standing and 
reading lamps
Sconces and other 
beadwork

The company was assisted through 
the Department of Trade and Industry 
to participate in Ambiente in Frankfurt, 
Germany. 

Sales totaled R12 200 (Ambiente) with
confirmed orders amounting to R30 000.

Usisi Designs Germany,
The United Kingdom,
Canada,
France, 
Italy, and
Hungary 

Bracelets,
Cushions,
soft furnishings,
handbags,
lights and 
necklaces

The company was assisted through 
the Department of Trade and Industry 
to participate in Ambiente in Frankfurt, 
Germany. 

Eight confirmed orders were processed 
amounting to R20 000 with a further 10 
possible orders valued at R100 000.

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  USA – United States of America  •  SAITEX – South African International Trade Exhibition
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Company Targeted Markets Products
Trade & Investment
KwaZulu-Natal Facilitation

Jabulani Jewellery cc Germany,                    
USA ,                      
Sweden ,                    
the United Kingdom,          
Austria and                       
Finland, as well as 
Cape Town and 
Johannesburg in 
South Africa 

 Jewellery Total sales made during the event 
amounted to R18 000.

Seven confirmed orders were received 
during the event, valued at R59 543.90.

Possible further orders were valued at
R150 000.

Switched on Trade Germany,
Cape Town,
Switzerland,
USA
and others 

Beaded jewellery, 
various other 
beaded products 
and corporate gift 
products

Total sales amounting to R10 000 were 
recorded.

Three confirmed orders were received, 
valued at R15 000.
Five possible orders were valued at 
R20 000.

The German company was to meet with 
the company for orders.

Rootz Creations USA,  
Namibia, 
Germany,
Australia, 
the United Kingdom 
and South Africa 

Beaded jewellery, 
various other 
beaded products 
and corporate gift 
products

Total sales valued at R6 500 were 
recorded during the event.

Four confirmed orders were valued at 
R12 300.
Six possible orders were valued at 
between R20 000 and R50 000.

A United Kingdom-based buyer for various 
chain stores was to meet the company in 
Durban.

GlenArt Woolworths and Pick 
‘n Pay

Art effects and 
corporate gifts

Given the nature of GlenArt’s product, the 
company did not expect to achieve any 
direct sales. The quality of enquiries was, 
however, very good. 

Conservatively GlenArt expected to 
achieve an additional R300 000 in 
turnover, but this could have been 
doubled.

Estimate orders were valued at between 
R300 000 and R600 000.

Flowcrete SA Kenya Construction As a result of TIKZN’s ‘Doing Business in 
Kenya’ initiative, Flowcrete SA is opening 
up a market in Kenya and has gone into 
business with a Kenyan partner, CBK 
Limited.

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal   •  USA – United States of America

7.3 Export Development and Promotion (continued)
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•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal

Company Targeted Markets Products
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-
Natal Facilitation

Somta Tools Zimbabwe Tooling and 
machinery

Facilitation resulted in business being 
concluded valued at some R3 million.

Silver Solutions 841 cc Germany Bar snacks and 
various spices

TIKZN facilitated inward buyers from 
Germany and through a match-making 
process, developed linkages for two 
companies.

Fry Foods Germany Instant vegetarian 
meals

Through a screening process, potential 
partners were identified for the client and 
linked with a German buyer.

Chemsol Gauteng Adhesives, cleaning 
chemicals and 
plastic bottles

TIKZN facilitated meetings between 
companies in Gauteng, resulting in the 
client being appointed to supply Bidvest 
with cleaning chemicals and adhesives.

Heartlands Kenya Cereal products Through a TIKZN exhibition and linkages 
in Kenya following its market development 
programmes, the client was introduced to 
a company which resulted in a successful 
contract for the client’s products.

7.3.2  KwaZulu-Natal 
Export Strategy

The Provincial Department of Economic Development 
and Tourism, together with Trade & Investment KwaZulu-
Natal developed the KwaZulu-Natal Export Strategy and 
Policy during the review period.

The intention was to detail strategies identified for 
the furtherance of export promotion and assistance 
within KwaZulu-Natal and, ultimately, further export-led 
economic growth in the province.

The objectives behind the export strategy include:
• Targeting businesses with latent or under-realised 

export potential; 
• Targeting, where possible, exports that have been 

beneficiated within the province; 
• Co-ordinating export promotion agency organisational 

issues; 
• Setting sector and market priorities; 
• Raising awareness amongst exporters and in markets 

for exports; 
• Successfully identifying high-potential export 

opportunities; 
• Establishing a mechanism for dialogue between 

exporters, Government and other stakeholders; and 
• Ensuring the closing and sustainability of export deals. 

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal
in Angola
Following linkages created as a result, initially, of a 
state visit to Angola by the South African President, Mr 
Jacob Zuma, and a later mission, led by the Premier 
of KwaZulu-Natal, Dr Zweli Mkhize – during which a 
partnership between KwaZulu-Natal and Lobido Province 
was signed – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal was 
tasked to give consideration to the Angola market from 
an economic development perspective.

The organisation assessed the possibility of establishing 
representation in Angola and explored opportunities 
through which KwaZulu-Natal-based businesses could 
gain access to the Angolan market by way of established 
linkages. Angola has emerged as a significant player in 
regional trade, investment, infrastructure development 
and general economic growth in Africa.

A surge in Gross Domestic Product levels, rapidly 
growing investments in mining, oil and gas, agri-industrial 
enterprises, ICT, tourism and commercial property 
provided the platform for a booming market in recent 
years, attractive to KwaZulu-Natal-based producers 
of many goods and services. Investment demand 
has also resulted in the need for products and skills 
requirements in Angola, creating an environment worthy 
of consideration by local KwaZulu-Natal enterprises.
Angola is South Africa’s fourth largest export destination 
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in Africa – and the largest on the west coast – with the 
value of exports to that country totaling more than R5,5 
billion in 2009. KwaZulu-Natal’s primary exports to Angola 
include vehicles (parts and accessories), refined sugar, 
motor vehicles (transport of goods), matches, uncoated 
paper and paperboard, indentured ethyl alcohol, food and 
beverages and consumables.

During the review period, Trade & Investment KwaZulu-
Natal embarked on a business mission to Angola, with 
the aim of developing close linkages with the Angolan 
business community, so as to develop a foundation upon 
which KwaZulu-Natal companies could participate in 
the Angolan market. A number of trade exhibitions were 
identified through which the organisation will facilitate 
local company participation.

Trade in Africa
Numerous local companies requested Trade & Investment 
KwaZuIu-Natal’s assistance in doing business with African 
countries, including Uganda, the Democratic Republic of 
Congo, Zimbabwe, Nigeria and Tanzania.

The organisation endeavoured, through a series of 
seminars in Durban, Pietermaritzburg and Richards 
Bay to expose opportunities for doing business in such 
countries to as wide an audience as possible. 

Successes achieved in this regard included Edison 
Power, which was awarded a contract in Zambia to install 
electrification infrastructure within the retail sector. 

The company intended opening a branch office in 
Lusaka, Zambia, and requested Trade & Investment 
KwaZulu-Natal to assist in their endeavours to enter the 
market through additional market intelligence and through 
the organisation’s existing network of linkages.

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal also facilitated an 
outbound buying mission for a local company, Inhep, to 
Egypt in order to identify potential new distributors of the 
electronic devices the company produces in Durban. The 
company reported positive leads, developed to the point 
of, in some instances, providing ordered samples. Areas 
assessed included the retail, distribution, construction, 
property development and Tourism sectors.

Arts and Crafts
With the Department of Trade and Industry having 
brought a number of international buyers from different 
parts of the world to attend a range of trade shows 
in South Africa, Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal, 
working in partnership with the Provincial Department of 

Economic Development and Tourism, set out to expose 
local companies to these shows, focusing on match-
making activities and the facilitation of meetings with 
international buyers.

Trade Point South Africa Durban Initiative
The eThekwini Municipality, the Provincial Department of 
Economic Development and Tourism, Trade & Investment 
KwaZulu-Natal, the Durban Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry and the Small Enterprise Development Agency 
(SEDA), are all stakeholders of Trade Point South Africa 
Durban. 

This is a trade facilitation centre, established to assist 
Small, Medium and Micro Enterprises access global 
markets. 

A Trade Point South Africa Durban feasibility study and 
business plan for rolling-out the Trade Point Programme 
to other local municipalities were compiled by consultants 
appointed by the Provincial Department of Economic 
Development and Tourism. 

During the review period, Trade Point South Africa Durban 
concluded the remodelling of its business plan and 
initiatives for the forthcoming three-year period. 

This plan was referred to the Department of Economic 
Development and Tourism, Trade & Investment KwaZulu-
Natal and the eThekwini Municipality for comment. 

Part of a recommendation, supported by all the 
stakeholder agencies, was for Trade Point South Africa 
Durban to be incorporated into SEDA eThekwini, with 
the existing Steering Committee continuing to provide 
guidance, but with the body reporting to the CEO of 
SEDA eThekwini.

Business Training
During the review period, Trade & Investment KwaZulu-
Natal, in collaboration with its stakeholders, conducted 
various training programmes for the benefit of Small, 
Medium and Micro Enterprise owners.

Training interventions included the following: 
• dti National Pavilion training;
• Kenya Investment Agency;
• Gauteng Office – Marketing officers 
 networking event;
• ICT Cluster breakfast event;
• Various training programmes with Nafbi; and
• A number of programmes conducted with Trade Point 

South Africa Durban.

7.3 Export Development and Promotion (continued)
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7.3.3  Company Market Access

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal assists local 
enterprises to showcase their products and services 
through a range of trade shows and exhibitions, so 
providing for widespread awareness creation regarding 

the calibre of KwaZulu-Natal’s business environment and 
role-players within the environment.

Events at which Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal was 
represented in 2010/11 are shown in the table below:

Date Exhibition

23 – 27 February 2011 Design Expo – Cape Town: Switched on Trade participated in a follow-up meeting 
with a company from Germany. Samples of different items which had been sent to 
various buyers and distributors were supplied and orders for different items were placed.

Rootz Creations also took part in a follow-up visit from a United Kingdom-based buyer 
who owns 300 shops across Europe. The visit followed the Design Indaba where a
R26 000 order was secured for delivery in early June.

24 – 27 February 2011 Decorex – SA Handmade Collection – Cape Town: Five KwaZulu-Natal companies 
which were assisted to apply to the Department of Trade and Industry to participate in 
Decorex in Cape Town were approved for participation. These companies included:
- Rootz Creations;
- GlenArt;
- Switched on Trade;
- Umcebo Trust; and
- Tusani Enterprises.

09 – 11  March 2011 Automechanika South Africa – Nasrec Johannesburg: The major benefit of the 
Automechanika Trade Fair was that it offered an ideal environment for networking 
and relationship-building, as well as being able to see and evaluate a wide-range of 
aftermarket parts, accessories and equipment. That was an opportunity for TIKZN to 
meet most of the OEMs which might have an interest in investing in the KwaZulu-Natal 
Logistics Park in the near future.

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  OEM – Original Equipment Manufacturer
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7.3.4  Capacity-building Programmes

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal strives to assist 
locally-based trading enterprises become export-ready 
and capable for competing with both their local and 
international counterparts.

During the 2010/11 financial year the organisation 
conducted two capacity-building programmes in 
partnership with Trade Point South Africa Durban. These 
programmes included such topics as export awareness, 
access to export finance, inco-terms and other 
international trade process requirements.

A number of additional interventions, where the services 
of Trade Point South Africa Durban were highlighted 
included capacity-building programmes conducted in 
partnership with Nafbi, the Durban Exporters Club and 
the Durban Automotive Cluster.

7.3.5  Exporter Code Registrations

Pleasingly, the 2010/11 financial year saw no fewer than 
10 companies successfully register with the South African 
Revenue Service as exporters.

7.3.6  International Partnerships

The Premier of KwaZulu-Natal, Dr Zweli Mkhize, together 
with the MEC for Economic Development and Tourism, 
Mr Mike Mabuyakhulu, led a political mission to Australia 
early in 2010. As a result of a number of engagements 
during this mission, a province-to-province partnership 
was signed between Queensland and KwaZulu-Natal.

This twinning was accompanied by a programme of 
action which saw a number of departments and provincial 
agencies being tasked to deliver as regards key areas 
identified as the basis of the relationship between the two 
provinces. Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal 

was requested by Mr Mabuyakhulu’s office to facilitate 
engagement with its sister agency responsible for the 
promotion of trade and investment in Queensland, Trade 
and Investment Queensland.

Following a series of engagements regarding major 
areas of collaboration, including deliverables, Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal and Trade and Investment 
Queensland agreed to sign a Letter of Co-operation 
(LOC), outlining partnership areas. In line with this, Trade 
and Investment Queensland extended an invitation to 
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal to participate in the 
Queensland Export Week, during which time the two 
organisations officially signed the LOC.

Trade and Investment Queensland also hosted a Doing 
Business with South Africa seminar, providing Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal an opportunity to present the 
main priority areas of the region, including investment 
opportunities. It was agreed that a number of actions 
would be developed during the co-operation arrangement 
period, ending 2015. Such actions included:
• Trade Mission exchanges;
• The sharing of information, allowing each of the parties 

the ability to enhance their understanding of the other;
• An exchange of appropriate business leaders, 

researchers and Government officials;
• Joint support for bilateral conferences, symposia and 

meetings;
• Joint promotion of industry and business opportunities, 

using existing networks; and
• Possible use of each of the partners’ office 

infrastructure in order to enhance partner market 
presence. This was of particular importance to the 
United Arab Emirates market.

It was agreed that Trade and Investment Queensland and 
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal would be responsible 
for co-ordinating and facilitating any resultant economic 
development-related activities linked to the provincial 
partnership agreement. 

7.3 Export Development and Promotion (continued)
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7.4 Knowledge Management

The intensely competitive inward investment environment, 
nationally and internationally, necessitates the careful 
and professional packaging of all business opportunities 
in KwaZulu-Natal and collation of information relevant 
to both investment and export trade activities in South 
Africa generally and KwaZulu-Natal specifically. Such 
information is imparted to prospective investors, traders 
and stakeholders in the local business community in the 
interests of assisting in the growth and development of 
the KwaZulu-Natal economy.    

7.4.1  Investment Climate Survey

To remain at the leading-edge of Foreign Direct 
Investment initiatives, it is critical to understand the 
prevailing investment climate.

Given this need, Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal 
conducted an Investment Climate Survey during the 
2010/11 financial year, following the devastating global 
meltdown, which plunged many of the world’s economies 
into recession in 2008 and 2009.

The study specifically sought to assess the investment 
climate in KwaZulu-Natal. The chief objectives were to:
• Review the state of the economy in KwaZulu-Natal; 
• Identify key constraints impacting on firms operating in 

designated regions;
• Evaluate the state of innovativeness of firms and how 

this related to competitiveness;
• Evaluate the primary challenges associated with the 

performance of firms; and
• Identify appropriate intervention strategies to alleviate 

obstacles and improve firm productivity, while assisting 
to ease doing business in the region. 

The three main constraints highlighted by industry 
participants related to labour regulations, regulations 
associated with starting a business and the shortage of 
labour skills. 

While KwaZulu-Natal has a number of weaknesses, such 
as the burden of HIV/AIDS and a low skills level, the 
province also boasts many areas of strength, inclusive 

of the province’s geographic position, its resource 
endowments and logistics infrastructure. 

Critical challenges facing KwaZulu-Natal include the need 
for employment creation, a more effective skills formation 
strategy and ways to alleviate the negative impact of 
HIV/AIDS. An additional challenge is to align national, 
provincial and local institutions and policy instruments in 
an effort to realise sustainable economic development in 
KwaZulu-Natal.

7.4.2  Investment Protocol

The final draft of an Investment Protocol was completed 
and approved by the Provincial Cabinet in December 
2010. 

The Investment Protocol was designed to: 
• Take stock of Government policy – both national and 

provincial – towards investment creation and poverty 
reduction; 

• Refer to important pieces of legislation that have a 
direct bearing on opening and conducting a business 
in KwaZulu-Natal; 

• Compile a list of investment incentives offered by the 
national, provincial and local spheres of Government in 
an effort to facilitate investment in the province; 

• List steps to be followed in order to establish a 
business; and 

• Provide assurances to the investor and business of the 
commitment of the Provincial Government of KwaZulu-
Natal by highlighting legal recourse should the investor 
and/or business not obtain promised levels of service.

The Investment Protocol is to be launched by the MEC 
for Economic Development and Tourism early in the new 
financial year. 

In addition, Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal is to 
present an implementation framework to the Provincial 
Technical Economic Cluster for noting and approval 
and was also to work with UNCTAD on its initiative, 
‘eRegulations,’ which aimed to simplify regulations and 
communicate them through an interactive web browser.  

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s Knowledge Management Department ensures 
the provision of relevant business and economic information, the packaging of 
available investment opportunities and the management of information technology.  
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7.4.3  Economic Review Reports

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal, in collaboration with 
the Department of Economic Development and Tourism, 
compiled quarterly economic perspective reports during 
the 2010/11 financial year for inclusion in Ezomnotho, 
a joint Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal, Department 
of Economic Development and Tourism and Treasury 
publication.

Similar reports were produced and submitted to meetings 
of the Board.

The KwaZulu-Natal Business Barometer and Investment 
Monitor were also produced on a monthly basis 
during the review period to review stress levels being 
experienced by KwaZulu-Natal-based business 
enterprises and investment in the province.
 
7.4.4  New Packaged Projects 

Polyethylene Beneficiation
Polyethylene is a thermoplastic commodity widely 
used in consumer products. Polyethylene is a polymer 
comprising chains of monomer ethylene and is created 
through the processing (polymerization) of ethane. The 
South African market for polyethylene primary polymer, 
used in local plastic conversion, is estimated at 432 000 
t/a. Polyethylene is generally regarded as a commodity 
produced by many countries and is well traded in 
large volumes. Downstream polyethylene products 
beneficiation is regarded as an opportunity in 
South Africa.

Polypropylene Beneficiation
South Africa enjoys a reliable supply of polypropylene 
due to its extensive coal resources and production of 
propylene as part of its coal-to-liquids fuel production. 
The two producers, Sasol Polymers and Safripol 
produce a total of 350 000 tons of polypropylene a year. 
Total supply will exceed the South African domestic 
requirement of 250 000 tons per year and the Department 
of Trade and Industry is reviving the polypropylene 
beneficiation industry, offering opportunities to potential 
investors in South Africa. 

Set Top Boxes
This project is about establishing a manufacturing plant 
for the production of Set Top Boxes and remote controls. 
The software developers are from KwaZulu-Natal and 
have developed software which has been branded by 
Hyundai and Universal Solutions in the Netherlands. 
Project promoters have secured a 51% Broad-Based 
Black Economic Empowerment partner through the 

Women in Business Forum. It also addresses a key 
strategic initiative in terms of import substitution.  

Essential Oils
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal is collaborating with 
the KwaZulu-Natal Agricultural Development Agency, the 
Industrial Development Corporation and the Centre for 
Scientific and Industrial Research to establish a large-
scale essential oils distillery in KwaZulu-Natal. South 
African production of essential oils is based around 
a relatively small number of large-scale farmers, with 
the greatest volumes being produced in Mpumalanga, 
KwaZulu-Natal, the Western Cape, the Northern Province 
and Gauteng. 

Essential oils grown in KwaZulu-Natal are used as inputs 
for a range of products, including food flavourings, 
pharmaceutical goods and industrial solvents. Increasing 
consumer interest and a wide and growing range of 
applications in commercial industries has led to strong 
growth in world demand for these commodities. The 
diverse climate and unique range of flora encountered 
in KwaZulu-Natal provide opportunities for new crop 
development and agricultural diversification.

Cut Flowers
Total cut flower production in South Africa is currently 
valued at an estimated R400 million. There are 
approximately 420 hectares under intensive production 
and 20 000 hectares of extensive natural environment 
where cut flowers are harvested in their natural state. 
Roses, chrysanthemums and carnations generally 
dominate the market. In KwaZulu-Natal the local market 
is traditionally small, with sales being low volume, but 
wide in variety of product. Contrasting with the local 
market, the export market is massive. Here quality and 
consistency of supply are of paramount importance. Most 
exports from Africa are currently sent to the European 
Union. Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal is collaborating 
with the KwaZulu-Natal Agricultural Development 
Agency, the Industrial Development Corporation and 
the Department of Agriculture in a project to establish 
a central facility which will be actively involved in un-
blocking the value chain and facilitating the creation of 
an enabling environment for the whole industry. This 
facility will be located in a strategic location in KwaZulu-
Natal and will be geared towards becoming the heart of 
floriculture activities in the province.

Hydroponics Production
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal is working closely 
with the Amajuba District and the Industrial Development 
Corporation to produce high-quality, nutritional and 
flavourful vegetables for consumption in both local

7.4 Knowledge Management (continued)
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and international markets.

Hydroponics involves the growing of high-quality 
vegetables in high-tech, multi-span greenhouses. The 
produce is grown in 15l bags with a medium used to 
support the root system. Plants are automatically fed 
nutrients through irrigation systems and are grown in 
optimum growing conditions, so allowing each plant to 
produce to the maximum. The advantages of growing 
crops in hydroponic tunnels include: 
• Faster and longer growth;
• Reduced harvest times, and through such reduction 

ensuring:
 - Decreased loss in weight gain;
 - The elimination of weight loss from shock;

• Ensuring a greater yield per plant; and 
• Controlling the provision of optimum temperatures for 

plant growth.

Target customers include major retail outlets and export 
markets.  

Production of Organic Tea
The growing trend towards health has resulted in an 
increased focus on organic green tea, especially with 
its anti-oxidants and anti-aging properties. This project 
aims to produce organic tea, targeting the high-end 
market. Black tea production in South Africa has become 
uneconomic and is under financial stress. Many of the 
existing tea estates were established in areas of high 
unemployment during the 1970s and 1980s to dissuade 
people from migrating to urban areas. By way of 
revitalising tea production in KwaZulu-Natal,
the production of green tea has been investigated at
the Ntingwe Tea Estate, leading to a decision to
produce very healthy low caffeine green tea, using 
Japanese technology. 

Production of Bio-coal 
The objective of this project is to establish a 
manufacturing plant which utilises forestry waste 
generated in KwaZulu-Natal to produce an excellent 
quality Bio-coal. Bio-coal could replace the use of normal 
steam coal in boilers within manufacturing industries, 
hospitals, prisons, educational facilities and laundries 
without major alteration or modification. Bio-coal could 
also be used for cooking and heating, as well as for 
use on barbeques, replacing charcoal. There is also a 
potential market in Europe for environmentally-friendly 
Bio-coal in terms of power generation, use in fireplaces 
and at barbeques and the like. 

Beef Feedlot and Meat Processing
The European Union is the predominant exporter of beef 

and pork to the South African market, while significant 
mutton and lamb imports originate from Australia and 
New Zealand. The Southern African Custom Union has 
indicated that live cattle imports from Namibia amount 
to an average of 104 198 head a year, while annual live 
small stock imports amount to 917 576 head. Beef 
imports from Namibia and Botswana amount to an 
average of 15 000 tons a year. The feedlot approach, as 
a means of beef fattening, presents an opportunity to 
cover the supply gap and reduce the importation of beef 
into the country generally and this province specifically. 

The feedlot industry produces approximately 70 to 80% 
of beef in the formal sector in South Africa. It is estimated 
that this sub-sector has a standing capacity of 420 000 
head of cattle and the industry has a potential throughput 
of 1,5 million animals annually. The feedlot project has the 
potential to create significant employment opportunities 
in, especially impoverished, rural areas. The feedlot 
project may be vertically integrated with an abattoir and 
meat deboning plant. The estimated cost for such an 
investment is approximately R500 million and is expected 
to create at least 150 jobs.

Vegetable and Fruit Canning
The canning of fruit and vegetables is a competitive and 
growing industry, especially the export element of the 
industry. This industry comprises establishments primarily 
engaged in canning fruit, vegetables, fruit and vegetable 
juices, the processing of ketchup and other tomato 
sauces and the production of natural and imitation 
preserves, jams and jellies. 

The project involves the establishment of a fruit and 
vegetable processing facility at Pongola, in Northern 
KwaZulu-Natal. Pongola is a predominantly sugar cane 
and pineapple-growing area, with a number of farmers 
practicing tomato production for rotation purposes and 
as cash crops. The proposed canning factory would be 
capable of handling some 500 tons of raw tomatoes and 
pineapples – for pineapple rings and chunks – as well as 
other fruits for the manufacturing of jams.

Production of Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients  
Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients (APIs) of good quality 
are central to the manufacture of effective and safe 
essential drugs. The price of APIs is the primary cost 
driver for manufacturing. A very limited number of large 
manufacturers of finished pharmaceutical products boast 
their own API manufacturing capabilities and none of 
them make all the required APIs in-house. 

The pharmaceutical industry is a prioritised focus 
sector in the Industrial Policy Action Plan, designed to 
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boost economic growth and reduce unemployment 
through fast-tracking the development of key sectors. 
The drugs sector is worth in excess of R18 billion and 
in order to reduce import levels and regain export 
market share, there is a need for local production of key 
APIs, specifically in the production of ARVs, given that 
according to the Medical Research Council some 5,4 
million people are living with HIV/AIDS in South Africa, the 
second highest rate in the world after India.

A strong locally-based industry of multi-national and 
local role-players is vital to ensure the security of 
pharmaceuticals in this country.

Production of Bio-diesel from Micro-Algae
This project concerns the need to pilot the production of 
bio-diesel from micro-algae. The Mangosuthu University 
of Technology has been carrying out research across a 
range of technologies and screening a number of algae 
strains in order to select those with high lipid content, 
potentially for producing bio-diesel. The project will entail 
working on a bio-refinery concept, intended to work 
similarly to a traditional oil refinery.

The bio-refinery will initially extract oil for bio-diesel 
with the potential to simultaneously extract high-value 
specialty products. Then it will turn to value from the 
whole chain, including digesting the residual biomass, 
which has a high carbon and intrinsic value, to make 
energy-rich biogas.

Algae may be added to other fuel products for 
combustion or co-gasification. Other products could 
include feed sources and bioethanol from cellulosic 
feedstock.

Electronic Diesel Control Systems - Smartfeeder 
Diesel engines are capable of burning a wide range of 
fuels, depending on their design. Larger engines are also 
fitted with fuel systems for burning heavier products, 
referred to as heavy fuels. Regardless of classification, 
there are certain properties of the fuel which are important 
to the engine user. Over the life of an engine, fuel 
represents about 75% of the total operating cost. 

Moreover, if fuel quality is not maintained, it may cause 
premature engine failure or decreased performance. 
The suitability and condition of fuel for diesel engines is 
frequently overlooked as a maintenance item. 

Smartfeeder technology provides solutions for carbon-
based fuel engines and power plants by reducing 
fuel consumption, harmful gas emissions and engine 
wear. The system is effective in both legacy and new 

combustion engines and machinery through practical, 
easy-to-install and cost-effective technology. 

It provides state-of-the-art fuel enzyme injection solutions 
to optimise fuel combustion and provide optimum engine 
performance. In essence, it makes engines run cleaner, 
smoother and longer.

Production of Polysilicon for Solar Panel 
Manufacturing in South Africa
As the solar energy market continues to grow in South 
Africa, it has become important to determine the feasibility 
of establishing a polysilicon manufacturing facility in this 
country. 

Polysilicon is the key component in the manufacture of 
solar panels and it has been noted that South Africa’s 
solar photovoltaic market faces a significant challenge 
owing to shortages and allocations of polysilicon in the 
past several years. 

The shortage of feedstock between 2004 and 2007 
reached a critical point which, in turn, affected the 
production of solar panels and, consequently, industry 
growth. With demand from semi-conductor and solar 
energy industries expected to grow by between 5% 
and 9%, demand for solar-grade polysilicon is expected 
to reach over 40% of the total demand in 2009/2010. 
(Swanepoel, 2010). 

Manufacturing of Lithium Batteries
Batteries might be viewed as the 21st century’s ‘new oil’, 
with any country able to produce them and so secure a 
significant portion of their energy needs in the future. This, 
however, means reducing dependence on crude oil, as 
electric vehicles use no fuel. 

The development and use of electric vehicles is rapidly 
gaining ground as vehicle manufacturers gear-up for 
large-scale production of no-emission, plug-in-and-
recharge vehicles in the wake of global warming. 

Some estimates indicate that electric vehicles will 
constitute at least 10% of global demand by 2020. 
Japanese vehicle manufacturer, Nissan, for example, 
unveiled its first mass-produced electric vehicle in 2009, 
which was launched in Japan and the USA in 2010. 

South Africa’s move to make batteries includes the 
Centre for Scientific and Industrial Research, the Industrial 
Development Corporation, the Department of Trade and 
Industry, Optimal Energy – which designed South
Africa’s own electric vehicle – and several other 
commercial entities.

7.4 Knowledge Management (continued)
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7.4.5  Information Technology 
Management

IT Governance
The Master Systems Plan/ICT Strategy was developed 
and approved by Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s 
Audit Committee during the 2010/11 financial year.

The new IT policy was also developed and presented to 
the Audit Committee for noting and recommendation for 
approval by the Board of Directors. 

Business Continuity Plan 
The development of Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s 
Business Continuity Plan was completed during the 
review period. Training and awareness programmes were 
conducted for the benefit of staff members responsible 
for implementing and actioning the Business Continuity 
Plan.

Extensive testing, which included the testing of the 
approved Disaster Recovery Plan, was also undertaken 
and successfully completed.

Business Process Documentation and Mapping
The task of mapping each and every Trade & Investment 
KwaZulu-Natal business process, by Department, was 
conducted during the year under review. This entailed 
defining, documenting and mapping key business 
processes at both functional and activity level. 

The task did not include auditing or re-engineering 
business processes. 

7.4.6  Policy Advocacy

Information-sharing Sessions
Two information sessions were hosted for Foreign 
Economic/Trade Attachés and Commissioners who 
were represented at Embassies in Pretoria to establish 
the major concerns raised with them by multi-national 
companies from the countries they represent. 

Some 35 issues were raised, a number of which are 
contained here. 

They included the issuing of visas through the 
Department of Home Affairs, the procurement of 
services, given that a number of companies commit 
to considerable expense in preparing tenders, only 
to find that projects are postponed, payment delays 
by Government for services provided, clarification 
concerning potential policy adjustments by Government, 
such as the nationalisation of mines and long-winded 

approvals from the South African Bureau of Standards 
concerning products which already enjoy international 
certification. 

Others voiced concern about long-winded processes 
adopted by the South African Revenue Service 
regarding the repatriation of funds/profits by companies, 
understanding of the requirements of Broad-Based Black 
Economic Empowerment by Government officials, the 
effect of policy changes, such as Independent Power 
Producers, approvals by the Medical Control Council on 
pharmaceutical products and the perceived long-winded 
process of Environmental Impact Assessments and
the like.

Duty on parts – Set Top Boxes
The need for Set Top Boxes will be used to convert 
analogue signal to digital signal as part of the 
Government’s efforts to improve image quality and allow 
more channels within the same spectrum. The Set Top 
Box opportunity is also contained in the Department of 
Trade and Industry’s IPAP2 strategy as a job creating, 
local manufacturing opportunity to be supported.

A number of potential investors showed interest in 
importing the populated Printed Circuit Board (PCB), 
producing and assembling other inputs in South Africa. 
The PCB manufacturing involves a significant capital 
outlay and technology inputs and are only cost-effectively 
made in large volumes. 

Currently the parts attract duty of 20% against European 
Union duty of 9,5% and European Free Trade Association 
duty of 15%. This makes it prohibitive to manufacture in 
this country and easier and cheaper to import the fully 
assembled Set Top Boxes, which is out of kilter with 
Government’s strategies through IPAP2. 

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal was approached 
by a number of ICT industry companies looking to 
assemble computers, television sets and Set Top Boxes 
in KwaZulu-Natal, for which the parts attract duties 
as opposed to duty-free fully assembled products. 
The organisation lobbied the International Trade and 
Administration Commission of South Africa in an effort to 
secure a reduction or waiver in duties.

7.4.7  Outbound Missions

Australia (13 – 17 September 2010) 
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s Knowledge 
Management Department participated in the Waste 
& Recycle Conference held in Perth, Australia and 
conducted technical tours of established waste 
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management companies and landfills owned and 
operated by Mindarie Regional Council. 

The conference and the technical tours provided a 
platform to develop networks with relevant stakeholders 
in the sector and potential investors to be linked to a 
waste material recovery facility packaged project to be 
implemented in the City of uMhlathuze. Meetings were 
held with officials from a number of companies, including 
Superior Pak, Renew Moltoni Energy, Transpacific 
Industries Group, Colmax Glass, All Earth Group, Bio 
Vision Australia 2020 and Coffey Environments.

Dubai (8 – 14 October 2010) 
The organisation assisted in analysing and evaluating 
the Innovida Building Panels Concept technology and 
plant layout for a manufacturing facility in South Africa, 
benchmarking against the operational plant in Innovida 
World Wide, Dubai. Objectives to be achieved were: 
• To meet with the technical team to discuss the 

technical aspects of the product;
• To view plant and equipment; 
• To finalise financial arrangements;
• To discuss and finalise contractual arrangements;
• To discuss arrangements regarding the ordering of the 

factory; and
• Technical support and training.

All objectives were met and finance was being arranged 
through the Development Bank of Southern Africa for the 
purchase of the technology from Dubai. 
 
Mauritius (24 – 28 November 2010)
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal participated in a 
mission to Mauritius with Actisat Investments, with regard 
to an industrial gases project. 

The mission’s aim was to conclude a Joint Venture 
Agreement with SAMLO, a steel manufacturing company 
based in Mauritius, for the establishment of a gas 
manufacturing plant in this country. It was agreed that 
between three and five sites be identified in established 
industrial parks with networks of industries using gas. The 
preferred option was to lease land in terms of a long-term 
agreement. 

Proposed sites which required further investigation 
included the Richards Bay Industrial Development 
Zone, Kwabonambi, Ilembe, Jacobs in Durban and 
Cato Ridge. 

7.4 Knowledge Management (continued)
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7.5 Marketing and Communications

The Department is responsible for the positioning 
and branding of the organisation, thus ensuring that 
its sister Departments which interface directly with 
clients, stakeholders and strategic partners are fully 
equipped with relevant and appropriate materials. Trade 
& Investment KwaZulu-Natal is careful to market itself 
to and communicate with its various publics with one 
voice, consistently delivering a single, common message 
reflecting the value and essence of the organisation as a 
key driver of trade and investment in KwaZulu-Natal.

7.5.1  Communication

Effective corporate communication and the efficient 
usage of all available communication channels are critical 
to maintaining high-level awareness of the organisation 
and its business activities within both the market-place 
and the public arena. Corporate communication focuses 
on the actions and successes of the organisation itself.

During the 2010/11 financial year, Trade & Investment 
KwaZulu-Natal employed a number of communication 
mediums to ensure a high public profile for the 
organisation and to make certain it remained top-of-mind 
in the business environment in South Africa and abroad.

The review period saw the attainment of exceptionally 
positive media publicity, achieved by way of exposure 
in no fewer than 47 local and international publications. 
Extensive broadcast coverage was also achieved through 
a number of SABC radio channels, SABC television and 
CNBC Africa.  

Media Highlights
In terms of the media exposure gained during the review 
period, three highlights included the following: 
• Czech Media Tour: Trade & Investment KwaZulu-

Natal hosted a representative from the South 
African Embassy in the Czech Republic, together 
with a Czech journalist and cameraman. The group 
undertook a two-day media tour of the province, 
inclusive of Durban city and Shakaland excursions. 
They reported on local informal markets and street 
trade, the quality and potential of business and trade 
in KwaZulu-Natal, the FIFA World Cup and how it 
impacted on the people of KwaZulu-Natal and their 
businesses, as well as reviewing the history and 
culture of the province; 

• ADEPT Airmotive Publicity Campaign: Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal co-ordinated a media 
event at Virginia Airport, Durban, to mark the launch 
of Adept Airmotive’s first all-South African designed 
and developed General Aviation (GA) engine. Pre- 
and post-media campaigns were undertaken by the 
organisation, generating extensive publicity on regional 
radio stations and in local, national and international 
publications, as well as through a number of websites; 
and   

• The Durban International Boat & Lifestyle Show: 
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal hosted two 
renowned international journalists, Mr Ed Slack, of the 
United Kingdom’s IBI News and Mr Wally Moran, of 
the USA’s Sail Magazine, exposing them to the show 
and KwaZulu-Natal’s business investment offering. 

Regular information updates to the organisation’s 
modern, helpful and easy-to-navigate website, with 
its online interactive platforms, served to significantly 
heighten widespread awareness of Trade & Investment 
KwaZulu-Natal’s role, activities and initiatives during the 
review period. The website www.tikzn.co.za attracted an 
impressive 63 269 ‘hits,’ or visits, against a mere 19 421 
in the 2009/10 financial year. The vast majority of such 
hits were in respect of information-seeking and queries 
about the organisation and KwaZulu-Natal as a business 
and investment destination. The top 10 countries, 
indicated by hits on the organisation’s website, included 
South Africa, India, the United Kingdom, the USA, 
Germany, Australia, China, Uganda, Canada and
Egypt respectively.

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal places great store by 
this medium of information-sharing and the Marketing 
and Communications Department remained committed, 
during the review period, to responding to each and every 
query posted via its website.     

A total of two issues of the organisation’s newsletter, 
Emnothweni, were published and distributed to 
stakeholders during the financial year, adding further 
to Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s bouquet of 
corporate communications.

With in excess of 200 investment promotion agencies 
around the world, competition for an ever greater share of 
the trade and investment market is becoming increasingly 

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s Marketing and Communications 
Department is charged with creating awareness, locally and internationally,
of KwaZulu-Natal as a preferred business investment destination.
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intense. This has resulted in the need for the effective 
usage of a comprehensive and highly innovative array of 
communication tools to ensure that Trade & Investment 
KwaZulu-Natal and the province itself remain at the 
forefront of the business environment in South Africa and 
around the world.

The organisation has been particularly successful in 
creating awareness in the minds of trade and investment 
decision-makers locally and globally, promoting KwaZulu-
Natal through its communication channels as a preferred 
business and investment destination in the quest for 
increased market share.

7.5.2  Stakeholder Engagement and 
Events

The hosting of or participation in events is regarded by 
the organisation as a critically important medium for 

networking, communication on a personal level, brand 
development and strategic relationship-building.
Corporate events provide an ideal platform for inter-
personal interaction between Trade & Investment 
KwaZulu-Natal and select stakeholders and role-players 
within the South African and international 
business arena. 

During the 2010/11 financial year, the organisation set out 
to identify and exploit a series of events in an endeavour 
to inform, educate and convince influential stakeholders 
regarding KwaZulu-Natal’s competitive advantages, 
strategic business opportunities and business 
development activities. 

Date Event Name Details

20 May 2010 Internal Activation Presentation of strategy to members of staff

28 May – 06 June 2010 Royal Show Creation of awareness regarding Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal services

20 June 2010 Global Icons Exhibition Creation of awareness regarding Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal services

31 July 2010 Vodacom Durban July Creation of awareness regarding Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal services

30 September – 02 
October 2010

Zululand Expo Creation of awareness regarding Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal services

Further to the above detailed planned events, Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal played an influential role in the 
following international corporate events, further enhancing 
KwaZulu-Natal’s status as a premier investment 
destination and a trade leader. During the year under 
review, the organisation also initiated or participated in 
a number of additional stakeholder engagement events, 
further promoting KwaZulu-Natal and its attributes as the 
investment destination and trade gateway of choice.

These included the following:
• World Cup of Golf: The World Cup of Golf is an 

annual amateur tournament and was held in Thailand 
in 2010. South Africa has secured the right to host 
the tournament in 2011. The event attracts many 
senior executives in industry and was, therefore, 

viewed as an ideal tourism and business platform 
through which to promote trade and investment 
opportunities in KwaZulu-Natal. World Golf Events 
South Africa was presented with the opportunity to 
host and promote the 2011 tournament and following 
a number of meetings held with provincial political 
and industry leaders, a commitment was made to 
support the staging of the 2011 event in KwaZulu-
Natal. In highlighting South Africa’s hosting of the 
2011 event, a promotional activation was staged at 
the Thailand tournament in 2010.Trade & Investment 
KwaZulu-Natal, Tourism KwaZulu-Natal and Enterprise 
Ilembe are to encourage optimum participation in and 
attendance of the 2011 World Cup of Golf tournament 
and will ensure the favourable promotion of the trade, 
investment and tourism opportunities available to 

7.5 Marketing and Communications (continued)

Trade and Investment Planned Events
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international industry participants; and
• Omega Investment Research Euro-African 

Series: For the past 11 years, Omega Investment 
Research has organised an investment conference 
series in Europe following an African theme. The 
annual conferences, held in London, United Kingdom, 
and Munich, Germany, have become authoritative 
events attracting many influential prospective investors 
from throughout Europe.

 This is an annual platform utilised by Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal to profile the province, so 
increasing awareness of this investment destination. 
In 2010, Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal became a 
platinum sponsor of Omega’s 12th annual Euro-African 
Series in London and Munich. 

7.5.3  Marketing

Marketing communications is widely regarded as 
a vehicle for an organisation’s brand management. 
It is primarily concerned with the promotion of an 
organisation’s products and services through a number 
of touch-points. Marketing communications is primarily 
concerned with demand generation, together with 
product and service positioning. 

Brand Re-Alignment
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s future marketing 
initiatives on international platforms will be implemented in 
line with national priorities.

A national brand alignment initiative saw a Provincial 
Cabinet decision to participate in and implement the 
newly aligned brand, in line with that of the International 
Marketing Council early in the new financial year.

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal and Tourism KwaZulu-
Natal joined forces to produce a new brand for the 
province which would meet IMC requirements. Following 
a number of workshops and inputs from design agencies, 

a new brand was produced in line with that of the country 
for future utilisation on international platforms. 
The advent of this development during the review 
period will enhance the organisation’s international 
promotions interventions into the future, resulting in 
a unified look-and-feel, so marketing the strengths of 
South Africa and its regions as a persuasive trade and 
investment destination.

Marketing Activation
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s primary marketing 
activation during the 2010/11 financial year proved a 
major accomplishment for the organisation. A contract 
was signed with CNBC Africa for the flighting of a series 
of 30-minute documentaries during a six-month period.

A partnership for such profiling of KwaZulu-Natal includes 
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal, Tourism KwaZulu-
Natal, the Department of Economic Development and 
Tourism and the Ithala Development Finance Corporation 
Limited. The focus of these documentaries for the 
duration of the contract period includes the following:
• An introduction to KwaZulu-Natal and the quality of 

life here, together with details about logistic platforms, 
including the ports of both Durban and Richards Bay 
and the Dube TradePort, home to the King Shaka 
International Airport;

• The province’s automotive and chemical sectors;
• Entrepreneurship in KwaZulu-Natal;
• Agriculture and agri-business; and
• Tourism. 

In addition, an internal marketing activation was prepared 
and executed for the benefit of the organisation’s entire 
staff complement.
Focus areas covered included Trade & Investment 
KwaZulu-Natal’s:
• Brand and values;
• Passion values;
• Integrity values; and
• Professional values.
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7.6 Human Resource Development

Indeed, during the 2010/2011 financial year, Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal undertook a comprehensive 
review of its Human Resources Strategy and its 
contribution to the organisation’s overall business 
strategy. The review resulted from the fact that human 
resource management and operational strategies are 
determined by the organisation’s business needs. The 
review was also regarded as an appropriate response to 
the global economic challenges which prevailed during 
the previous two years.

Key Human Resource focus areas for the period 
under review included best practice, benchmarking, 
organisational culture, performance management, 
maintenance of collaborative industrial relations, Human 
Resource Development, employment equity and health 
and welfare of staff.

To this end, specific attention was given to:
• The staffing of all the organisation’s business units 

within an effective organisational structure, complete 
with competent talent from both an operational and 
managerial perspective, in order that goals and 
objectives are achieved. Although Trade & Investment 
KwaZulu-Natal operates within a flat structure, efforts 
are made to reposition people as part of a multi-
skilling, growth and succession planning exercise;

• The attraction and retention of talent is critical and, 
for this reason, remuneration packages – which are 
regarded as market-competitive – are constantly 
reviewed. The remuneration strategy and policy was 
endorsed by the Board. Although incentives, such 
as performance-related bonuses, were not paid to 
members of staff because of the well-documented 
economic challenges of recent times, such incentives 
remain a key area of focus in terms of motivating and 
retaining staff; and

• The use of the staff forum to communicate certain 
key decisions as a mechanism to help ensure sound 
employee relations.

 A challenge faced during the review period in this 
regard was the need to communicate a decision by 
the shareholder not to incentivise members of staff 
in spite of targets having been achieved. In addition, 
of course, regular staff meetings are utilised as a 
platform for the Chief Executive Officer to address staff 

members regarding key strategic decisions that could 
affect the business.

  
In essence, Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s ‘people 
vision’ thrives on the knowledge of its people and in order 
to continue executing this vision, the organisation constantly 
strives to develop highly-motivated team members, in line 
with one of its key strategic objectives. In this regard, various 
initiatives were implemented during the period under review; 
each of which sought to ensure the realisation of both the 
vision and strategic objective.
 
Pleasingly and in spite of the challenges imposed by 
the earlier economic recession, the review period saw 
great improvement in almost all areas affecting the 
organisation’s staff, details of which are discussed below. 

7.6.1  Staff Complement 

As at 31 March 2011, the organisation’s staff complement 
totalled 45 members. The spotlight therefore remained 
on ensuring the right-sizing of the organisation’s business 
units so as to ensure a balanced organisational structure, 
staffed with competent, skilled staff members capable
of meeting Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s 
operational objectives. 

The organisation has long prided itself on its impressively 
low staff turnover, while every effort is made to 
incorporate new talent when such opportunities present 
themselves. Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal has 
achieved this enviable status by creating an environment 
conducive for the existing talent to thrive.

A major challenge faced during the period under review, 
however, was the constraint – necessitated by the 
economic downturn – which led to the shareholder 
insisting on strict recruitment controls, resulting in certain 
positions remaining vacant during the 2010/11 financial 
year. In this regard, there was a need to ensure that 
the organisation remained sufficiently staffed to be able 
to deliver effectively on its mandate and in line with its 
organisational strategy.

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal adopted a policy of 
reviewing its entire staff complement on an ongoing basis 
to ensure organisational right-sizing.

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal aims to attract, develop and retain high-
performing members of staff. Policies and practices are accordingly reviewed 
from time-to-time to ensure that the organisation achieves its objective in
this regard.
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7.6.2  Performance Management 

The organisation continued using its employee’s 
performance management as a process which measures 
the effectiveness of the extent to which strategy and the 
execution thereof is achieved.

This is a powerful tool and one which enables the 
business to energise its people towards the achievement 
of pre-determined goals. Trade & Investment KwaZulu-
Natal was, through the process, able to set performance 
expectations, monitor progress, measure results, 
appraise and reward or correct the behaviour of individual 
employees. 

The period under review witnessed the implementation 
of the policy, as approved by the Board, and this was 
regarded as a way to further enhance the employee 
performance management system. Through this policy, 
managers were able to conduct two performance reviews 
and a performance appraisal during the 
review period. 

7.6.3  Wellness Strategy

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s Wellness 
Programme continued being a major motivating factor 
behind improving the health, life-style and, importantly, 
the overall well-being of each and every member of 
the organisation’s staff. There can be no doubting the 
direct correlation which exists between wellness and 
work performance. It is widely accepted that a happy, 
fit and healthy member of staff will perform better in the 
workplace, leading to improved levels of productivity. 

During the 2010/11 financial year, a programme was 
developed and put in place to further ensure that 
members of staff live a healthy life holistically. Programme 
development was carried out in accordance 
with appropriate best practice and aligned to international 
standards. The 2010/11 programme included a nutrition 
workshop, physical assessments, health talks – which 
included HIV/AIDS discussions – and finance workshops. 

Staff member response proved most encouraging. 
Reports indicated that a number of members had lost 
weight and these individuals were awarded certificates in 
acknowledgement of their efforts. 

The strength of our Wellness Programme lies in the 
following:
• It is holistic in nature;
• All initiatives are well-received;
• Members of staff are being actively assisted and 

empowered, with positive outcomes as a result;
• Good health-screening participation; and
• Increased awareness is enabling change and 

development.

There can be no doubt that wellness has now become 
entrenched in our corporate culture. Members of staff fully 
understand and embrace the culture of well-being in the 
business environment, while for its part, the organisation 
recognises that by putting in place an integrated health, 
wellness, work/life balance, rewards and recognition 
programme, a significant return of investment may be 
achieved.

Against this background, the primary purpose behind the 
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal Wellness Programme 
is to increase levels of engagement and improve 
employee well-being, so improving business efficiency 
levels.

7.6.4  Human Resources Development

Training and development remains an important pillar 
for the harnessing of the organisation’s human capital and 
potential.

Training interventions are aimed at satisfying both the 
organisation’s current and future business needs in terms 
of skills supply.

The Continuation of Studies Policy is closely monitored to 
ensure that staff members are continuously encouraged 
to further their studies for the mutual benefit of both 
the individual and the organisation. The total training 
expenditure during the 2010/11 financial year amounted 
to 3,4% of total payroll, well above the 3% standard set 
by the international labour organisation and significantly 
above the South African standard of just 1% of total 
payroll.

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal believes that the 
development of a competitive advantage is about learning 
and action. 

The key to building a sustainable competitive advantage 
must then be the ability to select the most appropriate 
strategy for the effective development of organisational 
and individual capabilities. 

In line with this thinking, the organisation undertook 
a series of initiatives during the review period geared 
to ensuring the growth and development of the 
organisation’s human resources. These initiatives included 
project finance modelling, which brought together 
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General, Sector and Project Managers. 

In addition and using the skills audit report, the 
organisation was able to identify competencies and 
jobs which are unique to Trade & Investment KwaZulu-
Natal, the purpose of which was to prioritise those areas 
requiring urgent attention.

7.6.5  Employment Equity

Although the organisation has not, in the past, submitted 
an Employment Equity Report, it has continuously 
promoted the ideal of equal opportunity and fair treatment 
in its employment practices. 

During the 2010/11 financial year, however, the 
development of an Employment Equity Plan was adopted 
as a strategic initiative. 

The process leading to the formulation of such a plan 
was implemented, after which the plan was developed 
and approved. Progress was monitored through the 
Employment Equity Committee, a body which includes 
representation from all internal constituencies. 

Particularly pleasing, was the fact that Trade & Investment 
KwaZulu-Natal’s representation of 64,58% of the total 
staff complement appreciably exceeded both national 

and provincial race and gender demographics. 

A highlight in the formulation of the plan was the level 
of enthusiasm displayed by members of staff, ably 
demonstrated through their active participation in various 
structures. 

Achievement milestones included the formulation of the 
policy and its approval by the Board, the formulation 
of the constitution and the training of members of 
the committee, whose primary role is to monitor the 
implementation of the plan.

7.6.6  Organisational Culture

In line with Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s 
philosophy of inclusiveness and openness, a decision 
was taken during the review period, to reassess the 
culture of the organisation with the intention of developing 
and reinforcing an appropriate culture; a culture which will 
assist the organisation to fulfill its purpose. 

The assessment process was all-inclusive, with every 
member of staff being engaged through participation in 
focus groups. The process allowed for the identification of 
areas of dysfunction, from a business culture perspective 
and was followed by a comprehensive workshop to craft 
a Social Compact.

7.6 Human Resource Development (continued)
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INDICATORS

Number of jobs created. 1 000 1 240 It is anticipated that a potential 1 240 jobs 
could be created from the investment projects 
committed during 2010/11 financial year. 

Rand value of new leads for 
FDI and domestic generated 
per year.

R2bn R24,514bn A total Rand value of R24,514 billion was 
generated from the FDI and domestic leads. Key 
sectors were: maritime, creative industries (films), 
agro-processing, building materials, plastics, 
chemicals, renewable energy, BPO, mineral 
beneficiation, waste management and tourism.   

Rand value of new FDI in the 
pipeline per year.

R500m R20,388bn TIKZN had a total of 42 projects in the pipeline 
worth a combined total of R20,388 billion during 
2010/11 and two of these projects (Motherson 
Sumi and Bizworks) were committed during the 
year under review.    

Number of outbound missions 
co-ordinated to promote 
KwaZulu-Natal as a premier 
investment destination.

4 18 Initiatives to promote KwaZulu-Natal as a 
premier investment destination resulted in 18 
outbound missions taking place as follows: 
Mozambique (Bio-Energy Conference), Poland 
(Manufacturing of bus seats), Shanghai Expo 
(ICT, Energy, Mining), Vietnam (Furniture), 
Australia (Africa Down-Under), Romania (BPO), 
USA (Tourism), China (Automotive), France 
(Tourism and property development), Miami 
(Boat Show), India (Film) Germany (Africa Energy 
Forum). 

No. of inbound missions 
co-ordinated to promote 
KZN as a premier investment 
destination

20 29 TIKZN hosted 29 inbound missions during 
2010/11 from the following countries: Funding 
Agency from the USA, the Jadwet Group from 
India, Osho Cement, SA Michael Diamonds, 
Italian Delegation, Polish Delegation, Aptech 
from India, Samsung Group from Korea, Lloyds 
TSB from the UK, Toney Watkins Company 
from the USA, Clothing and Textile Group from 
Zimbabwe, Benteler from Germany, Fedex 
from the USA, UKTI from the UK, EU Trade 
Commissioners and delegations from India 
(Mumbai).

8 Annual Performance Reports
2010/11 Financial Year

Programme 1: Fixed Investments

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS

PRIMARY 
MEASURE

Rand value of committed 
investments

R750m R1,140.08bn With the global economy being on a recovery 
path since the 2008 recession, the stretch 
target was exceeded by 35% with four 
projects committed to the value of R1,140.08 
billion. These were: Umgeni Water (R340,08 
million), Bizworks (R100 million), Motherson 
Sumi (R300 million) and Velvet Sky (R400 
million).

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  USA – United States of America  •  FDI –  Foreign Direct Investment  
•  KZN – KwaZulu-Natal  •  EU – European Union  •  BPO – Business Process Outsourcing  •  ICT – Information Communications Technology
•  UK – United Kingdom  •  UKTI – United Kingdom Trade and Investment
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Annual Performance Reports
2010/11 Financial Year (continued)

8

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal •  EU – European Union  •  BPO – Business Process Outsourcing 
•  ICT – Information Communications Technology

Programme 1: Fixed Investments (continued)

Programme 2: Business Retention

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS

INDICATORS

No. of leads generated by 
TIKZN’s Gauteng Office

30 66 Key sectors: Automotive, Infrastructure, Waste 
Management, Energy, Minerals and Resources, 
Plastics and Chemicals, Logistics, Tourism, ICT. 
Major initiatives included: Africa Youth Summit 
event in Gauteng, Policy Advocacy with Trade 
Offices in Gauteng and EU Trade Commissioners 
visiting KwaZulu-Natal. A number of leads have 
been converted to pipeline as follows: First 
Call, Xcellerate, Merchants, Digi-Connect, Cold 
Point, Serengeti Radisson Hotel and Garment 
manufacturing factory.

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS

PRIMARY 
MEASURE

Number of companies retained 
through TIKZN facilitation

6 8 Eight companies have been retained through 
TIKZN facilitation: GPT Cement in Ladysmith 
(facilitated incentive grant payout from dti), Shu 
Powders in Hammarsdale, African Cat Yacht-
Building in Pinetown, Apollo Tyres, Somta Tools, 
Canvas and Tents, Lasher Tools and De Francas.

INITIATIVES

1.1 Develop 10 sector value propositions Three value propositions were compiled in the 

BPO, ICT and automotive sectors.  
1.2 Develop District Municipality Investment profiles on 

their IDP’S

TIKZN has established strong relations with 
municipalities within KwaZulu-Natal. Facilitation 
has taken place with four municipalities as 
follows: 
•     A business plan for hydroponic farms for 

Mpofana Municipality is underway;
•     A number of projects are being screened for 

the TIKZN Technical Assistance Fund from 
Impendle Municipality;

•    The Ophongolo Local Municipality 
hydroponic farms are being pursued in 
partnership with the TIKZN Knowledge 
Management Unit; and

•     A service provider will be appointed to 
conduct a municipal profile for 

      Ugu Municipality.

1.3 Participate in the development of the KwaZulu-Natal 
Investment strategy

Two service providers were appointed by the 
Department of Economic Development and 
Tourism to develop the Export and Investment 
Promotion Strategies. TIKZN has been a vehicle 
in the development of both documents. 
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INITIATIVES   

1.1 Implement facilitation methodology for expanding 
businesses with strategic partners

Efforts were made to enhance the relationship 
with the dti and DHA within the regulatory 
environment of investments as well as by 
establishing linkages with municipalities through 
the facilitation of expansions. TIKZN was to also 
implement a monitoring and evaluation schedule 
in order to facilitate expansions for KwaZulu-
Natal companies. 

INDICATORS

Number of jobs retained 600 1 421 1 421 jobs were saved through TIKZN facilitation 
to retain the eight companies within the province. 

Number of expanded 
businesses

5 7 Seven companies were assisted with expansion 
in various areas in the province: (1) Raymond's 
Furniture, on the South Coast, expanded its 
business by accessing new machinery, which 
also resulted in 30 new jobs being created; (2) 
Unity Food Products; (3) Flamboyant Lodge; 
(4) Klips n Things; (5) eBandla Hotel (Ballito); 
(6) Direct Way Roofing; and (7) Apollo Tyres in 
Ladysmith. 

Number of intervention 
activities facilitated for 
businesses in distress

20 30 Against a target of 20, TIKZN managed to assist 
30 companies in distress. GTP Concrete, Natal 
Pepperdew, African Cats, Evertrade Feeds, 
Flamboyant Lodge, ATB Coaches, Advafusion, 
Tai Yuen Textiles, Woodstreet Furniture, Shu 
Powders, Nana Fai Investments, Ramsay 
Engineering, Mortimer, IJ Components, Hugo 
Steel Works & Machinery, African Cat Yacht-
Building, Mobi-Tech, Educor Group, Raymond’s 
Furniture, eBandla Hotel, Wesco Fabrics and 
Nguni Shades. TIKZN also facilitated a BR&E 
programme in Ladysmith, where six participating 
companies were assisted with access to 
incentives, a 5% rates reduction, advanced 
payment and rates incentives for property 
improvement within the CBD. 

Number of BR&E Programmes 
reviewed

2 1 One BR&E programme was facilitated during the 
year at Empangeni. This was due to increased 
demand for the new retention programme.  

Number of retention 
programmes implemented

2 4 Planned targets were exceeded when four 
programmes were implemented in the following 
areas: Ladysmith (through Co-operative 
Governance and Traditional Affairs who bought-
in to roll-out of BR&E to all awarded small town 
rehabilitation municipalities. One programme also 
commenced at Ilembe during the fourth quarter 
of 2010/11 financial year.   

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  dti – department of trade and industry  •  DHA – Department of Home Affairs
•  BR&E – Business Retention and Expansion  •  CBD - Central Business District
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INITIATIVES  

1.2 Host a business sector sustainability seminar TIKZN launched an initiative to develop and 
contribute to the content of the KwaZulu-
Natal Business Summit in order to highlight 
key business imperatives for sustainability. As 
a result, a Clothing and Textiles Seminar was 
hosted at the Royal Hotel. 

1.3 With strategic partners, facilitate and actively 
participate in BR&E programmes for municipalities

TIKZN facilitated the Ladysmith and Hattiesburg 
relationship. Funding through Sister Cities 
International was committed, with a committee 
established to oversee the rolling-out of these 
funds to key projects in the municipality.  

Annual Performance Reports
2010/11 Financial Year (continued)

8

INDICATORS

No. of large municipality 
investments packaged 

8 13 13 investment opportunities were packaged for 
the following municipalities: (i) iNkandla, Zululand 
District, (ii) uMshwati, (iii) Ilembe District, Amajuba 
District, eThekwini and uMsumduzi.

No. of committed investments 
from packaged opportunities 

1 0 There were no committed investments from 
packaged opportunities during the 2010/11 
financial year. TIKZN is currently working on 
the possible conversion of gas manufacturing, 
manufacturing building materials and dry walls 
from gypsum projects. 

Programme 2: Business Retention (continued)

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS

Programme 3: Package Large Investments (>R50m)

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS

PRIMARY 
MEASURE

Number of packaged 
investment opportunities

14 17 17 Investment opportunities were packaged 
for potential investors. Packaged opportunities 
included import substitution opportunities, as 
comprehensive research is conducted on various 
opportunities specific to and suitable for the 
KwaZulu-Natal business environment. The 17 
opportunities are: 
Production of Aloe Gel, seawater desalination, 
manufacturing of Set Top Boxes, polypropylene, 
polyethylene beneficiation, essential oils, cut 
flowers, hydroponic agriculture, micro-algae, 
vegetable and fruit canning, bio-coal, active 
pharmaceutical ingredients, beef production 
feedlot activities, organic tea, manufacturing 
polysilicon for solar power, manufacturing 
of lithium batteries and smart feeder-diesel 
electronic fuel.    

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal
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INDICATORS

No. of packaged project 
opportunities in prioritised 
development corridors 

6 10 As per the Provincial Spatial Development 
Strategy, 10 projects were being developed 
and were expected to fall within eThekwini, 
uMsunduzi, Ilembe, uMhlathuze, iNkandla 
(Zululand District), uMshwati and Amajuba. 

No. of import substitution 
opportunities packaged 

6 11 11 import substitution opportunities were 
packaged during 2010/11 as follows: 
Production of Aloe Gel and associated aloe-
based products, polypropylene beneficiation, 
polyethylene beneficiation, essential oils, with an 
estimated value of R55 million, bio-coal, active 
pharmaceutical ingredients, beef production 
feedlot activities, organic tea, manufacturing of 
polysilicon for solar power and manufacturing of 
feeder-diesel electronic fuel.

INITIATIVES

1.1 Identify countries which are successful in sectors 
prioritised as strategic for KwaZulu-Natal to undertake 
technical visits

A list of key sectors were identified and linked to 
a number of countries in the Country-targeting 
Plan for the undertaking of fact-finding missions. 

1.2 Establish a round-table discussion regarding strategic 
project development initiatives and opportunities

Fruitful discussions with various role-players 
took place during the year, with a major highlight 
including packaging opportunities with the 
Economic Development Unit of the eThekwini 
Municipality in October 2010. Another meeting 
was held between Ilembe, eThekwini, TIKZN and 
developers in order to discuss Wewe-Driefontein 
Mixed-use Development so as to determine 
the feasibility of this proposed industrial 
development which forms part of the Wewe-
Driefontein Node. 

1.3 Undertake a study to identify available raw materials 
and feedstock which may be beneficiated and provide 
processes for high value-added products

Terms of Reference were developed for the 
study. The Richards Bay Industrial Development 
Zone (RBIDZ) indicated interest in the outcome 
of the study and this resulted in the re-drafting 
of the Terms of Reference to cover areas in the 
RBIDZ. TIKZN and the RBIDZ were to share the 
costs of the study and the study was anticipated 
to take place during the 2011/12 financial year. 

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal 

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS
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PRIMARY 
MEASURE

Total of new markets 
developed for individual 
companies

32 58 58 companies were assisted by TIKZN to 
develop markets in the following countries: 
Kenya, Germany, Madagascar, Colombia, 
Mauritius, the USA, Zimbabwe, Botswana, 
Angola, Namibia, Greece, France, Switzerland, 
Italy, the United Kingdom, Canada, Hungary, 
Sweden, Australia, Finland and in major South 
African cities, such as: Johannesburg and
Cape Town. 

Annual Performance Reports
2010/11 Financial Year (continued)

8

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  USA – United States of America  •  SAITEX – Southern African International Trade Exhibition
•  dti – department of trade and industry

INDICATORS

Rand value of trade facilitated 
by TIKZN

R50m 0 This indicator was reviewed, but not measured 
for the year, as per Board approval (22 October 
2010) following challenges to disclose turnover 
from trade deals by assisted companies. 

No. of capacity-building 
programmes in partnership 
with Trade Point South Africa 
Durban

12 17 Working in partnership with Trade Point 
South Africa Durban, TIKZN facilitated 17 
capacity-building programmes. Various topics 
were covered in these workshops on export 
awareness, such as the export services offered 
by dti, a marketing and sales strategy in an 
economic meltdown and the costing of products 
for global markets.  

No. of  Africa Market Seminars 
facilitated for KwaZulu-Natal-
based businesses

12 23 A total of 23 Africa Market Seminars were held, 
focusing on doing business in Uganda, Malawi 
and Zimbabwe. These seminars were held in 
Pietermaritzburg, Richards Bay and Durban. 
Although a number of seminars were held during 
the year, securing African countries to commit 
to these programmes remained a challenge 
and efforts were made to engage economic 
representatives in designated African countries 
to assist the organisation. 

No. of companies participating 
in export promotion 
programmes

48 60 A total of 60 companies were assisted by TIKZN 
to participate in Export Promotion Programmes 
during the 2010/11 financial year. The export 
promotion programmes included the SMM 
Conference and Exhibition in Germany, Santa 
Fe in the USA, Shanghai Expo, Madagascar 
and SAITEX in Johannesburg. Some of the 
companies assisted were: Vardhan Power, 
Gedore Tools, Mzanzi Fridge, Jabulani Jewellery, 
Usisi Designs, Switched on Trade, Africa Ignite 
Elegant Line Chemicals and Mpilende Foods. 

Programme 4: Export Development 

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS
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INDICATORS

No. of market access 
interventions facilitated 
for KwaZulu-Natal-based 
businesses

28 67 TIKZN facilitated 67 interventions as follows: 
ICTE Workshop, in collaboration with the 
Department of Economic Development and 
Tourism, the KwaZulu-Natal ICTE Cluster and 
SmartXchange. Mpilende Foods applied for the 
Fancy Food Fair in New York and Code 2000 
was assisted with the application for EAPIC 
in Kenya. Assistance with EMIA applications, 
claim processes and the facilitation of business 
linkages was provided. Companies assisted 
included KZN Resins, Saddler Belts, Scott 
Bader, Steelkor Windows, Out of Wood, Iqlaas 
Foods, Gedore Tools, Clear Horizon, Nautica 
Organic and Impro Technologies.

No. of companies assisted 
to obtain export registration 
codes

36 39 The target was exceeded when 39 companies 
were assisted to obtain SARS export registration 
codes during 2010/11 financial year. 

No. of export leads generated 
from TIKZN’s Gauteng Office

120 140 140 leads were generated from the Gauteng 
Office, resulting in significant business 
opportunities for emerging and established 
businesses. During the first quarter, Edison 
Corporation and Man Trucks Expansion were 
among the leads generated, while Chemsol  
progressed to a deal. While a number of leads 
were generated during the year, the fourth 
quarter proved to be most fruitful with 129 
export leads being generated due to the number 
of events which occurred.

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  ICTE – Information Communication Technology and Electronics
•  EMIA – Export Marketing and Investment Assistance •  EAPIC – East African Power Industry Convention
•  KZN – KwaZulu-Natal  •  SARS – South African Revenue Service
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PRIMARY 
MEASURE

Percentage of awareness from 
perception survey

50% 0 No survey was conducted during the year under 
review. 

INITIATIVES

1.1 Develop and implement a Market Development Plan 
for Provincial Stakeholders (Municipalities, Clusters and 
Export Councils).

The Market Development Plan was developed 
during the year and was meant to pro-actively 
provide information about markets targeted 
by strategic partners, strategic stakeholders, 
KwaZulu-Natal-based industry associations, 
KwaZulu-Natal chambers, the KwaZulu-Natal 
Export Council, the KwaZulu-Natal Exporters 
Club and KwaZulu-Natal-based exporters and 
companies which will be incorporated into 
TIKZN’s operational planning activities. This is 
a continuous activity and the organisation has 
provisionally identified missions and exhibitions, 
as contained in the TIKZN Strategic Outreach 
Calendar, for the 2011/2012 financial year.

1.2 Develop capacity and market development 
programmes in order to profile KwaZulu-Natal trade 
logistics infrastructure.
Actively participate in the development of the KwaZulu-
Natal Export Strategy.

The KwaZulu-Natal Export Strategy Research 
Report makes reference to issues regarding 
KwaZulu-Natal trade logistics infrastructure, 
while the KwaZulu-Natal Export Strategy 
provides a road-map for KwaZulu-Natal’s trade 
logistics infrastructure. The KwaZulu-Natal 
Export Strategy was presented to the KwaZulu-
Natal Economic Cluster on the 23rd March 
2011. 
TIKZN played a major role in the development of 
the KwaZulu-Natal Export Strategy, which was 
also presented to TIKZN staff on 4 April 2011. 

Annual Performance Reports
2010/11 Financial Year (continued)
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Programme 4: Export Development

Programme 5: Marketing and Communications

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS

INDICATORS

Number of website visits, or 
‘hits’ generated

25 000 269 693 Throughout the year the countries which 
dominated website hits included the USA, 
the United Kingdom, China, India, Germany, 
Australia, Uganda, Canada, Egypt and South 
Africa. 

Number of relevant website 
enquiries received 

253 304 The majority of enquiries received were 
concentrated in the areas of investment 
promotion, export development, marketing 
and knowledge management. There was also 
growing interest in the business retention and 
human resource side of the organisation. 

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal   •  USA – United States of America
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INDICATORS

Number of TIKZN-related 
articles published 

60 50 Articles carried in publications during the year 
included: Support for the Distressed Companies 
Workshop, TIKZN’s hosting of an European 
Union delegation, the passing of the TIKZN Bill, 
a Ndwedwe town project and a piece on helping 
businesses reach their full potential. Publications 
which provided exposure to TIKZN included The 
African Leader, IOL Property, The Citizen and the 
Witness.

Number of strategic events 
hosted in targeted destinations

3 7 In an effort to further increase awareness of 
services and business locations, TIKZN hosted 
prestigious events, such as the Adept Airmotive 
launch at Virginia Airport during the first 
quarter, the Vodacom Durban July, the Durban 
International Boat & Lifestyle Show, a World Cup 
of Golf Tournament delegate-boosting initiative 
in Thailand, the 13th EU-African Conference 
in the United Kingdom and Germany and the 
Economists Summit in Sandton.

Number of exhibitions in which 
the organisation participated

6 10 Most of the exhibitions attended proved fruitful, 
with a number of leads generated. Exhibitions in 
the organisation’s schedule included the Tourism 
Indaba Trade Show, the International Boat Show, 
Durban Film Art, The Royal Show, SAITEX, the 
SA Pavilion at the Shanghai Expo, the Hamburg 
Boat Show, the Zululand Show, the Design 
Indaba and Automechanika.

Number of adverts placed in 
targeted markets

8 11 TIKZN vigorously set about creating awareness 
of its services and the province through the 
media, with the hosting of journalists from 
the United Kingdom, the USA and the Czech 
Republic.  

Adverts were placed in targeted markets as 
follows: New European Economy, Business 
in Durban (featured on a quarterly basis), the 
Financial Mail, the Little Black Book, African 
Banker and Sawubona. 

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  EU – European Union  •  USA – United States of America
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PRIMARY 
MEASURE

Number of new knowledge 
outputs produced and 
disseminated (number of 
reports)

10 20 TIKZN continued to promote access to 
information relating to economic data and 
sector-specific information on a quarterly basis. 
Quarterly publications included Economic 
Review Reports, the Ezomnotho booklet, in 
conjunction with Department of Economic 
Development and Tourism, the KwaZulu-
Natal Business Barometer, the KwaZulu-Natal 
Investment Monitor, Country Briefs and KwaZulu-
Natal's Trade Products. An Investment Protocol 
Handbook was also produced, scheduled for 
launch early in the 2011/12 
financial year.  

INITIATIVES

1.1 Finalise new branding for international platforms, in line 
with IMC/Brand SA 

Working in partnership with Tourism KwaZulu-
Natal, new provincial branding was finalised 
towards the end of financial year and approved 
by Cabinet. This involved the finalisation of the 
logo and development of a tagline, in line with 
the national brand alignment initiative.  

1.2 Finalise Destination Marketing Plan A contract was signed with CNBC Africa for the 
promotion of the KwaZulu-Natal destination. In 
addition, other marketing efforts involving foreign 
representatives, South African embassies, 
country targeting and the dti’s offices abroad 
were identified as mechanisms for the effective 
distribution of TIKZN information and marketing 
materials, such as Doing Business in KwaZulu-
Natal and SA @ a Glance, which were distributed 
to all South African Embassies and dti offices 
around the world.

1.3 Develop a Diplomatic Protocol Handbook This initiative was completed in December 2010 
and was distributed to targeted markets as 
part of the organisation’s planned information 
dissemination programme.  

Annual Performance Reports
2010/11 Financial Year (continued)
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OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
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ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS

Programme 5: Marketing and Communications (continued)

Programme 6: Knowledge Management

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  IMC – International Marketing Council  •  SA – South Africa
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INDICATORS

Number of sector value 
propositions

10 12 TIKZN continued promoting prioritised sectors 
as regards economic development within the 
province. Prioritised sectors included agro-
processing, capital equipment, tourism, rubber 
and plastics. Another major initiative for South 
African companies and sector information at 
national level, Who-Owns-Whom, will assist 
TIKZN to customise sectors identified by 
investment promotion managers into KwaZulu-
Natal sector value propositions. 

Number of economic review 
reports

4 14 Economic review reports were compiled 
independently and in conjunction with the 
Department of Economic Development and 
Tourism. These included the Ezomnotho 
Economic Review, which is also reviewed by 
Board on a quarterly basis. The KwaZulu-
Natal Business Barometer and KwaZulu-Natal 
Investment Monitor continued providing recent 
and reliable statistics, while assistance was 
provided towards the obtaining of information 
relating to Country Briefs and Dynamic and Most 
Traded Products Report.

Number of economic sector 
information-sharing sessions 
facilitated 

6 6 Information-sharing sessions held during the 
year under review covered such topics as: 
Cost competitiveness of automotive production 
in Thailand, improving the competitiveness 
of KwaZulu-Natal’s electronic and software 
development sectors, the logistics sub-sector, 
capital goods and creative industry sectors.

Information systems availability 
– excluding factors beyond 
control  

95% 99% TIKZN managed to maintain the information 
system's availability at 99% throughout the 
year. As part of its compliance to King III, the 
organisation has received assurances from First 
Technology. 

INITIATIVES

1.1 Develop IT governance framework, as per King III 
guidelines and IT risk management framework

TIKZN adopted the best practice IT Risk 
Framework of ISACA, as per King III. 

1.2 Undertake impact analysis study linked to TIKZN's 
activities

A service provider was appointed towards the 
end of the financial year and an impact analysis, 
linked to TIKZN activities, is set to yield results in 
the new year. 

1.3 Review and update the country and investor targeting 
strategy

A strategy on country targeting was approved 
by the Management Committee. Country briefs 
were developed for targeted countries.

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  ISACA – Information Systems Audit and Control Assosciation

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS
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8 Annual Performance Reports
2010/11 Financial Year (continued)

PRIMARY 
MEASURE

Percentage aggregate 
employee performance levels

65% 70% The aggregate performance for the organisation 
matched the stretched target. The Human 
Resource Department continued  encouraging 
members of staff to undertake relevant further 
tertiary studies for the mutual benefit of both the 
individual and the organisation. 

Programme 7: Human Resources

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS

INDICATORS

Number of staff trained 46 48 TIKZN has a staff complement of 46. The desired 
goal is to ensure that all members of staff look 
to continuously upgrading their skills in areas 
relevant to their job descriptions. During the 
2010/11 financial year, the majority of members 
of staff attended training sessions and were also 
granted financial assistance to further their own 
long-term studies. Key skills obtained included 
CIPRO Company Registration, Project Financing 
and Real Estate Finance and Cost Capital. 

Improved staff morale 1 Survey 1 As part of its staff retention exercise, the 
organisation’s management conducted a 
staff moral survey to establish the level of 
motivation within the organisation. As a result, an 
organisational culture workshop was scheduled 
for early in the 2011/12 financial year in an 
effort to develop a productive, innovative and 
motivated staff complement. 

Number of programmes to 
enhance staff wellness

12 10 TIKZN has achieved much towards promoting 
staff member wellness. A number of health talks, 
financial management and social awareness 
programmes were held during the year under 
review. The majority of participants in the 
organisation’s health programmes were awarded 
certificates for their dedication and commitment 
to the various activities undertaken.

INITIATIVES

1.1 Develop an Employment Equity Plan During the 2010/11 financial year, TIKZN 
developed an Employment Equity Policy and 
established an Employment Equity Committee, so 
complying with labour legislation. 

1.2 Review all job profiles in line with company strategy 
linked to the unit’s KPAs 

All job profiles within the organisation were 
reviewed and verified by an independent 
consultant during the review period. This exercise 
was essential in terms of retaining and enhancing 
key skills within TIKZN, as well as for identifying 
and successfully addressing skills gaps.   

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  KPA – Key Performance Areas  •  CIPRO – Companies & Intellectual Property Registration Office
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INITIATIVES

1.3 Develop and implement remuneration strategy A remuneration policy was developed and work-
shopped with members of staff during the review 
period, before being forwarded to the Board for 
approval early in the 2011/12 financial year. As a 
result of this move, a Recognition and Rewards 
Committee was established as a mechanism to 
evaluate and recognise performance excellence 
within the organisation.

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  SARS – South African Revenue Service  •  ICT – Information Communications Technology
•  SAQA – South African Qualifications Authority •  USA – United States of America

PRIMARY 
MEASURE

Number of TIKZN interventions 
facilitated through relevant 
authorities

8 10 TIKZN continued striving for the creation of a 
conducive business environment for investors, 
local and foreign. A number of efforts were 
recognised and adhered to during the 2010/11 
financial year, resulting in eight companies being 
assisted subsequent to TIKZN’s intervention and 
engagement with relevant authorities. Although 
the focus was province-wide, a number of 
interventions occurred in Ladysmith specifically. 
Authorities involved included the MEC for 
Economic Development and Tourism, ESKOM, 
the Department of Labour, SARS and Amafa. 
The formation of the South African Maritime and 
Safety Initiative saw the inclusion of the sugar 
industry in the Energy Regulator's Assessment 
of Alternative Energy and the formalisation of ICT 
industry to address the duty imposed on parts 
versus fully-assembled units. This matter was 
ongoing. 

Programme 8: Advocacy

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS

INDICATORS

Number of impediments 
identified, in conjunction with 
relevant stakeholders

15 23 Efforts made by TIKZN yielded positive results, 
including the dti incentive payout process being 
fast-tracked, business permit recommendation 
letters being processed, engagement with SAQA 
for the accreditation of qualifications for foreign 
employees, obtaining of fair trade accreditation 
for crafters entering the USA and European 
markets and the obtaining of merseta funding 
for companies on training programmes, which 
initiative was conducted in partnership with the 
Tooling Association.  



INDICATORS

Number of strategic 
interventions through TIKZN 
facilitation 

12 12 Four municipalities benefited from TIKZN 
interventions, including Mandeni, Newcastle, 
Ladysmith (Chinese businesses in the region 
on compliance with the regulatory framework) 
and the Ugu District Municipality (intervention 
in the furniture industry). Other interventions 
included arts and crafts in Ilembe, the inclusion 
of the BR&E Programme in the COGTA 
programmes, the EIA process for marine and 
hydraulics, linkages created for IJ Components 
with a USA-based company (Johnson Control) 
and BEE companies which intend supplying 
the automotive sector (co-ordination with the 
Durban Automotive Cluster). The South African 
Reserve Bank was engaged on behalf of Foreign 
Economic Representatives to update and clarify 
misunderstandings regarding foreign exchange 
control regulations and future plans
for deregulation.

Number of interventions 
facilitated emanating from the 
Investment Climate Survey

1 Survey 1 An Investment Climate Survey was conducted 
during the 2010/11 financial year. TIKZN set 
about implementing recommendations emanating 
from the Investment Climate Survey report. 
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8 Annual Performance Reports
2010/11 Financial Year (continued)

Programme 8: Advocacy (continued)

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS

INITIATIVES

1.1 Develop and implement a TIKZN Advocacy Policy 
Manual

A Policy Advocacy Manual was approved by the 
Management Committee. The manual was set 
to assist in outlining the process the organisation 
follows in advocating for the creation of an 
investor-friendly environment. 

1.2 Establish an Advocacy Committee with broad 
representation

Recognising the existence of forums within the 
province mandated to promote Policy Advocacy, 
TIKZN joined forces with existing groups, 
with the objective of the collective lobbying of 
decision-makers and to influence Provincial and 
National Governments regarding key policies 
which impact on business. 

1.3 Develop and implement a tool to measure the 
Municipal Investment Climate

This initiative was linked to the KwaZulu-Natal 
Investment Climate Survey. TIKZN set about 
implementing recommendations from the report 
and the tool will be further informed by the 
monitoring and review of the implementation of 
recommendations. 

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  BR&E – Business Retention and Expansion
•  COGTA – Co-operative Governance and Traditional Affairs  •  EIA – Environmental Impact Assessment
•  BEE – Black Economic Empowerment  •  USA – United States of America
 



PRIMARY 
MEASURE

Ensure that there are no 
qualified reports from external 
audit

0 Awaiting 
audit results

The external audit was in progress. An interim 
audit was conducted during fourth quarter and 
a report was presented to the Audit Committee 
for noting. 

INDICATORS

Percentage of external audit 
findings addressed

80% 91% TIKZN addressed 91% of the external audit 
findings from the previous audit. This assisted 
in strengthening internal controls and audit 
readiness levels. 

Percentage of internal audit 
findings addressed   

80% 90% With 90% of the audit findings being addressed, 
TIKZN has assured the Audit Committee 
that internal audit services provided to the 
organisation by the Provincial Treasury are being 
fully utilised.

Risk Assessment conducted 
on time

1 1 In line with King III, organisational risk 
management has been elevated to Board 
level and is monitored bi-annually. Reports are 
submitted to the Audit Committee and Board.

Implement all changes 
identified by the PFMA Gap 
Analysis   

70% 80% Following the PFMA gap analysis conducted 
in 2009, a check-list concerning Treasury 
regulations indicated that TIKZN is 80% 
compliant with the PFMA. This is monitored on a 
quarterly basis.  

INITIATIVES

1.1 Set-up a Technical Assistance Fund and establish 
procedures for internal and monitoring controls 

A Technical Assistance Fund Policy was 
approved by the Board. A committee, 
comprising the Chief Executive Officer 
and members of senior management, was 
established to assess applications received for 
funding. The committee convenes on a regular 
basis.  

1.2 Review and update Terms of Reference for all 
committees established in terms of King III

Committees to be established have been 
identified and once King III has been formally 
adopted by the Board, the Governance Manual 
will be aligned to the King III report.

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  PFMA - Public Finance Management Act
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Programme 9: Corporate Governance

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS
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8 Annual Performance Reports
2010/11 Financial Year (continued)

Programme 10: Black Economic Empowerment

•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  BEE – Black Economic Empowerment  •  PPPFA – Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act
•  BR&E – Business Retention and Expansion  •  B-BBEE – Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment

PRIMARY 
MEASURE

Percentage value of total Black 
Economic Empowerment 
transactions

70% 70% TIKZN is fully compliant with Black Economic 
Empowerment (BEE) requirements and ensures 
a balance of suppliers with a BEE component. 
All four projects committed during the 2010/11 
financial year had an element of BEE. The annual 
target of 70% was met.

INDICATORS

Percentage of TIKZN supply 
chain management adherence 
to PPPFA

60% 61% A procurement schedule is submitted to 
the Procurement Committee on a quarterly 
basis outlining procured goods and services 
containing an element of BEE. TIKZN adheres 
to the PPPFA in terms of the supply chain 
management. 

Number of BEE companies 
assisted with obtaining export 
registration codes

25 29 A total of 33 companies were assisted with 
obtaining exporter registration codes. Of this 
number 29 companies were BEE-based. 

Percentage of committed 
projects with a BEE component 

80% 92% All 4 committed projects had an element of BEE. 
As a result, 92% was achieved against a target 
of 80%.

Number of BEE companies 
which benefited from the 
TIKZN Financial Scheme

20 27 Compared against the previous reporting period, 
the BEE Finance Scheme has benefited a 
number of KwaZulu-Natal-based companies to 
the extent that results yielded generated trade 
deals and investments in the short to medium-
term. 

Number of BEE companies 
participating in market 
development programmes

33 139 TIKZN’s market development programmes 
attracted tremendous interest within the 
province, with 139 participating companies.

Number of businesses assisted 
with BEE compliance

12 93 The BR&E unit assisted a number of companies 
with BEE verification, including Wesco Fabrics 
(Jacobs), CCI (Mount Edgecombe) and the 
Royal Hotel (Ladysmith). A total of 87 companies 
attended a Broad-Based Black Economic 
Empowerment workshop hosted by TIKZN 
and covering the following key elements: the 
KwaZulu-Natal Provincial Black Economic 
Strategy, Black Business Supplier Development 
Programme and B-BBEE verification processes 
and procedures.

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS



INITIATIVES

1.1 Develop and implement linkages and mentorship 
programmes for BEE-based companies, in conjunction 
with strategic partners

Working in partnership with strategic 
partners, TIKZN facilitated an Automotive BEE 
Development Week programme with a number 
of BEE-based companies. 

1.2 Develop and implement capacity-building and 
international market programmes for BEE-based 
companies

The key milestone for this initiative was to 
develop linkages with an international university 
to capacitate BEE companies. Linkages with 
University of Wisconsin were established. Three 
companies participated.

1.3 Establish linkages for BEE-based companies with 
Government departments, regarding their current and 
future product requirements

The Department of Health and the Department 
of Correctional Services were identified for the 
development of linkages with their procurement 
departments so as to ascertain procurement 
needs.
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•  TIKZN – Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal  •  BEE – Black Economic Empowerment

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
& INITIATIVES 

ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL 
OUTPUTS

PERFORMANCE RESULTS
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Annual Financial Statements
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9.1 Administration	

Directors	 Mr	PH	Staude												(Chairperson)	 	 	 	

	 Cllr.	DCP	Mazibuko					(Deputy	Chairperson)	 	 	 	

	 Mr	KM	Govender	 	 	 	

	 Dr	NS	Msomi		 	 	 	

	 Mr	J	Ngcobo	 	 	 	

	 Dr	P	Sokhela	 	 	 	

	 Cllr.	AF	Rehman	 	 	 	

	 Ald.	SB	Larkan	 	 	 	

	 Ms	DC	Myeni

	 	 Ms	L	Ngcobo

	 	 Dr	M	Sutcliffe	 (resigned	28	May	2010)

	 	 Mr	T	Morwe

	 	 Mr	M	Zakwe	(Member	of	the	Audit	Committee)	

Registration Number 1998/011946/08

   
External Auditors Auditor-General

Bankers Standard	Bank	of	South	Africa	Ltd

Postal Address	 PO	Box	4245,	Durban,	4000	 	

Physical Address Trade	&	Investment	House	 	 	 	

	 	 Kingsmead	Office	Park	 	 	 	

	 	 Kingsmead	Boulevard	 	 	 	

	 	 Durban	 	 	

	 	 4001
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9.2 Statement of Responsibility by the Board of 
Directors

The Directors acknowledge that they are required by the 
Companies Act to prepare Financial Statements each 
year, that fairly present the state of affairs, result and cash 
fl ows for the year and that the independent auditors’ 
responsibility is limited to reporting on the fi nancial 
statements.      
  
It is the responsibility of the Directors to ensure that 
the organisation maintains a system of internal controls 
designed to provide reasonable assurance that the 
organisation’s assets are safeguarded against material 
loss or unauthorised use and that transactions are 
properly authorised and recorded. The control system 
includes written accounting and control policies and 
procedures as well as drawn lines of accountability
and delegation of authority.     
  
All employees are required to maintain the highest ethical 
and integrity standards in ensuring that the organisation’s 
business practices are concluded in a manner, which in 
all reasonable circumstances, is above reproach. The 
concept of reasonable assurance recognises that the 
control procedures should not exceed the expected 
benefi ts. The organisation maintains its internal control 
system through management review. Nothing has 
come to the attention of the Directors to indicate any 

breakdown in the functions of these internal controls 
during the year, which resulted in any material loss to
the organisation.      
 
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared 
on the going concern basis. The Board of Directors has 
adopted this basis of accounting after having made 
enquiries of management and given due consideration 
to information presented to the Board, including budgets 
and cash fl ow projections for the year ahead and key 
assumptions and accounting policies relating thereto. 
Accordingly, the Directors have no reason to believe that 
the organisation will not continue as a going concern in 
the year ahead.      
 
The Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 
March 2011, set out on pages 88 to 112, were approved 
by the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee on 27 
May 2011 through delegation by the Board. The Annual 
Financial Statements were submitted to the Auditor- 
General for auditing in terms of section 55 (1) (c) of the 
Public Finance Management Act of 1999.

The Annual Financial Statements were subsequently 
approved by the Board of Directors at a meeting held on 
02 September 2011 and are signed on its behalf by: 

…………………………
PH Staude
Chairperson

………………………… …………………………
ZA Gwala
Chief Executive Offi cer           
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9.3 Corporate	Governance	Statement

These	include	management	of	conflict	of	interest,	
ensuring	full	and	timely	disclosures	of	material	matters	
affecting	the	company,	ensuring	the	implementation	
of	an	effective	compliance	framework	and	the	
implementation	of	a	Code	of	Conduct,	as	well	as	safety,	
health	and	environmental	issues	that	may	impact	on	
the	organisation.	On	the	other	hand,	Management	is	
responsible	and	accountable	to	the	Board	for	designing,	
implementing	and	monitoring	the	processes	outlined	
above	and	integrating	them	into	the	day-to-day	
operational	activities.	

Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee

The	Committee	comprises	a	minimum	of	three	members,	
including	the	Chairperson,	nominated	from	the	members	
of	the	Board.	The	Committee	also	reports	that	it	has	
adopted	appropriate	Terms	of	Reference	
and	the	Audit	Charter	and	has	discharged	its	duties	
accordingly.	

The	primary	role	of	the	Audit,	Risk	and	Compliance	
Committee	is	to	ensure	the	integrity	of	financial	reporting,	
the	audit	process,	the	maintenance	of	a	sound	risk	
management	and	internal	control	system.	In	pursuing	
these	objectives,	the	Committee	oversees	relations	with	
the	external	auditors,	scope	of	work,	the	annual	audit	and	
the	applicable	levels	of	materiality.

The	Committee	monitors	development	in	Corporate	
Governance	to	ensure	that	Trade	&	Investment	
KwaZulu-Natal	continues	to	apply	high	and	appropriate	
standards.	The	Audit,	Risk	and	Compliance	Committee’s	
recommendations	are	submitted	to	the	Board	for	
approval.	

The	primary	functions	of	the	Committee	are	as	follows:

Financial Statements: 
•	 The	Committee	examines	and	reviews	the	Annual	

Financial	Statements	with	management	and	external	
auditors	to	ensure	that	they	are	complete	and	
consistent	with	information	provided	to	them	prior	to	
submitting	to	the	regulators;

•	 Review	with	management	and	external	auditors	
the	results	of	the	audit,	including	any	difficulties	

encountered;
•	 Review	the	Annual	Financial	Statements	and	consider	

the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used;	and
•	 Review	with	management	and	external	auditors	all	

matters	that	are	required	to	be	communicated	to	
stakeholders	under	Generally	Accepted	Auditing	
Standards	(GAAP).

Internal Controls and Risk 
Management:
The	Audit,	Risk	and	Compliance	Committee	maintains	
the	overall	responsibility	for	Risk	Management,	
while	Management	is	accountable	for	the	design,	
implementation	and	monitoring	of	this	process.

The	Committee	defines	acceptable	risk	tolerance	
levels	and	determines	the	continuous	monitoring	and	
control	processes	required	across	business-specific	risk	
areas,	to	provide	the	basis	for	regular	and	exceptional	
reporting	to	the	Business	Management	and	Management	
Committees,	as	well	as	the	Board.

The	effectiveness	of	internal	controls	and	Risk	
Management	mechanisms	lies	in	regular	management	
reporting.	The	Chief	Financial	Officer	reports	every	quarter	
on	the	operation	of	the	financial	and	accounting	control	
frameworks	and	the	Board	also	receives	assurance	
from	the	Audit,	Risk	and	Compliance	Committee,	which	
derives	its	information	from	regular	audit	reports	on	risk	
and	internal	control	throughout	the	organisation	(Trade	&	
Investment	KwaZulu-Natal).

The	following	mechanisms	are	implemented	to	ensure	the	
effectiveness	of	internal	controls:
•	 The	Audit,	Risk	and	Compliance	Committee	shall	

consider	the	effectiveness	of	the	organisation’s	internal	
control	system	and	information	technology	security	
and	control;

•	 Reviewing	the	control	procedures	followed	by	
management	and	assessing	their	effectiveness;

•	 Reviewing	the	controls	designed	to	ensure	that	assets	
are	safe-guarded;

•	 Reviewing	the	Fraud	and	Prevention	Plan	implemented	
to	detect	fraud;

•	 Reviewing	Risk	Management	and	related	policies;	and	
•	 Reviewing	compliance	with	the	prescribed	accounting	

framework.

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal is fully committed to sound and effective Corporate 
Governance standards. The Board is responsible for the establishment of a Risk 
Management approach, effectiveness of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 
and Remuneration Committee, as well as other Corporate Governance structures.
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Internal Audit:
An important role of the Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee is to monitor, guide and supervise the 
functioning of the internal audit to ensure that the services 
of the internal audit and external audit are sufficiently 
clarified and co-ordinated to provide an objective 
overview of the organisation’s operating systems of 
internal control and reporting.

These include the following:
• Annual approval of the internal Audit Charter to ensure 

adherence to best practices;
• Reviewing the adequacy of corrective action taken in 

response to significant internal audit findings;
• Reviewing the internal audit plans to ensure that high 

risk areas have been identified and that mitigation 
strategies have been identified and adopted;

• Reviewing significant matters reported by the internal 
audit function;

• Assessing the adequacy of performance of the internal 
audit function;

• Reviewing the co-operation and co-ordination 
between the internal and external audit functions; and

• Evaluating the independence and effectiveness of the 
internal audit function, including compliance with the 
Institute of Internal Auditors International Standards for 
the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing.

External Audit and Compliance:
• Reviewing the external auditors’ proposed audit 

scope, approach and co-ordination of audit effort with 
internal audit; 

• Reviewing and confirming the independence of the 
external auditors;

• Reviewing the external auditors’ observations as 
presented in the management reports and the 
adequacy of the management response;

• On a regular basis, meet separately with the external 
auditors to discuss any matters that the committee or 
auditors feel should be discussed in private;

• Reviewing the effectiveness of systems of monitoring 
compliance with laws and regulations and the results 
of Management’s investigation and follow-up of any 
instances of non-compliance; and

• Reviewing processes for communicating the Code 
of Conduct to Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal 
personnel.

Sustainability Reporting and Other 
Responsibilities:
• Regular reporting to the Board about Audit, Risk and 

Compliance Committee activities, issues and related 
recommendations;

• Facilitating communication between internal audit, 
external audit and Executive Management;

• Performing any other activities as requested by the 
Accounting Authority;

• Instituting and overseeing special investigations as 
needed;

• Reviewing and assessing the adequacy of the Audit 
Charter on an annual basis;

• Ensuring that all responsibilities, as outlined in the 
charter, are carried out; and

• Evaluating the Committee’s and individual member’s 
performance on a regular basis.

…………………………
Dr NS Msomi
Chairperson
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9.3 Corporate Governance Statement (continued)

Procurement Committee
 
The Committee comprises a minimum of three members, 
including the Chairperson, nominated from the members 
of the Board. 

The Committee operates within the approved Terms of 
Reference. 

The overall objective of the Committee is to assist 
the Directors to discharge their duties relating to the 
procurement of goods and services with the value from 
R1 000 001 and above. 

The Committee does not relieve the Directors of any 
of their responsibilities, but assists them to fulfi ll those 
responsibilities. 

The primary function of this Committee includes reviewing 
and recommending to the Board the following:
• The approval of the appointment of service provider(s) 

for the procurement of goods and services;
• The review and approval of the service provider(s) 

scope of work;
• To review adequacy of corrections taken in response 

to signifi cant internal audit investigations;
• To examine the empowerment credentials of service 

provider(s) as prescribed by applicable legislation;
• To ensure that the proper procurement processes and 

empowerment targets are achieved; 
• To ensure that the Supply Chain Policy is adhered to; 

and
• To ensure compliance with all relevant procurement 

guidelines and regulations.

Human Resources and Remuneration 
Committee

The Committee comprises a minimum of four members, 
including the Chairperson, nominated by members of 
the Board. The Committee’s objectives include ensuring 
continuous improvement and excellence in performance, 
increasing capacity by addressing areas of personal 
development and ensuring that staffi ng requirements are 
addressed adequately. 

The Committee has provided the necessary guidance on 
human-related issues affecting the organisation in line 
with its mandate as prescribed in the Terms of Reference 
for the Human Resources and Remuneration Committee. 
During the year, a number of important policies and 
initiatives were instituted, tabled and approved by the 
Committee. The Committee provided much-needed 
insight into issues affecting Trade & Investment KwaZulu-
Natal staff members to ensure that all opportunities for 
developing staff both physically and professionally had 
been identifi ed and implemented.

Some of the initiatives implemented during the year 
included:
• Continuation of Studies Committee;
• Employment Equity and Skills Plan; 
• Review of the Pension Fund; and 
• Implementation of Human 
 Resources Strategy.

Meetings

A minimum of four Board meetings are held annually. In 
this way, the Board is able to provide proper strategic 
direction to the management of Trade & Investment 
KwaZulu-Natal. Membership of and attendance at Board 
meetings during the 2010/11 fi nancial year is refl ected in 
the accompanying table: 

…………………………
L Ngcobo
Chairperson

…………………………
J Ngcobo
Chairperson           

…………………………
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Resignation: 
1.  Dr M Sutcliffe – 28 May 2010 

Other Meetings: 
1. Annual Strategy Review (03 December 2010)

NAME OF DIRECTOR DATES AND MEETINGS ATTENDED

BOARD 23 Apr 30 Jul 22 Oct 05 Feb OTHER TOTAL

Mr PH Staude (Chairperson) √ √ √ √ √ 5

Cllr. DCP Mazibuko (Deputy Chairperson) √ √ √ x x 3

Mr KM Govender √ x x x x 1

Dr NS Msomi √ √ √ √ √ 5

Mr J Ngcobo √ √ √ √ √ 5

Ms L Ngcobo √ √ √ √ √ 5

Mr T Morwe √ √ x √ x 3

Ms DC Myeni √ √ x √ x 3

Dr P Sokhela x √ √ √ x 3

Cllr. AF Rehman √ √ √ x x 3

Ald. SB Larkan √ √ √ √ x 4

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 06 Jul 05 Oct 25 Jan TOTAL

Mr J Ngcobo √ √ √ 3

Cllr. AF Rehman √ √ √ 3

Cllr. DCP Mazibuko √ √ √ 3

Ms DC Myeni x x x 0

AUDIT, RISK AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE 28 May 23 Jul 01 Oct 11 Feb TOTAL

Dr NS Msomi √ √ √ √ 4

Cllr. AF Rehman √ √ √ x 3

Ald. SB Larkan √ √ √ √ 4

Mr M Zakwe √ √ √ √ 4

PROCUREMENT COMMITTEE 23 Apr 30 Jul 22 Oct 25 Feb TOTAL

Mrs L Ngcobo √ √ √ √ 4

Dr NS Msomi √ √ √ √ 4

Mr PH Staude √ √ √ x 3
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9.4 Report of the Auditor-General

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Introduction

1.	 I	have	audited	the	accompanying	financial	statements	
of	Trade	&	Investment	KwaZulu-Natal,	which	comprise	
the	statement	of	financial	position	as	at	31	March	
2011,	statement	of	comprehensive	income,	statement	
of	changes	in	equity	and	statement	of	cash	flows	
for	the	year	then	ended,	a	summary	of	significant	
accounting	policies	and	other	explanatory	information	
as	set	out	on	pages	88	to	112.	

Accounting Authority’s responsibility 
for the financial statements

2.		 The	accounting	authority	is	responsible	for	the	
preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	these	financial	
statements	in	accordance	with	South	African	
Statements	of	Generally	Accepted	Accounting	
Practice	(SA	Statements	of	GAAP),	the	requirements	
of	the	Public	Finance	Management	Act	of	South	
Africa,	1999	(Act	No.	1	of	1999)	(PFMA)	and	the	
requirements	of	the	Companies	Act	of	South	Africa,	
1973	(Act	No.	61	of	1973)	(Companies	Act),	and	for	
such	internal	control	as	management	determines	
necessary	to	enable	the	preparation	of	financial	
statements	that	are	free	from	material	misstatement,	
whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.

Auditor-General’s responsibility

3.	 As	required	by	section	188	of	the	Constitution	of	the	
Republic	of	South	Africa,	1996	(Act	No.	108	of	1996),	
section	4	of	the	Public	Audit	Act	of	South	Africa,	2004	
(Act	No.	25	of	2004)	(PAA)	and	section	300	of	the	
Companies	Act,	my	responsibility	is	to	express	an	
opinion	on	these	financial	statements	based	on	my	
audit.

4.	 I	conducted	my	audit	in	accordance	with	International	
Standards	on	Auditing	and	General	Notice	No.	1111	
of	2010,	issued	in	Government	Gazette	No.	33872	of	
15	December	2010.	

	 Those	standards	require	that	I	comply	with	ethical	
requirements	and	plan	and	perform	the	audit	to	obtain	

	 reasonable	assurance	about	whether	the	financial	

	 statements	are	free	from	material	misstatement.

5.	 An	audit	involves	performing	procedures	to	obtain	
audit	evidence	about	the	amounts	and	disclosures	
in	the	financial	statements.	The	procedures	selected	
depend	on	the	auditor’s	judgement,	including	the	
assessment	of	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	
of	the	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	
error.	In	making	those	risk	assessments,	the	auditor	
considers	internal	control	relevant	to	the	entity’s	
preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	the	financial	
statements	in	order	to	design	audit	procedures	that	
are	appropriate	in	the	circumstances,	but	not	for	the	
purpose	of	expressing	an	opinion	on	the	effectiveness	
of	the	entity’s	internal	control.	An	audit	also	includes	
evaluating	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	
used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	
made	by	management,	as	well	as	evaluating	the	
overall	presentation	of	the	financial	statements.

6.	 I	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	I	have	obtained	is	
sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	my	
audit	opinion.

Opinion

7.	 In	my	opinion	the	financial	statements	present	fairly,	
in	all	material	respects,	the	financial	position	of	Trade	
&	Investment	KwaZulu-Natal	as	at	31	March	2011,	
and	its	financial	performance	and	cash	flows	for	the	
year	then	ended	in	accordance	with	SA	Statements	
of	GAAP	and	the	requirements	of	the	PFMA	and	the	
Companies	Act.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND 
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

8.		 In	accordance	with	the	PAA	and	in	terms	of	General	
Notice	No.	1111	of	2010,	issued	in	Government	
Gazette	No.	33872	of	15	December	2010,	I	include	
below	my	findings	on	the	annual	performance	report	
as	set	out	on	pages	61	to	77	and	material	non-
compliance	with	laws	and	regulations	applicable	to	
the	entity.

Predetermined objectives

9.	 There	are	no	material	findings	on	the	annual	
performance	report.

Report of the Auditor-General to the KwaZulu-Natal Provincial Legislature on Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal
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Compliance with laws and regulations

10.	There	are	no	findings	concerning	material	non-
compliance	with	laws	and	regulations	applicable	to	
the	entity.

INTERNAL CONTROL

11.	In	accordance	with	the	PAA	and	in	terms	of	General	
Notice	No.	1111	of	2010,	issued	in	Government	
Gazette	No.	33872	of	15	December	2010,	I	
considered	internal	control	relevant	to	my	audit,	
but	not	for	the	purpose	of	expressing	an	opinion	
on	the	effectiveness	of	internal		control.	There	are	
no	significant	deficiencies	in	internal	control	that	
resulted	in	a	qualification	of	the	auditor’s	opinion	on	
the	financial	statements,	findings	on	predetermined	
objectives	and	material	non-compliance	with	laws	and	
regulations.

…………………………
Pietermaritzburg
31 July 2011
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9.5 Report	of	the	Audit,	Risk	and	
Compliance	Committee

The	Committee	is	pleased	to	present	a	report	on	activities	
during	the	financial	year	ended	31	March	2011.

Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee Members and Attendance

The	Committee	consists	of	members	listed	hereunder	
and	meets	at	least	three	times	per	annum	as	per	its	
approved	Terms	of	Reference.	During	the	year	under	
review,	four	meetings	were	held	on	28	May	2010,	23	
July	2010,	01	October	2010	and	11	February	2011	
respectively.		

Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee Members:
	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Dr	NS	Msomi	(Chairperson)		 	 	
Ald.	SB	Larkan	
Cllr.	AF	Rehman
Mr	M	Zakwe	 	

Audit Committee Responsibility

The	Committee	reports	that	it	has	complied	with	
responsibilities	arising	from	Section	51	(a)	of	the	
Public	Finance	Management	Act	of	1999	and	Treasury	
Regulations	27.1.	The	Committee	reports	that	it	has	
adopted	appropriate	Terms	of	Reference	as	its	Audit	
Committee	Charter,	has	regulated	its	affairs	in	compliance	
with	this	Charter	and	has	discharged	all	its	responsibilities	
as	contained	therein.

The Effectiveness of the Internal 
Controls Systems

During	the	year	under	review	there	was	an	internal	audit	
conducted,	reviewing	the	effectiveness	of	the	internal	
controls	and	procedures.	To	this	end,	the	Committee	has,	
during	the	past	year,	reviewed	the	following:
•	 The	adequacy,	reliability	and	accuracy	of	financial	

information	provided;
•	 The	Annual	Report	and	Financial	Statements;
•	 The	effectiveness	of	internal	controls	of	the	institution;
•	 The	External	Auditors	report,	including	issues	arising	

from	the	external	audit;	and	

•	 Make	recommendations	on	issues	arising	from	the	
internal	audit.	

KwaZulu-Natal	Provincial	Treasury	Internal	Audit	was	
appointed	to	provide	the	services	of	the	Internal	Auditors.	
The	year-end	procedures	and	the	audit	plan	were	
presented	to	the	Committee	for	approval.		

Evaluation of the Annual Financial 
Statements

The	Audit,	Risk	and	Compliance	Committee	has:
•	 Reviewed	and	discussed	the	audited	Annual	Financial	

Statements	to	be	included	in	the	Annual	Report	with	
external	auditors;

•	 Reviewed	the	Auditor-General’s	management	letter	
and	management’s	responses	thereto;

•	 Reviewed	changes	in	accounting	policies;	and
•	 Reviewed	significant	adjustments	resulting	from	
	 the	audit.

Following	our	review	of	the	Annual	Financial	Statements	
for	the	year	ended	31	March	2011,	we	are	of	the	opinion	
that,	in	all	material	respects,	they	comply	with	the	relevant	
provisions	of	the	South	African	Statement	of	Generally	
Accepted	Accounting	Practice	(GAAP)	and	that	they	
fairly	present	the	result	of	the	operations,	cash	flow	and	
financial	position	of	the	organisation.

Signed	on	behalf	of	the	Audit,	Risk	and	Compliance	
Committee.

……………………………………………
	 	

Dr NS Msomi
(Chairperson)
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9.6 Report of the Directors
for the year ended 31 March 2011   

The Directors submit this report to the members in terms 
of section 299 of the Companies Act, No. 61 
of 1973.

Nature of Business

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal is currently registered 
as a Section 21 company in terms of the Companies 
Act 1973, as amended. It is a non-profi t organisation 
constituted under the Department of Economic 
Development and Tourism of KwaZulu-Natal. The main 
business activities are as follows:
• To identify, develop and package investment 

opportunities in KwaZulu-Natal; 
• To provide a professional and comprehensive service 

to current and prospective investors;
• To ensure easy access to investment opportunities 

and sustained after-care;
• Brand and market provincial investment opportunities; 

and
• To retain and expand trade and export activities and to 

link opportunities to the developmental needs of our 
people through strategic partnerships.

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal’s strategic objectives 
are geared towards the realisation of provincial and 
national economic objectives as set out in the Provincial 
Growth and Development Strategy and the National 
Growth Path respectively. These strategies aim to 
improve the economy and the lives of people in KwaZulu-
Natal and South Africa at large. Through its mandate, 
Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal will be contributing to 

ensuring that the Province of KwaZulu-Natal becomes a 
leading foreign investment destination and the country’s 
premier regional investment locality; and to ensure that 
the range, quality and capacity of local export goods and 
services are internationally competitive. 

Review of Financial Position 
and Results

The results of the company’s operations and the state of 
its affairs for the 2010/2011 fi nancial year are set out in 
the attached Financial Statements and Notes thereto. 

Subsequent Events

No material fact or circumstance has occurred between 
the accounting date and the date of this report.

Going Concern

The Financial Statements have been prepared in terms of 
GAAP and on the basis of accounting policies applicable 
to a going concern. This basis presumes that funds 
will be available to fi nance future operations and that 
the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, 
contigent obligations and commitments will occur 
in the ordinary course of business. The ability of the 
company to continue as a going concern is dependant 
on a number of factors. The most signifi cant of these is 
that the Directors continue to procure funding from the 
Department of Economic Development and Tourism of 
KwaZulu-Natal.

……………………………………………
  

PH Staude                                                                                     
(Chairperson)   

……………………………………………
 

DCP Mazibuko
(Deputy Chairperson)

……………………………………………
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9.7 Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 March 2011    

Assets	 	 	

	 	 	

Non-current	assets	 	 	

Property,	plant	&	equipment		 	

Intangible	assets	 	 	

	 	 	

Current	assets	 	 	

Accounts	receivable	 	 	

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 	 	

	 	 	

	 	 	

Total	assets	 	 	

	 	 	

	 	 	

Equity	and	liabilities

	

Accumulated	funds	 	 	

	 	 	

Non-current	liabilities	 	 	

Long-term	liabilities	 	 	

	 	 	

Technical	Assistance	Fund	 	 	

	 	 	

Current	liabilities	 	 	

Accounts	payable			 	

Transfer	to	Treasury	 	 	

Provisions	 	 	

Current	portion	of	finance	lease	liability	 	

	

Total	equity	and	liabilities	 	 	

	

	

5	

	6	

7

16.3

8

17.3

11

11.1

12

8

	1	170	687	

	1	057	824	

	112	863	

	20	189	068	

	2	603	778	

	17	585	290	

	21	359	755	

2	978	434

277	249

7	926	105

	

10	177	968	

	10	095	562	

	-			

	-			

	82	405	

	21	359	755	

	1	387	591	

	1	077	504	

	310	087	

	20	623	666	

	852	581	

	19	771	085	

	22	011	257	

780	987

104	638

9	872	506

	11	253	126	

	4	764	626	

	5	019	607	

	1	362	256	

	106	637	

	22	011	257	

Notes 2011
R

2010
R
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9.8 Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 March 2011    

Income	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

Grant	received	from	KwaZulu-Natal	Government	

	 	 	 	

Other	income	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

Investment	income	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

TAF	grant	 	 	 	

	

Total income     

	 	 	 	

Finance	costs	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

Total	expenditure	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

TAF	expenditure	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

Total expenditure     

     

Surplus before transfer to Treasury  

      

Surplus for the year    

 

2

3

4

2.1

16.1

 56 637 000 

67 187

 562 662 

 1 946 401 

 59 213 250 

(30 721)

(55 038 681)

(1 946 401) 

(57 015 803)

 2 197 447 

 2 197 447 

	54	416	000	

120	470

	308	506	

	-			

	54	844	976	

(9	894)

(49	815	475)

	-			

(49	825	369)

	5	019	607	

	5	019	607	

Notes 2011
R

2010
R
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9.9 Statement	of	Changes	in	Equity
for	the	year	ended	31	March	2011	 	 	 	

	 	 	

Balance at 1 April 2009 

	

Surplus	for	the	year	

	

Balance at 31 March 2010 

	 	

Surplus	for	the	year		 	

	

Balance at 31 March 2011	

	 	

	  -   

 -   

 -   

780	987

5	019	607

	(5	019	607)

780	987

	2	197	447	

2 978 434

780	987

5	019	607

	(5	019	607)

780	987

	2	197	447	

2 978 434

Notes
Accumulated Funds 
for Specific Projects 

R

Accumulated 
Fund

R
Total

R
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9.10 Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 March 2011    

Income	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

Cash	flows	from	operating	activities	 	 	

Cash	receipts	from	donations	and	grants	 	

Cash	paid	to	suppliers	and	employees	 	

	 	

Cash	utilised	in	operations	 	 	 	

Interest	received	 	 	 	

Interest	paid	 	 	 	

Foreign	exchange	gain/(loss)	 	 	

	

Cash	flow	from	investing	activities	 	 	

Acquisition	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	 	

Acquisition	of	computer	software	 	 	

Proceeds	from	sale	of	assets	 	 	

	

Cash	flow	from	financing	activities	 	 	

Increase	in	finance	lease	liability	 	 	

Transfer	back	to	Treasury	 	 	

	

Net	increase	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents	

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	beginning	of	year		

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	end	of	year		 	

	 	

16.1

16.2

243 006

54 919 916

(55 223 666)

 (303 750)

562 662

(30 721)

14 815

(629 584)

(607 396)

(23 330)

 1 142 

147 184 

147 184 

 -   

 (239 394)

9 898 579

 9 659 185 

7	770	047

54	444	710

(46	971	004)

7	473	706

308	506

(9	894)

(2	271)

(681	731)

(392	016)

(291	767)

	2	052	

	(90	279)

(90	279)

	-			

6	998	037

2	900	542

	9	898	579	

Notes 2011
R

2010
R
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9.11 Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2011    

1. Accounting Policies Note  	
	 	 	 	
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared 
on the historical cost concept, in conformity with South 
African Statement of Generally Acceptable Accounting 
Practice GAAP and incorporate the following principal 
accounting policies, which are consistent with those used 
in the previous years:   

Going Concern

The entity will be a going concern in the years ahead 
and as a result, the Authority continues to adopt the 
going concern basis in preparing the Annual Financial 
Statements.   

1.1 Currency	 	 	 	 	
	 	
These Financial Statements are presented in South 
African Rand since this is the currency in which the 
majority of entity’s transactions are dominated.   
   
1.2 Revenue     	
	
Grants and donations are recognised when it is probable 
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and 
these benefits can be measured reliably. The grant 
is recognised to the extent that there are no further 
obligations arising fom the receipt of the grant. In the 
event that expenditure is incurred prior to the receipts, 
income equivalent to the expenses incurred is brought 
into account where receipts of such income are assured 
beyond reasonable doubt. The grants are accounted for 
in terms of IAS 20.      
  
1.3 Foreign Currencies   	
	 	 	
Transactions other than the institution’s report currency 
(Rand) are initially recorded at the rate of exchange ruling 
on the date of the transaction. Gains and losses arising 
from the settlement of such transactions are recognised 
in the income statement.

Monetary assets and liabilities dominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling 
on the balance sheet to date. Unrealised differences 
on monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the 
income statement in the period in which they occurred.  
     
1.4 Retirement Benefits   	
	 	 	
The institution operates a defined contribution plan, 
the assets of which are generally held in separate 
trustee-administered funds. The plans are generally 

funded by payments from the institution. Payment to 
the contribution retirement benefit plans are charged to 
the income statement in the year to which they relate. 
The company contributes 9,574% towards employees’ 
pension benefits. This will increase to 11,96% as from
1 July 2011.      

1.5 Taxation	 	 	 	 	 	
	
The company’s operations are financed by funds derived 
from the Government Grants. In terms of the Directive 
issued by the South African Revenue Service, the receipt 
and accruals of the institution are exempted from
Income Tax.      
 
1.6 Interest	 	 	 	 	 	
	
Interest is recognised on a time proportion basis.  
     
1.7 Property, Plant and Equipment	 	
	 	 	 	 	
Property, plant and equipment are stated at original cost 
less depreciation provided on the straight line basis.  
     
The estimated useful lives, residual values and 
depreciation methods are reviewed at each year-end 
and with the effect of any change in estimate accounted 
for prospectively. Assets held under finance leases are 
depreciated over their useful lives on the same basis as 
owned assets or, where shorter, the term of the lease. 

The gain or loss on the disposal or retirement of an asset 
is determined as the difference between the proceeds 
and the carrying amount, the amount is recognised in 
profit or loss.    

Depreciation has been provided on the straight-line 
basis, at the following annual rates, which are considered 
appropriate to write down costs over the useful lives of 
the assets:   
Furniture, fittings and other equipment    20% 
Office equipment        20%
Computer equipment       33%  
 

The useful lives of property, plant and equipment and 
Intangible assets are as follows:    
   
    2011 2010 
 
Furniture and fittings  20% 20% 
Office equipment   20% 20% 
Computer equipment  33% 33% 
Intangible assets   50% 50%  
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1.8 Intangible Assets    
   
Intangible	assets	are	initially	recongised	at	cost	and	
subsequently	at	cost	less	accumulated	amortisation	and	
accumulated	impairment	losses.	The	estimated	useful	
lives	and	amortisation	methods	are	reviewed	at	the	end	
of	each	reporting	period	with	the	estimate	of	any	change	
in	estimate	being	applied	prospectively.	Depreciation	has	
been	provided	on	the	straight	line	basis	at	50%.	 	
	 	 	 	 	
1.9 Impairments     
  
At	each	balance	sheet	date,	the	entity	reviews	the	
carrying	amount	of	its	tangible	and	intangible	assets	
to	determine	whether	there	is	any	indication	that	these	
assets	may	be	impaired.	If	such	indication	exists,	the	
recoverable	amount	of	the	asset	is	estimated	in	order	
to	determine	the	extent	of	the	impairment	loss.	Any	
impairment	losses	and	reversals	are	recognised	as	an	
expense	or	income	under	IAS	36	unless	they	relate	to	
asset	revaluations	in	which	case	they	are	treated	under	
another	statement.	 	 	 	 	
	 	
1.10 Financial Instruments   
 	 	 	
Financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	recognised	on	the	
entity’s	balance	sheet	when	the	entity	becomes	party	to	a	
contractual	obligation.

Financial Assets

The	entity’s	financial	assets	are	trade	receivables	and	
cash	equivalents.	Trade	receivables	are	measured	at	
amortised	cost	using	the	effective	interest	method.	
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	are	measured	at	their	nominal	
value	which	approximates	their	fair	value.

Financial Liabilities

The	entity’s	principal	financial	liabilities	are	accounts	
payable.	Trade	and	other	payables	are	stated	at	their	
nominal	values.	 	 	 	 	

1.11  Provisions     
	 	
Provisions	are	recognised	where	the	organisation	has	
a	present	legal	or	constructive	obligation	as	a	result	of	
a	past	event,	a	reliable	estimate	of	the	obligation	can	
be	made	and	it	is	probable	that	an	outflow	of	resources	
embodying	economic	benefits	will	be	required	to
settle	the	obligation.	Leave	pay	will	be	accrued	for	as
per	IAS	19.	 	 	 	 	
	

1.12 Government Grant  

Government	grants	are	recognised	when	it	is	probable	
that	future	economic	benefits	will	flow	to	the	institution	
and	these	benefits	can	be	measured	reliably.	The	grant	
is	recognised	to	the	extent	that	there	are	no	further	
obligations	arising	from	the	receipt	of	grant.	

Technical Assistance Fund

The	fund	is	accounted	for	as	a	grant	on	the	same	
principle	as	required	by	amended	IAS	20.	The	part	of	the	
fund	for	which	the	conditions	are	met	is	accounted	for	as	
revenue	in	the	income	statement.	 	 	 	
	 	 	
1.13 Cash and Cash Equivalents  
 	 	 	 	
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	include	cash	on	hand,	short-	
term	investments	with	the	financial	institutions	and	the	
amount	deposited	with	financial	institutions	as	part	of	the	
institution’s	current	account.	Cash	and	cash	equivalents	
are	stated	at	nominal	value.		 	 	 	
	 	
1.14 Related Parties    
   
The	institution,	in	the	ordinary	course	of	business,	enters	
into	transactions	with	related	parties.	These	occur	under	
terms	and	conditions	that	are	not	more	favourable	to	
those	entered	into	with	third	parties	in	arms	length	
transactions.	

The	entity	assesses	related	parties	as	defined	under	
IAS	24	and	therefore	only	discloses	transactions	with	
entities	and	key	staff	members	that	control	or	significantly	
influence	the	operating	entity.	 	 	 	
	 	 	
1.15  Finance Lease Agreements  
     
Finance	leases	are	capitalised	as	property,	plant	
and	equipment	at	the	cash	equivalent	cost	and	a	
corresponding	finance	lease	liability	is	raised.	The	cost	is	
the	lower	of	the	fair	value	of	the	asset	or	the	present	value	
of	the	minimum	lease	payments	at	inception	of	
the	lease.	 	 	 	 	

1.16 Operating Lease Agreement

Leases	under	which	the	lessor	effectively	retains	the	
significant	risk	and	rewards	of	ownership	of	the	leased	
assets,	are	classified	as	operating	leases.	Rentals	are	
payable	under	operating	leases	and	are	charged	to	
income	on	a	straight	line	basis	over	the	term	of	the	
relevant	lease.	 	 	 	 	
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9.11 Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2011 (continued)   

2. Gross Revenue    

Revenue comprises mainly grants and transfers from the 
Department of Economic Development and Tourism - 
KwaZulu-Natal.      
 
2.1 Technical Assistance Fund Grant 

The Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal Board approved 
the transfer of the Technical Asistance Fund which was 
previously managed by KZN Growth Fund to Trade & 
Investment KwaZulu-Natal on 28 August 2009. The 
amount was deposited into a separate bank account on 
28 December 2009.   
   
2.2  Irregular, Fruitless and Wasteful 
Expenditure

Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in 
contravention of or not in accordance with a requirement 
of any applicable legislation, including: 
-The PFMA
- Any provincial legislation providing for procurement 
procedures in that provincial government. This is 
expenditure that would have been avoided had 
reasonable care been exercised.

All irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure is charged 
against income in the period in which it is incurred and 
where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as 
revenue in the statement of financial performance.  
    
2.3  Subsequent Events

The entity accounts for subsequent events in terms of IAS 
10. The key issues recognised and disclosed include:
Events after reporting period: 

Noting events favourable or unfavourable that occur 

between the end of the reporting period and the date that 
the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Adjusting Event:
Events after the reporting period that provide further 
evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the 
reporting period which can impact on the going concern 
of the entity. These events will require an adjustment to 
the Annual Financial Statements.

Non-adjusting Events:
Events after the reporting period that are indicative of a 
condition that arose after the end of the reporting period 
but for which no adjustment is necessary.   
   
2.4 Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments:
The entity recognises commitments as agreements with 
suppliers, customers, employers, or other entities that are 
not yet completed transactions and consequently have 
not been recognised in the accounts. 

These are disclosed in the Annual Financial Statements 
as notes under commitments and contingencies. The 
purpose is to inform financial statement users of the fact 
that there are a variety of potential expenses or claims 
that exist, but which do not yet meet the criteria of 
liabilities at year-end. 

Contingencies:
Contingencies are existing conditions whose resulting 
gains and losses are currently uncertain, but will be 
resolved by the occurrence of future events. 

Commitments and contingencies may be referenced in 
either the current or the non-current liability sections, 
depending on when they are likely to require payment, or 
they may only be disclosed in the notes.
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3. Other Income

	 	 	 	 	

Other	income	comprises	refunds	from	Travel	Agencies,	

settlements	from	insurance	claims	and	proceeds	from

sale	of	assets.	 	 	 	

	 	

4. Surplus/(Deficit) for the year

The	surplus/(deficit)	for	the	year	is	stated	after	taking	the	

following	items	into	account:

Income	

Interest	income	

Expenses	

Auditors’	remuneration	

	-	Audit	fees

Depreciation	

	-	Computer	equipment

	-	Furniture		and	fixtures

	-	Office	equipment

	-	Computer	software

Operating	lease	rentals

Loss	on	disposal	of	assets

Movement	in	leave	pay	

	-	Leave	pay

Staff	costs

	-	Salaries	and	wages	

	-	Performance	bonus

	-	Workmen’s	compensation	 	

	 	 	 	

67 187

 

562 662 

 734 876 

 808 427 

244 411

113 708

229 755

220 554

 2 919 090 

 39 295 

 271 490 

 21 014 776 

 20 914 776 

 -   

 100 000 

120	470

	

308	516	

	711	206	

	1	170	687	

	325	100	

	224	654	

	508	070	

	112	863	

	3	095	089	

	7	835	

	198	333	

	20	186	619	

	19	123	635	

	906	480	

	156	504	

2011
R

2010
R
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5. Property, plant and equipment

	 	

2011

Computer	equipment

Furniture	and	fixtures

Office	equipment

2010

Computer	equipment

Furniture	and	fixtures

Office	equipment

5. Property, Plant and Equipment

2011

Computer	equipment

Furniture	and	fixtures

Office	equipment

2010

Computer	equipment

Furniture	and	fixtures

Office	equipment

The	carrying	amount	of	plant	and	equipment	can	be	reconciled	as	follows:	

1 545 976 

 587  786 

 1 293 108 

 3 426 870 

	1	315	633	

	566	856	

	976	188	

	2	858	677	

	

	-   

 -   

(39 203)

(39 203)

	(2	897)

(9	887)

	-			

(12	784)

	

 230 343 

 20 931 

 356 122 

 607 396 

		251	211	

	21	172	

	122	529	

	394	913	

	

 339 168 

 317 431 

 420 905 

 1 077 504 

361	137	

	422	704	

	467	568	

	1	251	409	

(1 220 876)

(363 132)

(785 038)

(2 369 046)

(976	466)

(249	424)

(555	283)

(1	781	173)

(244 411)

(113 708)

(229 755)

(587 874)

(270	284)

(116	558)

(169	192)

	(556	034)

	325 100 

 224 654 

 508 070 

 1 057 824 

	339	167	

	317	432	

	420	905	

	1	077	504

	325 100 

 224 654 

 508 070 

 1 057 824 

	339	167	

	317	432	

	420	905	

	1	077	504

Accumulated
Depreciation

R

Depreciation

R

Carrying
Value

R

Carrying Value
at End of Year

R

Carrying Value
at Beginning of Year

R

Cost
R

Disposal

R

Additions

R

9.11 Notes	to	the	Annual	Financial	Statements	
for	the	year	ended	31	March	2011	(continued)		 	
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Assets in the form of office equipment to the book value of R321 455,77 (2010: R167 058) have been 
encumbered via a lease liability as disclosed in note 8. The useful lives for all items of property, plant and 
equipment are reviewed every year. Where the useful life is reviewed and is different from that of the previous 
year, approval is sought from the Board prior to implementation of the changes. The useful life was reviewed 
for the current year and remains the same for all classes of property, plant and equipment. The assets written 
off to zero book value will be disposed of during the current year as they are deemed to have reached the end 
of their useful life except for those whose useful life will have been reassessed and extended.

Cost of assets fully depreciated during the year:
Computer equipment - R869 421,08
Office equipment - R170 316,43
Office furniture - R21 236,88

Except for computer server and components whose useful life will be extended after Board approval, most of 
the assets fully depreciated were inherited and old and no value can be attached. These will be disposed of 
during the year.     

5. Property, plant and equipment

  

2011

Computer software

2010

Computer software

6. Intangible Assets

2011

Computer software

2010

Computer software

1 151 758 

1 128 428 

 -   

 -  

 23 330 

 291 767 

 

310 087 

 442 611 

(1 038 895)

(818 341)

(220 554)

(424 291)

 112 863 

 310 087

 112 863 

 310 087 

Accumulated
Depreciation

R

Depreciation

R

Carrying
Value

R

Carrying Value
at End of Year

R

Carrying Value
at Beginning of Year

R

Cost
R

Disposal

R

Additions

R

The carrying amount of intangible assets can be reconciled as follows: 

Software with a cost of R416 238,20 was written-off during the current year. 
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7. Accounts Receivable

Prepayments

Interest	receivables

Other	receivables

Deposits

8. Interest Bearing Borrowings - Finance Leases  

     

The	company	has	finance	leases	for	its	office	equipment	

obtained	from	Konica	Minolta	and	Sunlin	Rentals.	Office	

equipment	with	a	net	book	value	of	R321	455,77

(2010:	R167	058)	is	held	as	security	for	the	finance	

leases	(Note	5)	with	interest	rates	ranging	from	

10%	to	15%.

	 	 	 	 	 	

	

Pre-payments	comprise	payments	for	the	Arab-Africa	

Conference,	office	rentals	and	subscriptions.	Other	

receivables	include	staff	advances	and	an	amount	of	

R570	000	owed	by	Tourism	KwaZulu-Natal	with	respect	

to	the	CNBC	Africa	payment.	

	-			

	-			

	-			

	

 1 492 707 

 1 070 751 

 40 320 

 2 603 778

	

	694	251	

	-			

	121	510	

	36	820	

	852	581

2011
R

2011
R

 6(a) Effect of the Change in Estimate

Furniture	and	fittings	(Increase	in	depreciation)	

Office	equipment	(Increase	in	depreciation)	

Intangible	assets	(Increase	in	depreciation)	

	

16	982

29	327

131	905

 Current  Prospective

2010
R

2010
R

9.11 Notes	to	the	Annual	Financial	Statements	
for	the	year	ended	31	March	2011	(continued)		 	
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8. Interest Bearing Borrowings - Finance Leases (continued) 

      

Total lease liability 

Less: Current portion payable within one year

Long-term portion of liability 

Reconciliation between the total minimum

lease payments and their present value: 

Minimum lease payments 

Finance cost 

Present value 

 

Present value of future minimum lease payments

payable over the following periods: 

Up to 1 year 

1 to 5 years 

More than 5 years 

9. Operating Leases    

 

(a) The company leases offices from Rowmoor 

Investments 567 (Pty) Ltd over a period of four 

years and 11 months in terms of an operating lease 

agreement starting on 1 August 2007. The monthly 

rental sum shall escalate at a rate of 9% calculated per 

annum. 

(b) Operating lease relating to Frieshelf 585 CC which 

is for rentals of the Gauteng Office premises. The lease 

is for a total of three years ending December 2012. The 

lease carries an escalation of 10% per annum. 

 359 654 

(82 405)

 277 249 

425 869 

(66 215)

 359 654 

 

82 405 

 277 249 

 -   

 359 654

 211 275 

(106 637)

 104 638 

221 169 

(9 894)

 211 275 

 

106 637 

 104 638 

 -   

 211 275

2011
R

2010
R
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9. Operating Leases (continued)   

 

9.1 Operating leases - Rental	

	

Future	minimum	lease	payments	

The	total	future	minimum	lease	payments	are	

payable	over	the	following	periods:	

Up	to	1	year	

1	to	5	years	

More	than	5	years	

10. Finance Costs

 

Interest	expense	on	finance	lease	liability	and	SARS	

11. Accounts Payable

Reclassified	outstanding	cheques

Accounts	payable

Transfer	to	Treasury

Other	accruals

Accruals

11.1. Transfer to Treasury

Surplus	funds	already	transferred	

Surplus	funds	for	the	period	

Net	Surplus	to	be	transferred	to	Treasury

 2 935 752 

 3 578 021 

 -   

 6 513 773 

 30 721 

 - 

 5 208 149 

 - 

 1 734 081 

 3 153 333 

 10 095 563 

 - 

 - 

 - 

	

2	729	814	

	3	412	268	

	-			

	6	142	082	

	9	894	

		604	103	

	2	897	208	

	5	019	647	

	-	

	1	263	315	

	9	784	273	

			(554	638)

	5	574	245	

	5	019	607	

2011
R

2010
R

9.11 Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2011 (continued)   
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12. Leave Accrued

Opening	balance

Movement	during	the	year

Closing	balance

Leave	pay	is	determined	using	historical	data	based	on	

the	past	services	offered	by	the	employees.	Leave	pay	

is	accrued	as	required	by	IAS	19.	

13. Directors’ Emoluments 

 

(a) Non-Executive Directors

Mr	PH	Staude	(Chairperson)

Cllr.	DCP	Mazibuko	(Deputy	Chairperson)

Mr	KM	Govender

Dr	NS	Msomi

Mr	JG	Ngcobo

Cllr.	AF	Rehman

Ald.	S	Larkan	

Ms	DC	Myeni

Ms	LB	Ngcobo	

Dr	P	Sokhela

Mr	M	Zakwe

Mr	T	Morwe

Dr	M	Sutcliffe	(Resigned	28	May	2010)

 1 362 256 

 271 490 

 1 633 746 

	1	163	923	

	198	333	

	1	362	256	

2011
R

2010
R

42	000

32	000

4	000

48	000

48	000

58	000

32	000

12	000

28	000

16	000

20	000	

	-			

	-			

 340 000 

710

	18	751	

	-			

	-			

	5	875	

	45	932	

	-			

	1	986	

	82	685	

	911	

	2	365	

	-			

	-			

 159 215 

 42 710 

 50 751 

 4 000 

 48 000 

 53 875 

 103 932 

 32 000 

 13 986 

 110 685 

 16 911 

 22 365 

 -   

 -   

 499 215 

Allowances and 
Travel

R

Total
Fees

R

Directors’
Fees

R
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(b) Executive Directors 	

CEO	–	ZA	Gwala	 	

CFO	–	L	Nyamande	 	

	 	

Dr	M	Sutcliffe	and	Mr	Morwe	did	not	receive	any	remuneration	during

the	year.	

	

The	remuneration	for	Ms	LB	Ncgobo	includes	business-related	travel	

expenditure	for	participating	in	the	mission	to	China	(R80	203,56).

14. Taxation   

No	provision	has	been	made	for	the	2011	tax	year	as	the	organisation	is	not	

liable	for	taxation.	 	 	 	 	 	

15. Related Party Transactions  	 	

The	following	related	party	transactions	were	incurred	during	the	year:	 	

	 	 	 	 	

1.	The	Department	of	Economic	Development	is	the	sole	shareholder	of

Trade	&	Investment	KwaZulu-Natal.	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	

178	379	

	-			

	

-			

	-			

1	369	570	

	752	118	

 

1 547 949 

 752 118 

Performance 
Bonus

R

Salary

R

Total
Fees

R

Pension and 
Medical Aid

R

 

56 637 000 

7 926 035

		54	416	000	

9	872	506

2011
R

2010
R

Grants	received

Trade	&	Investment	KwaZulu-Natal	-	Main

Trade	&	Investment	KwaZulu-Natal	-	TAF

9.11 Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2011 (continued)   
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The	entity	receives	two	funds	in	the	form	of	grants	which	are	conditional	

on	the	terms	stipulated	in	the	Memorandum	of	Understanding	(MoU)	

signed	with	the	Department	of	Economic	Development	and	Tourism.	The	

grants	are	received	for	the	purposes	of	supporting	the	delivery	of	services	

as	set	out	in	the	MoU.	Conditions	stipulated	in	the	main	grant	were	met	

hence	the	grant	was	recognised	as	revenue.	TAF	was	recognised	as	

revenue	to	the	extent	that	the	conditions	were	met.	The	entity	is	currently	

going	through	a	process	of	conversion	from	a	Section	21	Company	to	a	

Schedule	3C	Public	Entity.

Income

Expenditure

Balances	at	year-end

Expenditure	relates	to	part	of	funds	surrendered	to	DEDT	

2.	KZN	Growth	Fund	is	fully	controlled	by	the	Department	of	Economic	

Development	and	Tourism	and	is	a	strategic	partner	of	Trade	&	

Investment	KwaZulu-Natal

	

Income

Expenditure

Balances	at	year-end

3.	Ithala	Development	Finance	Corporation	Limited	is	fully	controlled	by	

the	Department	of	Economic	Development	and	Tourism	and	is	a	

strategic	partner	of	Trade	&	Investment	KwaZulu-Natal

Income		

Expenditure	

Balances	at	year-end	

Income	and	expenditure	relate	to	-	Broadcast	Sponsorship	-	CNBC	

Africa	-	Eye	on	KZN	

 -   

 4 890 478 

 2 890 478 

- 

 - 

 -

684 000 

 684 000 

 -

	568	609	

	52	600	

	-

89	800	

	89	800	

	-	

52	600	

	52	600	

	-

2011
R

2010
R
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4.	Durban	Chamber	of	Commerce	and	Industry	-	The	CFO	of	Trade	

&	Investment	KwaZulu-Natal	is	a	member	of	the	Durban	Chamber	of	

Commerce	and	Industry.

Income	

Expenditure	

Balances	at	year-end	

Expenditure	is	in	respect	of	Durban	Trade	Point	membership	subscription	

and	sponsorship	of	the	annual	dinner	by	the	Durban	Chamber	of	

Commerce	and	Industry.

	 	 	

5.	KwaZulu-Natal	Tourism	Authority	-	The	CEO	of	Trade	&	Investment	

KwaZulu-Natal	is	a	member	of	the	Board	of	Directors	of	this	entity.	

Income	-	Broadcast	Sponsorship	-	CNBC	Africa	-	Eye	on	KZN	

Expenditure		

Balances	at	year-end	

	

Income	-	refund	from	a	partnership	arrangement	with	the	KwaZulu-Natal	

Tourism	Authority	for	broadcast	sponsorship	for	CNBC	Africa	Eye	on	KZN.	

Expenditure	-	this	relates	to	expenses	incurred	for	partnership	with	Tourism	

KwaZulu-Natal	for	World	Cup	of	Golf	Championship.	

6.	Office	of	the	Premier	

Income			

Expenditure		

Balances	at	year-end	

	

Expenditure	relates	to	purchasing	of	World	Cup	tickets.	

	 	 	 	

 816 123 

 -  

250 000 

 570 000 

 320 000 

 -   

 32 480 

 -

	472	957	

	-			

-			

	157	152	

	-			

18	600

18	600

	-

2011
R

2010
R

9.11 Notes	to	the	Annual	Financial	Statements	
for	the	year	ended	31	March	2011	(continued)		 	
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7.	Transactions	with	key	management	personnel	are	disclosed	in	

Note	13	 to	the	Annual	Financial	Statements.	 	 	 	

8.	Other	services	received	 	 	 	

The	Provincial	Treasury	provided	Internal	Audit	services	at	no	cost,	as	

consistant	with	prior	years.	 	 	

16. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

16.1 Reconciliation of (deficit )surplus for the year to cash 

utilised in operations 

	

Surplus	for	the	year	

	

Adjusted	for:	

Items separately disclosed on the face of the cash flow statement

Interest	received	

Interest	paid	

	

Items not involving the flow of cash and cash equivalents 

Depreciation	

Loss	on	sale	of	assets	

Foreign	exchange	losses	

Foreign	exchange	gains	

Operating	surplus	before	working	capital	changes	

	

Adjusted	for	working	capital	changes:		

(Increase)/decrease	in	accounts	receivable	

(Decrease)/increase	in	accounts	payable	

(Decrease)/increase	in	provisions	

Cash	utilised	in	operations	

2 197 447 

 (562 662)

30 721

 808 428 

 39 295 

 18 259 

(33 074)

2 498 413

  

(1 751 197)

(1 322 456)

271 490

 (303 750)

5	019	607	

(308	506)

	(9	894)

	980	325	

	7	835	

	8	047	

(5	776)

691	820

(85	985)

6	669	539

198	332

7	473	706

2011
R

2010
R
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16.2 Cash and Cash Equivalents

For	the	purpose	of	the	cash	flow	statement,	cash	and	cash	equivalents	

comprise	cash	at	bank	and	on	hand	and	deposits	held	on	call	at	

banks:	

Petty	cash	

Deposits	on	call	with	banks	

Current	account	

	 	

Included	in	the	above	is	an	amount	of	R382	638	that	has	been	pledged	

as	rent	deposit.	

16.3 Cash and Equivalents Technical Assistance Fund 

	

Total	cash	and	cash	equivalents

Total 

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	

3 000

4 261 561

 5 394 624 

 9 659 185

7 926 105 

 17 585 290

56 637 000 

 55 069 402 

 1 567 598

	3	000

7	081	537

	2	814	042	

	9	898	579

9	872	506	

	19	771	085

	

-	

	-	

	-		

2011
R

2010
R

17. Contingent Liability

17.1 Rental Guarantee  

The	company	has	guaranteed	a	rental	deposit	to	the	maximum	value	of	

R382	638	in	favour	of	Rowmoor	Investments	(Pty)	Ltd.	The	company	has	

not	defaulted	on	its	rental	payment	as	at	the	year-end.	 	

	 	

17.2 Surplus Funds  

	 	

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal Main Activities  

Grant	received	

Total	expenses	 	

	 	

9.11 Notes	to	the	Annual	Financial	Statements	
for	the	year	ended	31	March	2011	(continued)		 	
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The	surplus	funds	are	in	respect	of	the	remaining	funds	after	all	the	

entity’s	expenditure	was	taken	into	account	during	the	financial	year.	

An	application	was	made	to	KwaZulu-Natal	Provincial	Treasury	to	

have	the	unspent	funds	rolled-over	to	the	next	financial	year.	The	

roll-over	application	was	justified	on	the	basis	of	prepaid	 	

expenses	which	were	settled	in	advance.

17.3 Technical Assistance Fund  

	

An	amount	of	R9	872	506	was	transferred	to	Trade	&	Investment	

KwaZulu-Natal	from	KZN	Growth	Fund.The	purpose	of	the	fund	is	to	

assist	project	promoters	in	the	province	to	prepare	and	package	projects	

so	that	these	projects	can	qualify	for	funding	from	financial	institutions.	

The	policy	and	guidelines	for	the	fund	were	approved	by	the	Board	

in	August	2009.	The	funds	were	transferred	to	Trade	&	Investment	

KwaZulu-Natal	in	December	2009.		 	

	 	

Balance	brought	forward	 	

Less:	interest	erroneously	calculated	and	transferred	 	

Less:	Expenses	 	

	 	

Balance	 	

	 	 	 	 	

18. Commitments

Trade & Investment KwaZulu-Natal Main Activities		 	

The	company	has	the	following	commitments	at	year-end		 	

Conferences		 	 	

Subscriptions	 	 	

Total	 	 	

	 	 	 	

TAF	Commitments	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

11	projects	were	approved	for	funding	to	the	value	of	R2	615	500

9 872 506

 - 

(1 946 401)

7 926 105

792 679 

 432 894  

 1 227 583 

(2 615 500)

10	593	061

(720	162)

	-	

9	872	506

-			

	-			

	-			

(738	503)

2011
R

2010
R
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2 603 778 

 17 585 290 

20 189 068 

1 417 051

 1 345 135 

71 917

10 095 563 

 32 461 

 10 128 024

852 581 

 19 771 085  

 20 623 666 

4 734 766 

 106 637 

4 841 403

19. Financial Instruments	

The	company’s	exposure	to	interest	rate	

risk	on	financial	instrument	at	the	balance	

sheet	date	is;

31 March 2011 

	 	

Total Financial Assets	 	

Trade	and	other	receivables	

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	

Total	

Receivables	at	amortised	cost	

Total	assets	at	amortised	costs	

-	Value	unamortised

-	Value	amortised

-	Difference

	

Liabilities	 	

Trade	and	other	payables	

Finance	lease	liability

Assets	

Trade	and	other	receivables

Cash	and	cash	equivalents

	

Liabilities	

Trade	and	other	payables

Finance	lease	liability	

	 	

-	

	-	

	-	

	-	

	-	

	-	

	-	

23	982

	23	982

-	

	-	

	-	

	-	

104	638

	104	638

2 603 778 

  17 585 290 

20 189 068 

1 417 051

 1 345 135 

 71 917

 10 095 563 

 56 443 

 10 152 006

852 581 

 19 771 085 

 20 623 666 

 

4 734 766 

 211 275 

 4 946 041

1 to 5 Years
Effective Interest 

Rate Total 
1 year or 

Less

9.11 Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2011 (continued)   
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Credit Risk       

The	entity	does	not	have	a	huge	debtors	book,	as	a	result,	its	exposure	to	credit	risk	is	minimal.	The	items	

indicated	under	trade	and	other	receivables	refer	to	rental	deposits	for	the	Durban	and	Gauteng	Offices.	The	

cash	and	cash	equivalents	are	deposits	which	are	placed	with	high	credit	financial	institutions.	The	deposits	

comprise	grants	received	from	the	Department	of	Economic	Development	and	these	are	deposited	as	draw-

downs	every	quarter.	The	Authority	limits	its	exposure	by	dealing	with	well-established	financial	institutions.	The	

Authority	does	not	have	significant	exposure	to	an	individual	debtor	or	counter-party.	 	 	

	 	   

       

Liquidity Risk       

The	entity’s	exposure	to	liquidity	risk	is	very	minimal	as	it	is	100%	funded	by	the	Department	of	Economic	

Development.	The	annual	budgets	are	approved	at	the	beginning	of	each	fiscal	year	and	draw-downs	

are	requested	at	the	beginning	of	each	quarter.	Cash	flows	are	monitored	monthly	against	budgets	and	

adjustments	are	made	where	necessary.	Risk	management	assessments	are	conducted	bi-annually	to	assist	

with	identifying	any	possible	cash	flow,	liquidity	or	other	risks.	In	addition,	the	entity	is	exploring	opportunities	

for	raising	income	to	ensure	the	sustainability	of	the	organisation	in	case	the	grant	is	reduced	or	cut	back.	

	 	 	 	 	 	

       

Interest Rate Risk       

Although	the	entity’s	funds	are	subject	to	interest	rate	risk,	these	funds	are	placed	with	reputable	financial	

institutions.	The	entity	does	not	hedge	any	of	its	funds	but	monitors	the	fluctuations	in	interest	rates	and	

obtains	advice	from	bank	officials	on	a	regular	basis.	 	 	 	 	 	

20. Employee Benefits 

	 	

For	the	financial	year	ending	31	March	2011

Trade	&	Investment	KwaZulu-Natal	made	the	

following	contribution	to	employees:	

Pension	contribution

Group	life	and	disability

Other

1 477 091 

 47 929 

 46 472 

 1 571 491

940	596	

	134	077	

	134	295	

	1	208	968

2011
R

2010
R
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21. Subsequent Events

There	were	no	material	events	that	occurred

after	the	date	of	the	Financial	Statements	before

the	audit	report	was	issued.		 	 	 	

23. FIFA World Cup Tickets and Clothing

Purchase of other World Cup apparel 

Bafana	Bafana	jerseys	

Diski	Dancers	-	soccer	dance	display	

Vuvuzelas	

Catering	for	the	Football	Friday	launch	

DJ	for	the	Football	Friday	launch	

Total

Tickets acquired 

Clients	and	stakeholders

Accounting	Authority

Executive

Non-executive

Accounting	Officer

Senior	Management

Other	employees

Family	members	of	officials

Other	Government	entities

Audit	Committee	members

Other

Total

22. Irregular, Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure 

 

Fruitless	and	wasteful	expenditure	

Irregular	expenditure	-	in	respect	of	interest

charged	by	SARS	on	outstanding balances	

-   

 -   

 -   

-

 -   

-

11 057

1 382

4 837

15 203

32 480

-

16

	-			

2

	-			

	-			

7

22

	-			

	-			

	-			

	-			

47

-   

 10 506

34	086

4	500

3	659

3	990

9	998

	56	232

-			

	-			

	-			

	-			

	-			

	-			

	-			

	-			

	-			

	-			

	-			

	-		

-			

566	865

2011
R

AmountQuantity

2010
R

Amount

9.11 Notes	to	the	Annual	Financial	Statements	
for	the	year	ended	31	March	2011	(continued)		 	
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10 Schedule of Programme 1 Expenditure 
– Annexure 1 for the year ended 31 March 2011   
 

Accommodation, meetings and domestic travel   

Advertising, events and promotions   

Aftercare facilitation   

Audit fees   

Bank charges   

BEE financial assistance   

Board expenses   

Cell phones   

Cleaning and garden services   

Computer services   

Consultancy fees   

Consumables   

Depreciation   

Electricity and water   

Entertainment   

Exhibitions, export development and export platform 

Foreign exchange losses   

Insurance   

Interest paid   

Inward missions   

Johannesburg International Trade Bureau   

Leave costs   

Legal costs   

Loss on sale of assets   

Office refurbishments   

International marketing   

Performance bonus   

Couriers and postage   

Printing and stationery   

Publications and media   

Rent   

Repairs and maintenance   

Salaries, wages and recruitment costs   

2 880 693 

 3 595 765 

 7 296 

 734 876 

 42 294 

 243 787 

 261 228 

 685 654 

 168 060 

 733 809 

3 765 589

 220 365 

 808 428 

 257 434 

 167 519 

 711 176 

 18 259 

 243 694 

 30 721 

 561 820 

 -   

 271 490 

 302 741 

 39 295 

 418 326 

 4 752 072 

 -   

 152 259 

 58 301 

 2 929 720 

 2 919 090 

 419 950 

 21 253 961

 2 545 413 

 3 870 158 

 20 653 

 711 206 

 66 540 

 504 184 

 506 790 

 504 628 

 123 675 

 229 973 

 2 833 629 

 173 664 

 980 325 

 232 479 

 130 432 

 1 141 172 

 8 047 

 191 499 

 9 894 

 213 718 

 3 654 

 198 332 

 61 304 

 7 835 

 33 367 

 4 232 878  

 906 480 

 100 664 

 65 495 

 659 681 

 3 095 089 

 253 902 

 19 123 635 

2011
R

2010
R



114

Security	services	 	 	

SMME	seminars	 	 	

Sponsorship	 	 	

Strategy	development	 	 	

Subscriptions	 	 	

Subsistence	and	travel	 	 	

Telephone	and	faxes	 	 	

Trade	and	investment	conference	 	 	

Trade	Point	 	 	

Training	 	 	

Website	upgrade	and	maintenance	 	 	

Wellness	programme	 	 	

Workmen’s	compensation	 	 	

	 	 	

Grant	repayment	 	 	

	 	 	

	 	 	

239 240 

 403 785 

 519 290 

 495 815 

 1 101 681  

 170 534 

 290 521 

 101 105 

 742 000 

 919 538 

 230 625 

 99 599 

 100 000 

 55 069 402 

 55 069 402

212	313	

	392	530	

	272	981	

	431	203	

	906	768	

	136	866	

	333	675	

	708	516	

	400	000	

	1	057	548		

	333	025	

	188	405		

	156	504	

	49	270	731	

5	574	246	

54	844	976

2011
R

2010
R

10 Schedule	of	Programme	1	Expenditure	
–	Annexure	1	for	the	year	ended	31	March	2011	(continued)		
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11 Table	of	Acronyms	

TIKZN

DCCI

PCB

KZN Growth Fund

AGSA

FMPPI

PFMA

DEDT

PPE

TAF

CEO

CFO

MoU

BEE Financial Assistance Fund

SMMEs

Trade	&	Investment	KwaZulu-Natal

Durban	Chamber	of	Commerce	and	Industry

Pietermaritzburg	Chamber	of	Business

KwaZulu-Natal	Growth	Fund

Auditor-General	South	Africa

Framework	for	Managing	Programme	Performance	Information

Public	Finance	Management	Act

Department	of	Economic	Development	and	Tourism

Property,	Plant	and	Equipment

Technical	Assistance	Fund

Chief	Executive	Officer

Chief	Financial	Officer

Memorandum	of	Understanding

Black	Economic	Empowerment	Financial	Assistance	Fund

Small,	Medium	and	Micro	Enterprises



116

Notes



VISION
To contribute to economic development by promoting the province of KwaZulu-Natal as the premier 
investment destination and the leader in export trade.

MISSION
• Identify and package investment opportunities in KwaZulu-Natal;
• Brand and market KwaZulu-Natal as an investment destination; 
• Link opportunities to the developmental needs of the KwaZulu-Natal community; and
• Ensure easy access to investment and export trade opportunities.
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